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Foreword by the Governor

Dear reader,

It is a special pleasure for me to write these opening words of this year’s 
Annual Report of the Bank of Albania. At the conclusion of a devoted and 
successful work by the institution I govern, this annual report sets forth the 
opinion of the Bank of Albania on the national economy and financial market 
performance. It also provides a detailed description of the work and activities 
of the Bank of Albania to accomplish its legal obligations and institutional 
commitments. We have always emphasised that, more than a legal obligation, 
the Bank of Albania regards the compilation and publication of this annual 
report as a communication bridge between the central bank and the public. 
This philosophy for transparency, which lays at the foundation of our work, 
contributes to increasing the public trust and confidence in the Bank of Albania 
and our responsibility to accomplish our mission successfully.

The past year may be considered a positive year for the Albanian economy. 
Under a strong shock by the external environment, during 2010, the Albanian 
economy managed to record growth, consolidate macroeconomic stability 
and strengthen the financial system. In this year, economic activity grew 
progressively supported by positive global economy performance and private 
sector dynamism. Moreover, the economic improvement reflected appropriate 
and coordinated macroeconomic policies undertaken over recent years. 
Withdrawal of the fiscal stimulus and a reorientation of fiscal policy priorities 
towards long-term public debt stability were followed by an increase of the 
monetary stimulus to the economy and progressive easing of monetary and 
financial conditions. Albania’s external position, which has rightfully been 
identified as one of the main structural weaknesses of the Albanian economy, 
improved in 2010. As regards financial markets, 2010 was characterised by 
their normal functioning, downward risk premiums and interest rates, and a 
relatively stable exchange rate. 

Price stability, the primary objective conducing our work and decision-
making, was another positive achievement in 2010. Annual average inflation 
resulted in 3.6%, remaining within the target band of the Bank of Albania. 
Inflationary effects generated by supply shocks, increased administered 
prices and depreciated exchange rate were absorbed by a proper monetary 
policy, which established the right economic and monetary conditions to 
keep inflation at low levels and under control. Most importantly, it managed 
to anchor inflationary mid-term expectations by reducing the inflation effect 
on economic decision-making and supporting the internal financial system 
development. 

This policy of the Bank of Albania is endorsed by its active work to develop 
further its operational framework in order to improve the banking system 
financial infrastructure and supervisory framework. 
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Changes to the Bank of Albania’s operational framework of its monetary 
policy, in June, defined short-term interest rates for the inter-bank market as its 
monetary operations objective, contributing to the enhancement of monetary 
policy effectiveness and encouragement of the inter-bank market functioning. 
Our work will continue, with an aim to fulfil all the technical requirements for 
the development of a modern monetary policy, conform to our philosophy of 
targeted inflation and full convergence with the European System of Central 
Banks’ standards.

Upgrade of the supervisory and regulatory framework and further 
development of the payments system, which are described in details in this 
report, have contributed to maintaining financial and economic stability 
both at macro- and micro-economic levels. Two years from the shock of 
the global economic and financial crisis, we may safely conclude that the 
Albanian financial system overcame the crisis successfully and is now on 
its way to resurgence. Improvements on liquidity, financial profit and other 
prudence indicators, during 2010, constitute significant evidence for this 
trend. Nonetheless, most importantly, the re-established trust and confidence 
of the public remains a key witness of the healthy conditions of the Albanian 
financial system and institutions.

Year 2010 ended with a positive balance as concerns other activities of the 
Bank of Albania. More specifically, analysis and forecast activities improved; 
volume and quality of research increased; work to improve the statistical 
methodology quality at the Bank of Albania continued; activities in the field 
of education and communication with the public and other economic agents 
and inter-institutional relations intensified and strengthened, both domestically 
and internationally, in light of the country’s European integration and the 
Bank of Albania institutional development. I invite you to read more about 
these and other activities in the subsequent sections of this report. 

With pleasure and added responsibility, I find that the Bank of Albania 
is increasingly becoming a financial and economic anchor. Likewise, it is 
a promoter of structural reforms in the country and holds a respected seat 
in discussion forums on economic issues. Through continuous investment to 
strengthen its technical and professional capacities, the Bank of Albania aims 
to maintain and develop further the trust of the public in the coming years. 

In conclusion, I would like to reiterate my appreciation for the staff of the 
Bank of Albania, whose dedicated work realised the achievements presented 
in this Report.

Tirana, March  2011

Ardian Fullani

Governor 
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Chapter I Global economy and world 
markets 

Table 1 Key 
macroeconomic indicators

I.1.	 Global Economy 

After a year of economic contraction, global economic activity returned to 
positive growth rates in 2010�. This growth relied mainly on a rapid economic 
expansion of emerging economies and economic growth of advanced 
economies. Numerous fiscal and monetary growth drivers managed to take 
economic growth rates into positive territory. World inflation was higher than 
a year earlier, mainly pushed by increased food and energy prices, as well 
as the statistical effects of low prices during 2009. Financial markets had 
rising tendencies and were highly volatile in certain segments, in particular 
in sovereign bonds markets in the euro-area economy. However, albeit the 
positive performance, the global economy continues to be characterised by 
structural and conjunctural weaknesses concerning an unequal distribution of 
economic growth, macroeconomic imbalances within advanced economies 
and among different countries, financial health and public finance soundness 
of individual countries, with high unemployment rates and rising already high 
commodity prices.

  GDP change Unemployment rate Inflation rate 
2009 2010 2010 2009 2010

US -2.6 2.9 9.6 -0.8 1.7
Euro area -4.1 1.7 10.0 0.3 1.6
Germany -4.7 3.6 6.8 0.2 1.2
France -2.6 1.5 9.7 0.1 1.7
United Kingdom -4.9 1.3 8.0 2.2 3.3
Japan -6.3 4.0 5.1 -1.2 -0.7

Source: Eurostat, statistics institutions of respective countries.

•	 Euro area economy 
According to preliminary data from Eurostat, the euro-area economy 

increased by 1.7% in 2010. This increase was higher in Q2 and Q3, while 
the other quarters of 2010 were featured by decelerated GDP growth. The 
main factors contributing to this growth were the decisions made by advanced 
economies’ governments, being reflected in increased government and 
consumer spending, and the export growth under the impact of the global 
demand. Confidence indicators improved constantly during 2010, reflecting 
the economic growth. Despite the improved economic activity, unemployment 
rate rose to 10% in 2010. The 2010 inflation rate settled at 1.6%, very close 
to the European Central Bank’s target.

�   According to preliminary data from IMF, world economy grew by 5% in 2010. For the same period, 
economic growth was 7.1% in emerging economies and 3% in advanced economies. 
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•	Unite d states economy 
Following the 2009 recess, the US economy, under the influence of 

continuous fiscal and monetary stimuli, showed recovery trends in 2010. Thus, 
GDP expanded by 2.9% y-o-y. Increased consumer spending, aggregate 
investments and federal government spending provided the main contribution 
to this performance. While exports in value marked an upward trend, their 
positive influence on GDP calculation was totally dwarfed by faster growing 
imports. Due to fiscal stimulus, the federal government budget deficit remains 
high. Although the US budget deficit to GDP decreased by 1.1 percentage 
points in 2010, it still remains 8.9%. Average unemployment rate was 9.6% 
in 2010, about 3.5 percentage points higher than the historical average in 
the last ten years. Average annual inflation rate was 1.7%, mainly affected by 
high energy price. 

•	 BRIC� countries
During 2010, BRIC countries posted economic growth, although the growth 

rates were not similar across all four countries. Thus, China experienced the 
fastest growth, estimated at 10.5% in annual terms. Contrary to the previous 
years, when net exports played a key role in China’s economic performance, 
over this year, consumer spending and aggregate investments were the main 
contributors to GDP growth. Following the 2009 contraction, the Russian 
economy showed recovery, albeit at a slower pace. This development is mainly 
supported by export growth and consumer spending. However, a considerable 
drop in agricultural output during 2010 H2 and lower oil industry profit vis-
à-vis the initial forecast had negative impacts on the domestic economy. 
In India, the accelerated industrial output growth tendency influenced the 
economic expansion by 9.5% y-o-y. In Brazil, the industrial output and 
domestic demand maintained their upward trend during 2010, contributing 
to the country’s positive performance. 

BRIC central banks pursued tightening monetary policies by increasing the 
relevant key interest rates and the required reserve several times during 2010. 
The main goal remains to prevent national economies from overheating, 
which is already manifested in high inflationary pressures. 

Countries Annual real GDP change Annual Inflation 
  2009 2010 2009 2010
Brazil 5.1 7.51 4.3 5.9
Russia -7.9 3.91 11.7 6.9
India 7.2 9.5 10.8 12.0
China 8.7 10.5 -0.7 3.3

Source: IMF, OECD, statistics institutions of respective countries. 
1 IMF, World Economic Outlook, October 2010	

•	 Economies in the Region 
With the exception of Greece, the economies of the region recorded positive 

GDP growth rates during 2010. The Italian economy recorded an annual 

�   These countries are Brazil, Russia, India and China.

Table 2 Some 
macroeconomic indicators 

for BRIC countries
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Table 3	 Economic 
indicators for the countries 
in the region

growth of about 1.1% in 2010. The main contributors were a substantial 
rise of the external demand and the increase of domestic industrial output. 
Latest estimations show an annual contraction of the economy by about 4.6% 
in Greece. Fiscal consolidation undertaken by the Government by cutting 
public sector wages, expanding the taxable products scope and raising the 
actual level of taxes, has led to a drop of private consumption and aggregate 
investment. Although the budget deficit for 2010 is projected at 9.6% to GDP, 
it remains about 6 percentage points lower than the ratio recorded a year 
earlier�. 

After the contraction of 2009, the Turkish economy recorded a fast 
expansion of the economy by about 7.5% during this year. In addition to the 
low comparative base of 2009, consumer spending, net exports and aggregate 
investments are assessed to have provided a significant contribution to this 
performance. In the meantime, economic activity in the Former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia expanded moderately, as a result of a low growth 
pace of consumer spending and a drop in aggregate investments. According 
to IMF preliminary data, economic activity in Kosovo improved compared with 
2009. Under the effect of increased domestic demand, Kosovo’s economy is 
estimated to have grown by 4.6% in 2010, from 2.9% in 2009. During 2010, 
economic activity in Croatia contracted compared with e a year earlier. 
Nevertheless, it is worth mentioning that the Croatian economy departed from 
recession in 2010 Q3, after a series of quarters with negative growth rates. 
Net exports and a slight rise in consumer spending contributed to this growth. 
According to preliminary data, net export and industrial output growth led to 
positive growth rates for the economy of Serbia in 2010.

During 2010, unemployment rate rose in Italy, Greece, Serbia and Croatia 
and fell in Turkey and Macedonia. Upward annual inflation rates were 
recorded in all the countries of the region, except for Croatia.

Country GDP change Annual Inflation Unemployment rate
  2009 2010 2009 2010 2010
Italy -5.0 1.1 0.8 1.6 7.8
Greece -2.0 -4.6 1.3 4.7 12.22

FYROM -0.6 1.31 -0.8 1.6 32.43

Serbia -3.1 1.51 6.6 6.5 19.24

Croatia -5.8 -1.81 2.2 1.1 11.8
Turkey -4.5 7.51 6.3 8.6 12.02

Kosovo 2.9 4.61 -2.4 3.5 :
Albania 3.3 2.61 2.3 3.6 13.7

Source: Respective statistics institutions, EuroStat, EcoFin, IMF
1 IMF outlook, WEO October 2010, and European Commission, EIF autumn 2010
2 Arithmetic average for January - November 2010 
3 Arithmetic average for 2010 Q1-Q3
4 Arithmetic average for January – October 2010
: Data not available

�   According to the assessment of the Report on Economic Adjustment Programme for Greece, 
December 2010, the European Commission Directorate-General for Economic and Financial 
Affairs.



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

18 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 19

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

18 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 19

Source: ECB, FED, Bank of England, Bank of Japan

Chart 1 Key interest rates
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I.2.	 Monetary Policy of main central banks and 
financial markets developments 

Central banks of advanced economies kept their interest rates unchanged, 
opting for non-traditional� measures to stimulate their economies. Except for 
the Bank of Japan, which has also included the lower level of 0% in the 
definition of its overnight interest rate, other banks did not make any changes 
in 2010 interest rates. The European Central Bank (ECB) kept its rate at 1%, 
the Federal Reserve at 0-0.25%, the Bank of England at 0.5%, and the Bank 
of Japan at 0-0.1%.

Among non-traditional measures used by central banks, the following 
stand out: the ECB’s decision to inject ample fixed-price liquidity until early 
2011; the possibility to acquire euro-area government bonds in the secondary 
market; quantitative easing by the Federal Reserve and the Bank of England, 
which aim to add the stock of money in circulation by acquiring bonds and 
other financial instruments.

Financial markets recorded a slightly upward performance in 2010. The 
winding down effect of several facilities activated by the ECB along the 
crisis,and the uncertainty induced by problems in some euro-area countries, 
were reflected in higher EURIBOR rates for all maturity terms in the euro-area 
money markets. The USD LIBOR rate has pursued a downward trend over most 
of the year, being more notable in the last months, mainly due to quantitative 
easing policy pursued by the Federal Reserve (FED). In terms of the bonds 
market, the demanded yields showed a downward trend in the first half of 

the year, and then an upward turnaround during 
2010 H2. Optimistic signals for the economic 
performance in most advanced economies affected 
the market agents’ expectations for central banks’ 
potential key interest rate rise in the near future, 
contributing positively to demanded yield rise. In the 
meantime, the introduction of public debt problems 
in a group of euro-area countries (Greece, Portugal, 
and Spain) was another factor that influenced 
further bond yield rise of the respective debt. The 
stock markets pursued an upward trend during this 
year recovering gradually the pre-crisis levels. The 
positive performance of quarterly balance indicators 
of many businesses supported the growth recorded 
over this period, whilst the influence of problems 
with regard to public balance sustainability of the 
above-mentioned states is reflected in the stock 
markets’ higher volatility.

�   These measures focused mainly on high and long-term liquidity injection and acquisition of 
government T-bonds. 
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In December 2010, the Euribor rates� averaged 0.30 percentage points 
higher y-o-y. The three-month Libor interest rates dropped by 0.35 percentage 
points y-o-y, to 0.30% at end-December.

In the foreign exchange markets, the euro depreciated against the US dollar, 
Japanese yen, British pound and Swiss franc. On average, in December, 1 
euro was exchanged for 1.32 US dollars or 9.5% less than a year earlier, 
while over the course of this year the euro depreciated on average by 4.95% 
compared to the previous year.

I.3.	Pr imary commodity prices 

•	internati onal oil markets 
International oil markets were characterised by 

upward price trends in 2010. Average price ranged 
around USD 75-85 per barrel, up by 30.4% of 
the average annual price. Recovery of the major 
industrialised economies and ongoing accelerated 
GDP growth rates in some of the major emerging 
economies, contributed to upward oil prices. 
Moreover, a slight depreciation of the US dollar 
against major international currencies�, by around 
3%, put pressure on upward prices in international 
markets. In addition to the increased demand for 
oil, the global supply of this product increased by 
about 2.1% compared to a year earlier.

�   During this period, the 1-, 3-, 6- and 12-month Euribor rates in the money market reached 
0.81%, 1.02%, 1.25% and 1.53%, respectively. 

�   Measured by the Nominal Major Currencies Dollar Index, by the Federal Reserve, including 26 
weighted currencies according to trade with the USA, in US Dollars.  http://www.federalreserve.
gov/releases/H10/Summary/indexn_m.txt. 

Source: ECB, Reuters

Chart 2 Some financial indicators in international markets
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Chart 3 Annual fluctuations of oil prices and 
the Nominal Major Currencies Dollar Index
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•	 Primary Commodity Prices 
Primary commodity indices rose in 2010, due to 

increased demand as a result of the world economy 
recovery and low comparative base of 2009, 
when prices were hit by the international financial 
markets’ turmoil. Adverse weather conditions in 
Russia, one of the biggest producers of grain, were 
added factors that contributed to higher food prices 
globally. Thus, in 2010, the Commodity Price Index 
was up 24.9% y-o-y; Food Price Index was up 
11.5%; and Oil Price Index was up 25.9%.

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook, October 2010

Chart 4 Price Indexes by primary commodities 
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“Albania going towards its ow
n destiny”

100 Francs Gold Coin, issue of 1926
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Chapter II Price stability and the Bank of 
Albania’s Core purpose

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania

Chart 1 Core items’ contribution to annual 
inflation (in percentage points)
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The Bank of Albania’s Core Purpose is to achieve and maintain price 
stability. Low and steady inflation rates promote long-term efficient allocation 
of resources in the economy, prevent unexpected allocation of income, 
and support the financial stability of the economy. From the quantitative 
viewpoint, the Bank of Albania targets a 3.0% inflation rate in the medium 
run, considering the short-term tolerance band of +/- 1 percentage point as 
in line with its price stability target. In compliance with this target, the Bank of 
Albania compiles and implements the monetary policy, relying on free market 
instruments for its transmission to the economy and operating under a free-
floating exchange rate regime.

II.1.	Inflation and core cpi basket items

Average annual CPI inflation marked 3.6% in 2010. The first half of the 
year was characterized by higher inflation rates, followed by downward ones 
during the second half. At year-end, inflation rate settled at 3.4%.

Upward inflation rate trend observedsince 2009 
Q4 was more pronounced in the first two months of 
2010. During this period, inflation curve edged up 
due to rise in several administered prices, making 
inflation rate exceed the upper tolerance band set 
by the Bank of Albania. March marked inflation 
return to the 2 - 4% tolerance band. By year-end, it 
was gradually stabilized at lower values, around the 
Bank of Albania’s 3% target.

Unprocessed food inflation dropped significantly 
starting from April and onwards, after having 
recorded positive double-digit rates ​​over the first 
quarter of the year�. This item’s lowest annual 
inflation rate (1.5%) was hit in November. Its 
annual inflation rate during the second half of the 
year� dropped significantly, resulting about 3 times 
lower than in the first half of the year. It led to a 
gradual decline of inflation rate over 2010. Downward seasonal behaviour 
of these commodity prices, especially in Q2, shifted the inflation rate curve 

�	 In analyzing inflation, the Bank of Albania refers to grouping the CPI basket by items. This 
technique aims at establishing the representative CPI basket items by economic function, to 
explain the role of factors in price volatility. 

�	 Excluding December, when such item’s inflation was characterised, as usually, by high monthly 
and annual inflation rates. 
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several percentage points downward, making inflation rate stabilize around 
the target.

Table 1	 Items’ average contribution to annual inflation rate (in percentage points)
Q1-09 Q2-09 Q3-09 Q4-09 Q1-10 Q2-10 Q3-10 Q4-10

Processed foods (pp) 0.9 0.3 -0.1 -0.1 0.3 0.6 1.1 1.4
Bread and cereals (pp) 0.6 0.2 -0.1 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.4
Alcohol and tobacco (pp) 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2
Unprocessed foods (pp) 0.6 1.8 2.3 2.5 2.6 1.3 0.9 0.5
Fruit (pp) 0.0 0.3 0.5 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.3 0.1
Vegetables (pp) -0.3 1.4 0.9 1.0 2.0 1.5 0.1 -0.7
Services (pp) 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0
Administered prices (pp) 0.1 -0.4 -0.4 0.3 0.7 0.9 1.0 0.9
Fuel and energy (pp) 0.4 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Housing (pp) 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Non-food consumer goods -0.2 -0.2 -0.2 -0.1 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.2
Durable consumer goods (pp) 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0
Consumer Price Index (y/y, %) 1.9 2.1 2.1 3.1 4.3 3.4 3.4 3.1

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania.

Consumer price inflation was characterized by a progressive increase in the 
contribution of processed food item during 2010. By the end of 2010 H2, 
processed food inflation approached the rates registered in 2008, a period 
of extremely high prices of these goods. In January, this item’s contribution 
to headline inflation rate was only 5%, whereas in December, it edged up 
to 60%. Such a trend reversal of the inflation rate of these goods, especially 
following the summer of 2010, is mostly attributed to the global conjuncture 
of this item’s commodity prices�. In the second half, there was a rise in all 
its sub-items, particularly in Bread and Cereals one, which accounts for a 
considerable share to inflation basket. Bread and cereals inflation posted 
negative rates, ​​averaging -2.2% from January to July, whereas from August 
to December it was 5%, contributing by an average of 0.3 percentage points 
to headline inflation�. 

Administered prices contributed by about 0.9 percentage points to headline 
inflation in 2010 or 25% of its average. This contribution was higher than its 
historical average and was concentrated primarily in 2010 H1. This item’s 
inflation was triggered by rising prices of electricity and water supply, of several 
health care and education fees. As anticipated, the cancellation of statistical 
effect of this item’s several price increases since October has reduced its 
contribution at year-end. 

In spite of fuel price increase, particularly in December, the contribution 
of Non-food consumer goods has been insignificant to headline inflation�. 
During 2010, the retail oil price per litre followed its upward trend in 
international markets, but at slightly decelerated rates. Thus, a litre in the 
domestic market averaged ALL 129, up 17.5% compared to 2009’s average 
�	 At end 2010, this item’s commodity price rise was pronounced, remaining only few percentage 

points far from high values recorded over mid-2008. 
�	 Bread and Cereals contribution by 0.3 percentage points to headline inflation in August 

- December, equalized the contribution of Durable consumer goods, Housing and Services 
altogether.

�	 This item accounted for only 8% of the average headline inflation. 
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value. Meanwhile, the national currency’s depreciation against the U.S. dollar 
by approximately 9.7% y-o-y has backed the upward pressures on oil market 
price. Analyzing the performance of Services to personal vehicles index (which 
is highly correlated to oil price performance), the CPI basket has pointed out 
a moderate increase, on average by 8.8% in 2010. 

Other CPI basket items’ prices were almost unchanged or even downward 
during 2010. In particular, Services and Housing continued to make a very 
slight contribution to inflation rate formation, although, historically, during 
summer months, this effect has been higher. The domestic demand for these 
items’ services has contributed to generating lower pressures on their products 
prices.

II.2.	Main inflation trends

During 2010, inflationary pressures were mainly resulting from the supply 
shocks. In line with the economic activity performance, the domestic demand 
has generated subsiding inflationary pressures. This is reflected in the close-
to-historical-trend of core inflation and net non-tradable one. Meanwhile, 
inflation in the tradable sector of the CPI basket, whose prices are well exposed 
to exchange rate volatility and the global prices conjuncture, reflected their 
fluctuations throughout 2010.

•	 Core and non-core inflation
Core inflation – representing the persistent inflation trend – reflects quite 

well the performance of the aggregate demand against the producing capacity 

Chart 2 Annual inflation by goods and services (in percentage)

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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and monetary conditions in the economy. In 2010, the annual core inflation� 
fluctuated within the 1.2% - 2.3% band, with an average of 1.7%. 

While the first half of the year marked low historical values of this indicator, 
the period from August to December 2010, created a higher profile of its 
trend relative to that of 2009. Shocks to prices of several basic food products, 
particularly to Bread and cereals, were the main driver to this behaviour. 
Notwithstanding these developments, the average contribution profile to 
headline inflation in 2010, continued to be dominated by non-core inflation 
impact (67%). In response to internal and external supply shocks, this inflation 
rate fluctuated within a wide band of values ​​(4.7% - 14.1%)�, with a declining 
trend during the second half of the year. The main drivers to non-core inflation 
rate were: national currency’s annual depreciation, albeit at contained rates 
in the second half of the year; rise by several times in administered prices; 
performance of primary commodity prices in international markets. 

In 2010, analyses and assessments showed that the above factors failed to 
transmit second-round effects on goods and services prices, used to measure 
the core inflation rate. Economic agents’ inflation expectations were not 
affected, remaining anchored close to the Bank of Albania’s target.

•	 Inflation by sectors of the cpi basket prices
Average annual inflation in the tradable sector, net non-tradable sector� 

and the share of fully administered prices of the CPI basket, resulted 3.8%, 
2% and 10.2% respectively, in 2010. 
�   The average of both measures (permanent-exclusion method and trimmed mean).
�   The annual non-core inflation rates in February and October 2010 were 14.1% and 4.7%, 

respectively. 
�   The following goods and services of a pure administrative price nature are excluded from this 

sector: electricity, water, medical and hospital services. Their indices at respective weights to 
CPI basket are used to construct the fully administered price index. 

Chart 3 Annual core and non-core inflation (left); respective contribution (right)

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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Contribution profile continued to weigh on the inflation in the tradable 
sector, forming about 65% of the annual headline inflation, with a downward 
trend during 2010. Inflation in the tradable sector, mainly of goods, was 
faced with shocks generated from the national currency’s depreciation and 
unfavourable global conjunctures of primary commodity prices. The intensity 
of action of the first factor resulted strong during 2010 H1, while the second 
factor’s influence became evident in the rest of the year. Under the pressure 
of these factors, inflation in the tradable sector of the CPI basket fluctuated 
significantly within the 2.5% - 5.8% range. The curbing of the national 
currency’s depreciation is estimated to have partly offset the internationalprice 
rise pass-through into the domestic prices during August - December 2010.

Historical trend path of the tradable inflation supports its upward trend 
compared to the 2009’s average and to that of the past decade�. It shows that 
exposure to global price rise risk is translated more sensitively into national 
currency’s depreciation conditions, as long as the Albanian economy is highly 
dependant on import of consumer and intermediate goods10. 

The trend of net non-tradable inflation of the CPI basket, mainly of services, 
was steady, contributing by 18% on average to the 2010 headline inflation. In 
2010, the average annual inflation of the CPI basket resulted slightly higher 
than a year earlier, but 0.8 percentage points below the 2001-2010 historical 
average. These developments suggest the presence of contained domestic 
demand-induced inflationary pressures on the economy during 2010.

The core and net non-tradable inflation trends, against the backdrop of 
macroeconomic environment analysis, with a continuous negative output gap on 
average, have served as important monetary policy decision-making indicators.

�	 The average annual inflation of the respective sector for 2009 and  2001 - 2010 is 2.7% and 
1.5%, respectively.

10	 For 2010, their average share to imports resulted 33% and 52%, respectively.

Chart 4 Annual inflation by sectors (left); respective contributions and the 
EUR/ALL annual exchange rate (right) 

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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Box 1. Inflation differential by sectors of the CPI basket

The indicator of inflation differential between tradable and net non-tradable inflation, 
synthesizes the sectoral trend analysis of consumer prices and the source of their 
creation. An expansion of its positive value would signal elevated inflationary pressures 
from external environment and vice-versa. These pressures may be an outcome of 
rising prices of raw materials and primary commodities in international markets, 

import price rise, national currency’s depreciation, 
whose instantaneous combination increases the imported 
inflation’s contribution to headline inflation.

The presence of a positive differential since mid 200911 
onwards, shows that domestic inflationary pressures 
have been stronger from inflation of tradable goods 
rather than from non-tradable services. The 2010 Q1, 
following the depreciating exchange rate pass-through, 
hit the highest positive differential, against the setting that 
net non-tradable inflation remained stable.

The differential remained positive throughout the 
following period, albeit at more moderate levels than in 
the previous period. Its growth in 2010 Q4 is attributed to 
global price trend. The Bank of Albania’s assessments do 
not highlight any strong pass-through of tradable sector’s 
rising prices of the CPI basket to those of non-tradable 
sector (also known as second-round effects), at least at 
the six-quarter horison.

11   Upon onset of the national currency’s gradual depreciation, mainly against the euro. 

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania

Chart 5 The differential between tradable and net 
non-tradable inflation rates (in pp)
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II.3.	Factors impacting inflation

During 2010, inflation was determined mainly by rise in administered prices, 
primary commodities in international markets and the depreciated exchange 
rate trend. The sluggish domestic demand and the 
presence of spare capacity in labour and production 
markets contributed to subdued inflationary 
pressures generated from the domestic economy 
and were reflected in low rates of core inflation and 
of non-tradable inflation. Also, this factor impacted 
on buffering out the supply shocks to headline 
inflation and contained their transmission to costs of 
goods and services produced domestically. Inflation 
expectations of economic agents, consumers, 
businesses and financial market, remained anchored 
to the Bank of Albania’s target, reflecting, inter alia, 
the monetary policy measures to meet its price 
stability mission. Finally, the expansion of monetary 
base in the economy was relatively rapid, but on 
track, being in line with the demand of the economy 
for real monetary assets.

•	 Assessment of inflationary pressures on the real sector 
of the economy 

After contraction of economic activity in 2009 Q4, the Albanian economy 
posted positive growth rates in the first three quarters of 2010. According to 
preliminary data from INSTAT, the country’s economic activity expanded by 
about 3.6% on average for the first-nine month period of the year. The positive 
economic growth rates during 2010 slightly mitigated but not eradicated the 
gap between actual and potential output. 

Downward annual inflation trend and core inflation rates ​​in line with the 
historical average attest to contained inflationary pressures from the domestic 
economy. Relative exchange rate stability following 2010 Q1 mitigated 
inflationary pressures from the external economy and the disinflationary 
impact of the negative output gap. 

In line with economic activity developments, the labour market indicators 
showed signs of stabilization. Unemployment rate fell slightly; however, it 
is still higher than the historical average, reflecting the mismatch between 
the labour market supply and demand. In the meantime, the capacity 
utilization rate, following a significant improvement in 2010 Q2, dropped 
again in the next quarters. The relatively high unemployment rate and 
availability of spare capacity suggest the existence of unutilized capacity 
in the economy, putting disinflationary pressures on CPI inflation in the 
country. 

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania

Chart 6 Annual inflation, q-o-q
(in percentage)
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•	Wage  and Unit Labour Cost 
In spite of the slack in the labour market indicators, wages were not 

decelerated during the first nine months of the year12. The wage index in the 
economy13 recorded an annual average growth rate of about 9.3% in the 
first three quarters of the year, up 1.6 percentage points from the 2009’s 
figure, however, fluctuating near the historical average annual rate of 9.7% 
recorded over the last three years. Meanwhile, it is estimated that this period’s 
real wage14 growth averaged 5.3% y-o-y, down by about 1.3 percentage 
points from the average annual growth that has been recorded since 2007. 
Qualitative indicators from business confidence surveys on wage developments 
over 2010 Q415, suggest that the moderate wage growth model will perform 
in line with the labour market slack. 

During January - September 2010, the signals given by labour productivity 
and unit labour cost16 are a consequence of the dynamics followed by the 
realization of the value-added and the performance of employment and 
wages. Labour productivity index on 2010 first nine months experienced an 
average annual change of -3.4%. This development is inherited from the 

12	 The upward wage trend during this period may reflect, inter alia, the efforts to formalize the 
economy and improve business reporting, as well as the fiscal policy’s impact, through public 
sector’s wage rise and the minimum and reference wage setting for several sectors of the 
economy. 

13	W age index in the economy, referred to as “average wage” is measured as a ratio of wages 
fund index to employees number index, whose source is the INSTAT’s “Short-term Statistics”, 
which exclude “Agriculture”.

14	 Real wage represents the average wage deflated to inflation, which is estimated as a ratio of 
the average wage index to inflation rate. The data are quarterly. 

15	 Business confidence survey (2010 Q4), Bank of Albania.
16	 The measures refer to labour productivity and unit labour cost in the economy, excluding 

agriculture. The calculations have used value-added data (seasonally adjusted – INSTAT, GDP, 
2010 Q3) and those from short-term statistics on employment and wages (INSTAT, Short-term 
statistics, 2010 Q3). The real average wage index is obtained after deflating to that of the 
CPI, seasonally adjusted. The indicators are re-based on 2003 Q1, for comparison. 

Chart 7 Spare capacity* and unemployment rates 

*Spare capacity rate is estimated as a difference between maximum capacity utilization rate (100%) and 
capacity utilization rate reported at business surveys.

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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2009 Q4. It reflects curbing of value-added growth rates, against a more 
modest response to this phenomenon by the labour market. 

With a negative average annual growth rate of labour productivity, the 
performance of annual unit labour cost was led primarily by increases in the 
real wage index. The average annual unit labour cost for January-September 
2010 is estimated to have increased by 9%.

The 2010 Q3 highlighted a high restraint of unit labour cost growth rate 
(5.5%). If this restraint continues, the risks for additional inflationary pressures 
from increased costs due to higher wages would decrease in the medium run. 
In the short run, a primary role in this respect would be played by increased 
demand and capacity utilization rate, which would lead to unit labour cost 
reduction. In the long run, Albanian businesses should pay more attention to 

Chart 8 Average wage index in nominal and real terms (left, y-o-y) and key 
sectors of the economy (right, y-o-y) 

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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Chart 9 Labour productivity (LP), unit labour cost (ULC) and the real wage 
(left); annual change (right)
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productivity growth, introduction of advanced technology and keeping of their 
costs in check.

•	 Imported inflation
Inflationary pressures from external economy on the overall consumer 

price level at home were present during 2010. The recovered global 
economic situation and the increased trade activity were accompanied by 
rising raw-material and consumer prices. Against the background of ongoing 
depreciating exchange rate, albeit at slower paces, these developments have 
been translated into added inflationary pressures from imported inflation. 

In Italy and Greece, inflation ranged around 1.5% and 4.7% on average 
during 2010. As a result, their aggregate index (HPI)17 resulted 2.6%, being in 
line with the average historical growth rate18, but significantly higher from the 
2009’s 1% growth rate. Impacted mainly by high rates of the exchange rate 
depreciation against the European currency at end-2009, imported inflation19 
recorded 13.2% y-o-y in 2010 Q1, reinforcing the upward trend observed 
during 2009 H2. Following this high rate, imported inflation slowed to 9.6%, 
7.3% and 5.4% in the next quarters. Lower annual depreciation exchange 
rates have somewhat offset the rising prices of raw materials and consumer 
goods in the global markets, dampening the inflationary pressures of foreign 
origin.

Despite the decelerated trend of imported inflation 
on overall consumer prices, its pressure is more 
pronounced on certain domestic consumer basket 
items, which are more import-oriented. Thus, rising 
raw-material prices in the global market, mainly 
foodstuffs’, have led to significant rise of processed 
food inflation. 

Import processed food prices – as proxied by the 
unit value index of exports of these products from 
European Union countries to those of the Balkans – 
picked up by about 3.5% on average in September 
– November 2010, compared with the deflator 
that has been registered since early 200920. The 
correlation analysis shows that annual changes in 
these prices have a strong positive correlation (0.7) 
and impact with a 2-month lag on processed food 
prices at home. 

17	H erfindahl price index is estimated as a weighted average of consumer prices in Italy and 
Greece at respective market share. 

18	 This rate is 2.6% for 2000 – 2009.
19	 The proxy estimated by the Bank of Albania, which is obtained by combining information on the 

CPI of Greece and Italy for the euro/lek exchange rate (with a two-month lag) and Albania’s 
import share to those countries. 

20	 These prices dropped by about 2.1% on average in 2009 M01 – 2010 M08.

Source: Bank of Albania, Statistical Institutes of Italy and Greece

Chart 10 Relative exchange rate stability has 
eased inflationary pressure of foreign origin
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•	inf lation expectations 21

Economic agents’ expectations as to inflation 
rate after one year were within the 2-4% range 
in 2010. Consumer confidence survey registered 
low expectations for inflation rate after one year. 
Inflation expected by consumers fluctuated around 
2.2%, showing simultaneously the lowest levels and 
volatility among economic agents’ expectations. 
Meanwhile, businesses’ expectations as to inflation 
after one year were volatile during 2010. After an 
increase by 2.6% in 2010 Q1, they fell back in 2010 
Q2. Following the current inflation performance at 
the time when the trend was measured, in 2010 Q3 
businesses expected a higher inflation rate after a 
year, i.e., 2.4%, to fall back to 2.2% in 2010 Q4.

The record of financial experts’ survey results 
shows that they have higher expectations than 
businesses and consumers. This behaviour was verified even during 2010. In 
2010 Q1 and Q2, experts’ expectations continued their upward performance 
having started since early 2009, to settle close to these levels during the 
second half of the year. Experts’ expectations measured at end-2010 for 
2011 Q4’s annual inflation resulted 3.3%. 

In the meantime, official data on the performance of financial markets in 
2010 show that the spread between long- and short-term interest rates settled 
close to historical average levels. This fact suggests that financial market 

21   The Bank of Albania measures economic agents’ inflation expectations through business and 
consumer confidence indicator and experts’ trend surveys. Information on inflation expectations 
in financial markets is also obtained from interest rate curve slope.

Source: Confidence Survey, Banks’ Survey, Bank of Albania

Chart 12 Economic agents’ expectations as 
to inflation after one year 
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Chart 11 Annual change of EU exports’ unit 
value index and of processed food inflation
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agents do not expect additional inflationary pressures in the economy. The 
transmission of easing monetary policy to all maturity terms in the price market 
of money also confirms a lower risk premium on long-term instruments.

•	 Assessment of monetary inflation pressures 
During 2010, monetary expansion in the economy was in line with the 

economic agents’ added money demand, without putting pressure on price 
performance. Real money supply grew on average by 7% y-o-y, preserving 

lower levels than the historical average of the past 
5 years. The 2010 H2 highlighted the narrowing 
of this money gap22 in the economy, in line 
with the country’s economic activity recovery. 
Notwithstanding this gap narrowing, the monetary 
expansion does not signal any increased pressures 
on price performance because it is still supported 
by increased foreign-currency component of money 
demand. In the meantime, the domestic credit 
contribution remains moderate and close to lower 
historical levels. In real terms, domestic credit grew 
by 4.5% on average in 2010, evidently below the 
historical average of 12.6% in the last 5 years. 
Despite the rapid growth of lending activity over 
the last two months of the year, domestic money 
demand remained almost similar to that of 2010 
H1, due to funding shift from the public sector to 
the private one.

II.4.	target fulfilment and monetary policy 

During 2010, the Bank of Albania’s monetary policy was conducted in 
a macroeconomic environment characterized by positive economic growth 
rates and contained inflationary pressures. The Albanian economy settled at 
an upward trend, supported by ongoing recovery of the global economic 
activity, stimulating monetary conditions and positive tendencies of domestic 
financial markets. 

The contained inflationary pressures, anchored inflation expectations, and 
moderate economic growth rates, enabled continuation of expansionary 
monetary policy launched in 2009. Also, reduction of fiscal stimulus during 
this year increased the room for policy operation in terms of promoting the 
domestic demand. The Bank of Albania has aimed at transmitting a cautious 
monetary stimulus to the economy, by keeping the key interest rate at low levels, 
and even cutting it further, as well as by injecting appropriate liquidity into the 
banking system. Monetary conditions continued to stimulate the aggregate 
demand, as also reflected by the performance of monetary conditions index in 
22	 The difference between the current real M3 and the potential level, estimated by using the 

historical trend path. 

Source: Bank of Albania

Chart 14 Real money supply, y-o-y 
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the economy. The composite Monetary Conditions 
Index continued to remain at significantly lower than 
neutral levels.

Their stimulating performance reflects both the 
downward interest rate trend and the ongoing 
depreciation of the exchange rate over the last two 
years. While low interest rates have favoured the 
boosting of consumption and investments at home, 
the depreciated exchange rate has supported the 
growth of Albanian exports throughout the year. 

In July 2010, the Bank of Albania cut the key 
interest rate by 0.25 percentage points, to 5.0% - 
the lowest historical level. Also, the Bank of Albania 
continued injecting liquidity into the banking system 
to promote financial intermediation and support 
the economic activity growth. During 2010, the 
Bank of Albania injected an average of about ALL 23 billion in the interbank 
market. Improved banking system liquidity conditions and the sluggish 
demand for monetary assets by the public and private sectors, have supported 
transmission of easing monetary policy to all segments of financial markets 
over the last months of 2010. Monetary and financial data of Q4 show 
decreased interbank rates in the primary government security market and 
in ALL-denominated deposit market. Flattening risk premium in the banking 
system, improving liquidity indicators and reducing government borrowing in 
the domestic financial market were accompanied by a downward long-term 
ALL-denominated loan interest rate trend.

On the other hand, transmission of monetary policy into ALL-denominated 
loan interest rates was contained by the existence of high risk premiums in 

Chart 15 MCI change* from the base year

*Monetary Conditions Index is a weighted average of changes in 
the key interest rate and the nominal effective exchange rate 
(NEER) of the lek against a base period (December 2005). The 
ratio of Albania's Monetary Conditions Index is estimated at 
1.82:1, which means that the depreciation pass-through by 1.82 
percentage points of the NEER into the aggregate demand may be 
offset by 1% interest rate rise. An increase in the MCI may be 
regarded as a sign of tightened monetary conditions at home, but 

not as the monetary policy stance.
Source: Bank of Albania
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financial markets and the banking system. This performance is also confirmed 
by the Bank of Albania’s surveys with the banks’ credit officers. They showed 
that this system has remained prudent in terms of easing credit conditions, 
both those affecting the product cost and other selecting conditions of lending 
prudence, relating to collateral size and type, business plans, loan size to 
operating income, etc. Therefore, long-term interest rates of ALL-denominated 
loans have remained high, characterized by a significant volatility, depending 
on bank clients. 

Also, in June, the Bank of Albania approved the change of operational 
objective, from quantitative targeting of money indicators to short-term 
interest rate targeting and their orientation towards key interest rate. This 
change helped reduce the interest rate volatility and enhance the transmission 
efficiency of monetary policy signals to the interbank market.
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Law “On Currency Regulation”
Official Bulletin, 31 July 1925
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Chapter III Macroeconomic developments

Albanian economy during 2010 was characterized by gradually improved 
aggregate demand, consolidated macroeconomic stability and decreased risk 
premiums. According to available data, the Albanian economy grew by 3.6% 
over the first nine months of 2010, whereas the average annual inflation 
ranged close to the Bank of Albania’s target. Budget deficit to GDP decreased 
by 4 percentage points. Preliminary data suggest that the current account 
deficit narrowed by 5 percentage points of GDP. 

Economic growth was supported mainly by foreign demand and increased 
Albanian exports, whereas the domestic demand was sluggish. The latter was 
also affected by consolidated public finances and reduced budget deficit in 
2010, whereas consumer spending and investments were contained, due to 
uncertainty about the future and the spare capacity. In sectoral terms, the 
development of Albanian economy was supported primarily by the growth of 
service and industry sectors. Construction sector continued to be contracted 
over the first nine months of the year, whereas agriculture registered a 
satisfactory growth. 

Table 1 Key economic indicators in the years
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Real GDP growth (in %) 5.7 5.4 5.9 7.71 3.32 3.63

GDP (at current prices, in ALL mln.) 814,797 882,209 967,670 1,088,132 1,143,610 NA
Number of people employed (in thousand) 932.0 935.1 939.0 974.1 899.3 916.9
Unemployment rate 14.2 13.8 13.2 12.7 13.7 13.5
Inflation rate ( y-o-y) 2.0 2.5 3.1 2.2 3.7 3.4
Budget deficit (including grants, as a share of GDP) (3.5) (3.3) (3.5) (5.5) (7.0) (3.1)2

Public debt (as a share of GDP) 57.4 56.2 53.5 54.8 59.7 58.42

External debt (as a share of GDP) 17.2 16.6 15.3 18.0 23.4 25.12

Current account (excluding official transfers, as a 
share of GDP) (10.0) (7.3) (11.4) (15.8) (15.5) (11.9)2

ALL/USD average exchange rate 99.9 98.1 90.4 83.9 95.0 103.9
ALL/EUR average exchange rate 124.2 123.1 123.6 122.8 132.1 137.8
M3 aggregate (annual average) 15.6 11.6 15.8 12.3 6.0 10.6

1- Non-definitive; 2- Preliminary data 3 –Annual average growth over the first three quarters
Source: INSTAT, Ministry of Finance, IMF and Bank of Albania.

Financial market interest rates were downward during 2010, reflecting the 
easy monetary policy pursued by the Bank of Albania and the public sector’s 
lower borrowing from domestic financial markets. On the other hand, the 
exchange rate continued to follow a slight depreciating trajectory in line with 
the structural changes in the Albanian economy and international financial 
markets. 

The restored confidence in the financial system, stabilized macroeconomic 
situation and prudential and regulatory measures taken by the Bank of 
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Albania, led to the stabilization and improvement of capitalization, liquidity 
and profitability indicators of the banking system. This made the credit support 
of the economy be upward during the year. However, it is still suffering from 
lack of the demand and realistic, qualitative and creditable business plans, 
as well as from the banks’ tight lending conditions. The easing of lending 
terms and conditions in 2010 H2 and the upward interest of the banks in 
financing domestic consumption and investments, decreased uncertainty and 
risk premiums, as well as the overall sound balance sheets of businesses and 
consumers, are expected to stimulate the domestic demand in 2011.

III.1.	Gross Domestic Product and Aggregate 
Demand

Aggregate demand has progressively increased year-on-year, after having 
contracted in 2009 Q4. The Albanian economy grew by 2.5%, 3.3% and 
4.9%, respectively in 2010 Q1, Q2 and Q3. The strong upward trend of 
lending to the economy and of merchandise imports, increased budget 
revenues, and improved economic sentiment indicator in 2010 Q4 suggest 
ongoing positive economic growth rates for Q4.

Economic growth is supported mainly by foreign demand, whereas domestic 
demand continues to provide a low contribution. Ongoing global economy 
recovery and its positive impact on the demand for exports supported the 
country’s economic growth during 2010. At the same time, consumer 
confidence indicator rose in 2010 H1, supporting the private consumption. 
While economic activity recovered in 2010 H1, private investments were 
generally more restrained, showing growth only in 2010 H2. On the other 

Chart 1 Annual and quarterly GDP growth (left), and economic sentiment 
indicator and capacity utilization rate (right)

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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hand, the contribution of public spending to aggregate demand and to 
economic growth was declining gradually over 2010.�

Indirect indices from official statistics and also qualitative confidence survey 
indicators show that private consumption grew slightly in 2010, influenced 
even by the statistical base effects of 2009 decline. 

Private consumption growth q-o-q has been uneven. Indirect indices show 
that its recovery was more evident in 2010 H1. Retail trade index, which 
grew by 1.6% y-o-y in 2010 H1, fell by 0.9% in 2010 H2. On the other 
hand, consumer goods import experienced y-o-y growth throughout 2010, 
following the 2009 decline. Consumer goods import registered strong growth 
in Q1, by 7.3%. Over the next three quarters, the growth was decelerated, 
respectively, 5.9% in 2010 Q2 and Q3 and 6.4% in Q4. 

During 2010, private consumption was supported by rising disposable 
incomes, attributed mostly to wage increases. Other funding sources, 
remittances and consumer loans remained at low levels. Remittances 
dropped by 11.7% y-o-y and consumer credit shrank slightly. Meanwhile, the 
2-4% inflation rate helped maintain positive real growth rates of disposable 
income.

Uncertainties around overall economic and financial situation and 
expectations for future employment were the main concerns leading to 
restrained consumption in 2010. After having registered significant increase 
�   Measurement of domestic aggregate demand by its expenditure items is estimated annually and 

becomes available with long lags. (Chart .2, till year 2008). Therefore, private consumption, 
investments, and other components of aggregate demand by quarters are estimated by using 
indirect data from consumer goods imports and investments, retail trade volume, qualitative data 
from business and consumer confidence surveys and funding sources of these components.

Chart 2 GDP by demand constituents (left, pp) and domestic demand 
breakdown (right; pp) for 2001 – 2008

Source: INSTAT, 2008
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in H1, consumer confidence indicator fell in H2, being reflected in consumer 
behaviour with regard to consumption and savings. The ongoing upward 
household deposit trend and increased savings indicator obtained from 
consumer confidence survey, suggest continued cautious stance of households 
related to their spending.

During 2010, private investments slightly 
recovered the sharp descent having been 
registered a year earlier. However, their growth 
was slow, following the domestic economic activity 
recovery with a several-month lag. Foreign direct 
investments, which were volatile over the 2010 H1, 
registered significant growth in 2010 H2. During 
2010 Q1, the process of inventory accumulation 
contributed positively to aggregate demand. In the 
next period, their contribution is estimated to have 
been negative.

The contribution of private investments to 
aggregate demand growth was absent during 2010 
H1. Affected by low capacity utilization rate and tight 
lending conditions, Albanian businesses have been 
reluctant to make new investments. In construction 

sector, the total building permits approved for housing and engineering 
constructions were downward for four consecutive quarters, starting from 
2009 Q2. Meanwhile, indirect private investment indicators show that their 
level grew during the second half of the year. This performance was supported 
by improved business confidence indicator, sustainable external demand 
recovery, as well as increased bank credit to businesses, in response to eased 
credit conditions and banks’ increased attention paid to lending. According to 
bank credit survey, investment standards stopped tightening in 2010 Q3 and 

Chart 3 Downward consumer demand and upward savings trend

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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began easing in 2010 Q4. According to this survey, business loan demand 
for investment was low but upward throughout 2010. 

The annual deficit contraction of goods and services net exports during 
2010 provided a positive contribution to annual GDP. Subsequently, net 
export indicator narrowed by 12.9% y-o-y. This development was influenced 
by rising exports of goods and services by about 16% y-o-y. The contraction 
of net export deficit is estimated to have provided a substantial positive 
contribution to economic activity during 2010. 

Increased foreign demand for Albanian goods 
and services has supported domestic output growth. 
In particular, it is reflected in good performance of 
the sectors related to exports of goods and services, 
such as industry and tourism-related services. 
The recovery in the world activity, exchange 
rate adjustment, and the flexibility of Albanian 
businesses to find new markets for their products, 
have been determining factors in increasing exports 
and improving Albania’s external sector’s balance 
sheet. On the other hand, this trend has also 
reflected the statistical effects of Albania’s weak 
export performance during 2009. It is also favoured 
by favourable conjunctural factors, such as high 
mineral prices in global markets and suitable weather 
conditions for hydroelectric generation. However, in 
2010, export and import indicators, deflated from 
price volatility, shows that export growth was higher 
than what statistics show, whereas imports contracted in response to a still 
sluggish domestic demand. Overall, it is estimated that the contribution of net 
export narrowing to real GDP growth is even more positive. Notwithstanding 

Chart 5 Quantitative indirect and survey indicators on private sector 
investments

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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these positive developments, the maintaining of positive contribution of this 
aggregate demand constituent to economic growth in the years ahead will be 
one of the challenges of the Albanian economy.

Fiscal consolidation process was accompanied by a sharp reduction of 
public spending contribution to aggregate demand and economic growth 
in 2010. In real terms�, budget spending contracted by about 8% in 2010, 
while budget deficit decreased by 4 percentage points as a share of GDP. 
Public investments experienced a real contraction by about 33.1% in 2010, 
vs. a real growth of 0.1% in 2009. Coupled with fiscal correction effect�, this 
public investment trend reflects also the statistical effect of the previous year’s 
high investments�.

Due to restraining direct impact of fiscal consolidation on economic growth, 
the public sector’s lower need for borrowing from domestic financial markets 
led to interest rate cut and increased the banks’ attention to private sector 
lending. This phenomenon was especially evident during 2010 Q4, when the 
decreased government security portfolio was accompanied by rapid growth 
of lending to the economy. In the long run, keeping public debt level in check 
contributes positively to decreasing the financial market risk premiums and 
the real interest rates in the economy, as well as to increasing the long-term 
investments. 

�   Real change of budget spending is obtained by deflating nominal expenditures to average 
annual inflation per budget year. 

�   Fiscal correction for 2010, which aimed at reducing budget spending, was mostly supported 
by reduced capital expenditure relative to the previous year. 

�   Between the period 2008 and 2009 Q2, there was a high concentration of capital expenditures, 
due to Rrëshen-Kalimash road construction. 

Chart 7 Public spending and net financing of budget deficit to GDP 

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT, Bank of Albania

5.8 

-8.0 

-33.1 

-40.0

-20.0

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

-10.0

-5.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Total expenditure (left) Current (left)
Capital (right)

Real annual percenage change

7.0

3.1

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Net financing of budget deficit,
in % or GDP 



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

44 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 45

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

44 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 45

III.2.	Output by sectors of the 
economy 

The economic growth over the first nine-month 
period of 2010 reflected mainly the strong growth 
in industry, followed by the growth in services and 
agriculture sectors. In the meantime, construction 
sector deepened the contraction having started 
since late 2009. 

Production sector� slowed during the first 
nine months of the year, reducing the positive 
contribution to economic growth. This contribution 
is estimated at about 0.4 percentage points, from 
0.6 percentage points in the same period of 2009. 
Within the production sector, the value-added from 
industry and agriculture to GDP offset the descent 
in construction.

Industrial output for the first nine-month period of 2010 was up 19.8% y-
o-y. Significant improvement� of economic activity in this branch was mainly 
affected by increased foreign demand for Albanian products, their higher 
prices in international markets – while the national currency continues to be 
weak - and the base effect of comparison with the low level of 2009. This 
development was reflected in the growth in industrial exports and sales at 
home, as proxied by the volume turnover indicator. Industrial sector’s sales 
accelerated their annual growth rate in the first three quarters, registering an 
annual average growth of about 36.5%. This increase was triggered mainly 
by accelerated sales growth in the extracting industry. Industrial goods export 
increased by 60.5% y-o-y over the first nine-month period of 2010, compared 
to the negative growth a year earlier. 

2008 2009 2010*
Industry 8.7 12.6 36.5
Extractive industry -1.2 -6.8 56.7
Processing industry 8.8 11.0 13.2
Electricity, gas, water 15.6 25.2 104.3

* Year 2010 is estimated according to the average of three quarters. 
Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.

Positive growth rates of industrial output are expected to persist in 2010 Q4. 
Export of these goods grew by about 50% in this quarter. In the meantime, 
the industrial confidence indicator grew by 5.5 percentage points, up by 
0.2 percentage points from its historical average. Also, information on new 
industrial orders and the upward trend of industrial loan support the outlook 
for recovery of its activity over the periods ahead. 

�   Production sector includes industry, construction and agriculture.
�   The average historical growth rate is 11.2 for the period between the years 2003 – 2008. 

Chart 8 Sectors’ contributions to GDP growth* 
(in percentage points)
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Electricity production grew by about 48.0% during 
2010. Sources of electrical energy� in the country 
increased by 45.2% during the year, mainly due to 
43.4% rise in electricity generated from hydropower 
plants. Since early 2009, electricity generated from 
concession and private plants has been added 
to electricity generated from public thermal and 
hydropower plants�. 

Net balance of electricity exchanged in 2010 
totalled 2931.2.6 GWH, about 6.7 times higher than 
in the previous year. In 2010, exports accounted for 
about 37.9% of electricity generated domestically, 
up by 29.5 percentage points on a year earlier. 

The slowdown in production sector’s contribution 
to the country’s economic activity growth during 
2010 reflected mainly the contraction in construction. 

The value-added generated from construction recorded an average annual 
contraction of -23.1% in the first three quarters of 2010. The deterioration in 
construction activity contributed negatively to gross domestic product, by -3.4 
percentage points. While the activity of this branch fell sharply, the housing 
market price correction was slower.

�   Domestic electrical energy sources refer to electricity generated from hydropower plants, thermal 
electric plants, concession and private plants as well as imported electric energy (import and 
exchange-trading contracts).

�   Even though their present contribution to total sources of production is low, they remain a 
source of electrical energy supply in the domestic market. 

Chart 9 Value-added, turnover index and 
industrial confidence indicator

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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Chart 12 Value-added, turnover index and 
construction confidence indicator 

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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During 2003 - 2008, construction experienced a 
double-digit growth, supported by the upward trend 
in approved permits for private constructions, a high 
demand for housing, the demographic dynamic 
movements as well as the favourable funding 
support. Starting from 2009 H2, construction 
activity has fallen significantly, being reflected in 
the decreased number of housing constructions 
(22.5% on average during 2010), stable or 
downward trend of house prices, decreased values ​​
in engineering constructions, road and highway 
sub-branch (20.3% average annual decline during 
2010). The descent in the added construction 
volume over the past two years was driven by the 
decline in the demand for residential buildings, 
public investments, or expansion of enterprise 
manufacturing capacities and lower lending to 
construction during past two years, compared 
to preceding years. In particular, the demand for housing is decelerated in 
response to consumer uncertainty about the future and consumer expectations 
for house price correction. 

Agriculture value-added grew on average about 9% y-o-y during the first 
three quarters of 2010, or up 5.8 percentage points from the figure marked over 
the same period of 2009. As a result, this sector is estimated to have provided 
a substantial contribution to annual GDP growth. Higher agricultural prices in 
global markets convey proper incentives for a long-term growth of agricultural 
production in the Albanian economy. Reforms and structural developments 
(aimed at enhancing efficiency in agricultural production, facilitating access 
of Albanian agricultural products to domestic and international markets, as 
well as supporting financially this sector’s businesses and farms) should be a 
priority of economic development in Albania.

Chart 13 Sub-sectors’ contribution to annual agricultural output growth (left) 
and agro-industrial production (right, in %) 

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Consumer Protection
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Service sector continued to provide a major 
contribution to generating positive economic growth 
rates. The service value-added contributed an average 
annual growth of about 3.2 percentage points to GDP 
for the first three quarters of 2010. Over this period, 
the value-added posted 5.6% average annual growth, 
showing a progressive trend from Q1 to Q3. Transport 
and Other services highlighted accelerated annual 
growth rates. Other services, which relate mainly 
with health, education and financial intermediation, 
have contributed by about 60% to Q3’s economic 
growth. In the meantime, the value-added in Trade, 
hotels, and restaurants sub-branch, related closely to 
consumer spending, recorded a decelerated y-o-y and 
q-o-q growth rate�. Within the service sector, Post and 
telecommunication sub-branch dropped 7.2% y-o-y in 
the first nine-month period of the year (compared with 
up 36.5% in the same period a year earlier).

Based on data from business service surveys, this sector’s confidence 
appears less optimistic in 2010 Q4, compared with the first nine-month 
period of the year. The confidence indicator of businesses operating in the 
service sector, having increased slightly in Q3, fell 2.2 percentage points in 
Q4. However, it is standing at its historical average.

III.3.	The labour market 

Recovery of economic activity in 2010 conditioned the stabilization of the 
labour market during this period. Following the deterioration observed in 

�   The Q3’s decelerated growth in this branch is unexpected because of its seasonality related 
to the tourism season. 

Chart 14 Value-added, turnover and service 
confidence indices

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania
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Chart 15 GDP at basic prices and the number of employed people (y-o-y 
percentage, left) and unemployment rate (right chart)

Source: INSTAT
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2009 Q4, employment growth was slow but steady, while the increase in 
the number of unemployed people was lower. Unemployment rate fell by 
about 0.26 percentage points compared with the end of the previous year, 
standing at 13.49%. However, relative to previous years, it remains elevated, 
suggesting the existence of spare capacity in this market.

During 2010, the non-agricultural private sector’s employment rate 10 
picked up by 1.9% in 2010. In contrast, the public sector’s employment rate 
levelled out in average terms. 

A more detailed sectoral analysis based on short-term statistical data 
shows that increase in the private sector’s non-agricultural employment has 
derived primarily from better-performing branches. In the first nine months, 
the industry and service employment indices increased by 9.8% and 5.2% 
y-o-y, respectively. In contrast, construction employment index fell by 0.5% over 
this period. Quarterly distribution of this index attests to positive developments in 
construction employment during Q3, following the fall registered in the first two 
quarters of the year.

Data from surveys support the trend observed in the labour market. For 
Q4, survey indicators suggest further improved employment, which would 
be reflected in the production sector, whereas service sector is expected to 
maintain the Q3’s levels.

10	 The total number of people employed dropped by 6.7% in the first nine months of this year, due 
to decline in private agricultural sector, reflecting the statistical effect of their measurement. This 
is because the average number of people employed in the private agricultural sector from 2008 
Q2 to 2009 Q3 is estimated according to the 2007 Labour Force Survey, whereas for 2009 
Q4 it is estimated according to the 2008 Labour Force Survey (Source: INSTAT, “Conjuncture 
– Key economic indicators, January – March 2010)”. 

Chart 16  Employment index by economic activity*

*Annual percentage average change in the first three quarters of each year
Source: INSTAT
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III.4.	Fiscal developments

Observing the public debt stock threshold below 60% of GDP, and 
maintaining low budget deficit levels, have been two most important 
operational objectives set forth under the 2010-2012 Fiscal Macroeconomic 
Framework11. These two pillars have served as anchors to support fiscal 
sustainability in the medium and long run. Public finance sustainability 
became one of the most important issues in 2010 agenda, as a consequence 
of the deteriorating fiscal position on a year earlier. Increased public debt 
and budget deficit in 2009, as a consequence of fiscal stimuli in view of the 
revitalization of the economy, led to changing the fiscal policy stance in 2010. 
Against this setting, fiscal policy was oriented towards fiscal consolidation 
process that was accelerated especially after 2010 H1, with the approval 
of the revised budget that established a lower level of expenditure than the 
one projected at year-start. The 2010 fiscal consolidation was carried out 
by combining reduced expenditure and increased revenues. Though the 
measures taken in this regard included even the income-side correction, the 
2010 fiscal consolidation essence consisted in controlling and curbing the 
budget spending. Consequently, in late 2010 the budget deficit was curbed 
by about 3.9 percentage points on a year earlier. 

The 2010 budget spending was down by 4.5%12 from the previous 
year’s figure, thus suggesting a lower contribution of the public sector to 
aggregate demand. For 2010, total expenditure accounted for about 29.6% 
of GDP, against 33.2% on a year earlier. Current expenditure accounted 
for approximately 24.6% of GDP, from 24.8% a year earlier, while capital 
expenditure accounted for about 5.5% of GDP, marking about 2.9 percentage 
points lower than a year earlier. 

11	 Fiscal Macroeconomic Framework is a constituent of the SPI and is compiled by the Ministry 
of Finance. 

12	 Budget spending for 2010 is down 3.0% on a year earlier, if we exclude the “AEC loan 
repayment” as a total expenditure item. 

Chart 17 Annual change of expenditure and key items’ contribution (left) and 
expenditure by main items to GDP (right)

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT
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Budget spending trend was dictated by lower annual growth rates of current 
expenditure and contraction of capital spending in annual terms. In late 2010, 
current expenditure grew 6.0% y-o-y, from 13.4% a year earlier. Meanwhile, 
capital spending was down 29.6%, from up 2.4% as at end-2009.

Tight fiscal policy pursued in 2010, has changed the budget spending 
composition, providing a structure of a lower share of capital spending to 
total expenditure, relative to the previous year13. Social security outlays still 
account for the highest share to total expenditure (about 29%14). This sub-item, 
together with interest expense on public debt, hit the highest growth in annual 
terms (respectively 9.8 and 14.6%). Interest expenses increased especially 
during the past two years due to increased interest payments on external debt. 
The increase in external debt share, in commercial terms, and the national 
currency’s depreciation against a basket of major foreign currencies led to 
external debt’s higher interest expenses. 

In 2010, budget revenues performed differently from 2009. Although their 
growth rate remained below the historical average, its trajectory was steadier 
than in 200915. Budget revenues as at end-2010 were up 8.4%, from up 2.8% 
on a year earlier16. As a share of GDP, fiscal revenues for 2010 are estimated 
at about 26.5%, up by 0.3 percentage points from the previous year. 

Tax authority’s decisions and developments in non-tax revenue item are 
two key factors that have positively influenced revenues. Increase in revenues 
from tax authority’s decisions owes to adoption of several alterations to the 
fiscal package17, which are translated into increased direct and indirect taxes 
and duties. Another factor that has positively influenced 2010 budget revenue 
growth is the sharp increase in non-tax revenues, thanks to including a part of 
privatization receipts to this cluster of revenues. 

VAT revenues, accounting for the largest share to total revenues (35%), 
increased at comparable paces to the previous year (3.6% versus 2.8% in 
2009), levels significantly below their historical average18. Maintaining these 
rates suggests slower increase in the domestic demand. It should be highlighted 
that the increase in VAT revenues in 2010 was driven by increased value of 
import of goods subject to this tax type19. Increased revenues from VAT only 
thanks to tax on value of imported goods, is due to high share (about 74% in 
2010) of VAT of these goods to total VAT, as well as the national currency’s 

13	 In 2010, current and capital expenditures (excluding the “AEC loan repayment”) accounted 
for 82% and 18%, respectively, to the total, from 75% and 25% in 2009. 

14	 The deficit resulting from social insurance scheme accounted for 138% of the total budget 
deficit. 

15	 In 2009, budget revenue growth paces decelerated after the first quarter of the year, while 
2010, particularly the last five months highlighted their acceleration, with an annual growth 
rate standing at above 5.7%. 

16	 The 2010 annual budget revenue growth, excluding privatisation receipts, is 5.6%.
17	 For more details on changes to fiscal package, see Box 2: “Fiscal Package adopted for 

2010” 
18	 The historical average annual growth rate of VAT revenues is estimated at about 11.7% in 

2001-2010.
19	 Referring to SIT classification, excluding the “Beverages and tobacco” and “Fuels” items. 
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Chart 18 Annual change of revenues and some key items, in % (left) and 
their realization as a share of GDP, in % (right)

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT
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depreciating trend against the basket of major foreign currencies20. On the 
other hand, in spite of measures taken by the tax authority to expand the 
scope of businesses for VAT registration, VAT revenues from production of 
domestic goods and services contracted in annual terms21.

20   In 2010, the national currency’s depreciation averaged 9.3% vs. American dollar and 4.3% 
vs. Euro. 

21   VAT revenues collected by tax administration dropped by 10.7% y-o-y.
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Box 2.	Fiscal package adopted for 2010

Amendments to the 2010 fiscal package consisted in:

-	 Amendments to the VAT law. They brought about expanded scope of businesses 
for VAT registration, by lowering the business annual turnover threshold 
from 8 million to 5 million, as from January 1, 2010, as well as by setting a 
minimum threshold for Vat registration of ALL 2 million for liberal professions 
(lawyers and notaries; chartered accountants and professional accountants; 
doctors and dentists (including specialists), pharmacists, nurses, architects, 
engineers, veterinarians, agronomists, midwives and economists; and real 
estate assessors. The supply of educational services by public and private 
institutions is an exempt supply in the VAT law. 

-	 Amendments to the Law on excise tax. Glass packaging, plastic packaging, 
piles and primary batteries, tires and fireworks were added to the range of 
goods subject to excise tax. At the same time, perfumes and different types 
of mineral water were excluded from excise tax. Also, the way of applying 
the excise tax for incandescent lamps was changed (from commodity value 
percentage into fixed amount) and also the existing excise taxes were increased 
for some oil sub-products (fuel type coal oil; crude oil as fuel; acyclic and 
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cyclic hydrocarbons). The excise tax was decreased solely for the item “No-baked 
decaffeinated or not decaffeinated coffee”. 

-	 Amendments to the Law on “National Taxes”, counted the reviewing of the tax on 
used cars; setting forth a fixed tax for mineral rent; reviewing the carbon tax and 
changing the tax on games of chance.

Except excise tax revenues, the growth rates of other tax revenues were 
below their historical average. Excise tax revenues as at end-2010 grew by 
15.8% y-o-y, remaining 1 percentage point above the annual average growth 
recorded over 2007-2009. Increase in the amount of imported fuel22 and 
tobacco, in excise tax for several oil products, as well as in the scope of goods 
subject to excise tax in 201023 are factors that have contributed to substantial 
pickup in excise tax revenues. 

Personal income tax is another item that posted annual growth rates 
markedly below its historical average. At end-2010, in spite of application 
of the same rate as a year earlier, this tax revenue item grew by 0.9% y-o-
y compared to the two-digit growth (over 10%) in the two previous years, 
suggesting the presence of automatic stabilizers along the year24. 

At end-2010, the budget deficit is estimated at about 3.1% of GDP, from 
7.0% at the end of the past year. The difference 
by 3.9 percentage points from the previous year 
represents the fiscal correction extent to maintain 
sustainable public finances25. In nominal terms, 
the budget deficit at end-2010 resulted about ALL 
38.1 billion, being reduced by about 53% from end 
2009. 

In the first 10 months of 2010, budget deficit 
was financing according to the “traditional” way, 
through issuance of domestic debt instruments, as 
well as through external borrowing to finance the 
projects. In November 2010, a new instrument was 
added to the range of government borrowing, i.e., 
the EUR. 300 million Eurobond. With the Eurobond 
issue, the existing structure (the 10-month period) 
of deficit financing was changed. Of this amount, 
about EUR. 192.6 million was transferred to repay 
the syndicated loan26, whilst the rest was used to 

finance the deficit for the two remaining months of the year. On the other 
hand, in order to maintain the deficit within the limit specified in the 2010 

22	 Fuels account for the major share to imported goods volume, which are subject to excise 
tax. 

23	 Goods added to 2010 excise tax list were glass packaging, plastic packaging, tires, fireworks, 
as well as piles and primary batteries. 

24	 Automatic stabilizers imply the mechanisms that duly stimulate or contract the economy, without 
needing a change in the country’s economic policies. 

25	 It should be highlighted that it is difficult to define the fiscal correction size to support the fiscal 
sustainability. 

26	 Syndicated loan granted in 2009 H1 falls due in 2011 H1. 

Chart 19  Budget balance and deficit 
financing by instruments, in ALL billion 

Source: Ministry of Finance, Bank of Albania
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budget law27, in the last two months of 2010, domestic borrowing decreased 
by ALL 16.1 billion, an amount almost equal to the amount remaining from 
Eurobond issue.

At end-2010, budget deficit financing through bonds and treasury bills 
issuance was about ALL 11.1 billion, accounting for about 29% of net 
deficit financing for this budget year. Unlike the trend observed in 2009, 
especially in 2009 Q4, during 2010, market stakeholders’ preferences were 
for long-term government securities. Their tendency to extend the investment 
horizon in government securities, combined with a high level of liquidity in the 
market28 have contributed to reducing the government debt stock in short-
term instruments (3- and 6-month T-bills), making more room for long-term 
domestic debt instruments. Only in December 2010, the tax authority issued 
about ALL 15.5 billion T-bills less than the amount that fell due within that 
month29. This development is reflected mostly in reducing the T-bill portfolio 
owned by the Bank of Albania, offering a picture similar to that of advanced 
and emerging economies30. On the other hand, the reduced domestic debt 
in short-term securities was transmitted to significant reduced T-bill yields, 
generating grounds for decreasing risk premium in the future. At end-2010, 
the short-term debt stock (in T-bills of the three maturities) resulted about 
59% of total domestic debt, versus 63% a year earlier. This development is 
expected to be transmitted to reduction of debt refinancing risk in the future. 

Budget deficit financing through foreign resources (excluding Eurobond) 
resulted 27% for 2010. Besides the above-mentioned instruments, receipts 

27	 Referring to Budget Law revised in July 2010, as well as to 2010 Budget Law. Each of them 
provided for a budget deficit of ALL 38.1 billion. 

28	 The government securities investors’ bid was very high, since the bid-ask ratio with respect to 
the issued amount settled above 1 throughout 2010. 

29	 Of this amount, ALL 9.1 billion belongs to 3-month T-bills, 3.9 billion to 6-month T-bills and 
2.4 billion to 12-month T-bills. 

30	W e refer to “Fiscal Monitor”, November 2010, IMF, about fiscal developments in developed 
and emerging economies. 

Chart 20 Primary balance, in ALL billion (left) and as a share of GDP (right) 

Source: Ministry of Finance, Bank of Albania, INSTAT
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from privatization of state-owned enterprises constitute another budget deficit 
financing element. However, this item’s share of 1% to total financing is almost 
negligible in comparison to 2009, when privatization receipts accounted for 
about 34% of total budget deficit financing. 

In 2010, fiscal consolidation process is illustrated through the trajectory 
followed by the primary deficit during the year. Primary deficit, especially after 
2010 Q2, significantly improved both in nominal terms and as a share of 
GDP. At period-end, this indicator recorded positive values for the first time 
since 2006 Q3. 

Latest primary balance developments provided a positive contribution to 
public debt dynamics, especially in 2010 Q4.

At end-2010, public debt stock resulted about ALL 715.1 billion31, of 
which 57% represented the domestic debt stock and the rest represented the 
external debt. The public debt stock composition has changed from a year 
earlier, when these ratios were 61% and 39%, respectively. This public debt 
composition, which highlights an increased share of external debt to total 
debt y-o-y, carries higher exposure to changes in global financial markets 
and in foreign exchange ones. On the other hand, meeting the government’s 
borrowing need with foreign resources made more room for private sector 
borrowing in the domestic market. This public debt structure, besides the 
risks it carries over, serves also as a driver to the country’s economic activity 
growth, expands investors’ scope in government securities and precedes the 
private sector’s foreign borrowing. 

Public debt as at end-2010 is estimated at about 58.4% of GDP, marking 

a reduction of about 1.2 percentage points from the previous year. Domestic 

31   External debt data on end-2010 are preliminary. 

Chart 21 Public debt in ALL billion (left) and as a share of GDP (right)

Source: Ministry of Finance, Bank of Albania, INSTAT
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debt stock as at end-2010 was about 33.3% of GDP or down 3 percentage 
points from end-2009, whereas external debt was about 25.2% of GDP, from 
23.4% at end-2009.

III.5.	External sector of the economy

Net current account balance resulted in a deficit of about EUR 1056.3 million 
in 2010. In annual terms, current account deficit shrank by approximately 
21.5%, somewhat easing the problem of its sustainability. Consequently, 
current account deficit accounted for 11.9% of nominal GDP32 or down by 
3.6 percentage points from the 2009’s figure.

The analysis of current account by its main items points out the narrowing 
of net export deficit as a primary contributor to correction of the latter. At 
the same time, the net deficit narrowing of income account has provided a 
substantial positive contribution to the annual current account performance. 
Current transfers  have recorded a similar value to 2009’s, however, lower level 
of remittances by about EUR. 91.6 million this year is worth mentioning. 

•	 External trade
The year 2010 was characterized by accelerated growth rate of our 

country’s trade activity, mainly affected by the recovered trade exchanges in 
international conjuncture and expanded external demand. Trade recorded 
absolute values close to those of 2008 and increased by approximately 
16.2% in annual terms relative to those of 2009. The ratio of import coverage 
by export was estimated at 33.7%, about 6.8 percentage points higher than 
the six-year historical average. The 2010 trade deficit dynamics shows that it 
narrowed by about 7.8% y-o-y, accounting for 25.9% of nominal GDP. 

Table 3	 Export and import by group-items and trade deficit 
Export 
(EUR. 

Million)

Annual 
change
 (In %)

Import 
(EUR. 

million)

Annual 
change 

(In %)

Trade 
deficit (EUR. 

million)

Annual 
change
 (In %)

Food and live animals 42.4 17.9 441.7 11.8 -399.28 11.17
Beverages and tobacco 4.5 33.8 143.3 15.7 -138.71 15.21
Raw materials and minerals 135.6 67.1 63.3 (33.8) 72.30 -596.40
Fuels 210.9 132.5 479.2 25.3 -268.27 -8.07
Animal and vegetable oils and fats 0.8 152.4 41.2 5.2 -40.45 4.04
Chemical products 11.2 (10.7) 387.3 6.8 -376.11 7.47
Processed goods 288.0 111.5 913.5 12.5 -625.47 -7.44
Machinery and equipment 49.2 41.2 673.5 (9.2) -624.35 -11.70
Miscellaneous processed goods 428.8 20.6 331.0 11.8 97.78 64.29
Total 1,171.5 56.1 3,474.1 6.9 -2,302.55 -7.83

Source: General Customs Directorate, Bank of Albania. 

Exports of goods by value showed an upward accelerated trend during the 

32   INSTAT’s figure on nominal GDP is used for 2003 – 2009, whereas IMF’s outlook on GDP 
is used for 2010, in line with the “IMF Article IV Consultation, 2010”, July 2010. 
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year, up by about 56% y-o-y, to 13.2% of nominal GDP. This trend in exports, 
in addition to the impact of low base effect of comparison in 2009, was 
also affected by several important by factors, such as the national currency’s 
depreciated position vs. the common European currency, the upward price 
trend for raw materials and base metals in international markets, improved 

domestic demand in our main trading partners33 and exploitation of new 
markets by domestic exporters. Thus, some of the major products that positively 
contributed to export growth this year were electricity, chrome ore, processed 
materials of aluminium, chromium and steel, cement and re-export textiles. 

During the year, imports by value increased by about 6.9% compared to 

33	 Though consumer spending in Greece was contracted during 2010, our exports to this country 
recorded positive upward rates. 

Chart 22  Quarterly flow of import, export and trade deficit by value to 
GDP (left) and annual contribution of main export items (right)

Source: Bank of Albania, General Customs Directorate
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Chart 23  Annual changes to import of goods by items (left, in %) and 
capital imports in index (right)*

*The index is fixed to the quarterly average of capital goods import for 2010.
Source: Bank of Albania, General Customs Directorate
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2009, influenced by higher prices in international markets. Their ratio to 
nominal GDP was 39.1% or 1.9 percentage points lower compared to the 
previous year’s figure. The division of imports according to their final use in the 
economy highlights 11% annual growth of intermediate goods import, which 
was influenced by the expansion of imports of intermediate industrial goods. The 
same trend followed the import of the item “consumer goods”, which, as a result 
of expansion of household consumer goods import, rose by 6.3% y-o-y. On the 
other hand, in 2010 the import of capital goods fell by 6% y-o-y. Besides lower 
import of vehicles this year, the decline in import of machinery and equipment 
made a substantial contribution to this performance. Simultaneously, the effect of 
increased capital imports due to construction of Rreshen-Kalimash road over the 
previous years is estimated to have cancelled out during the first half of this year. 

External trade results by volume for 201034 reflect an accelerated annual 
growth of total export volume and an annual decrease of total volume of 
goods import. Hence, if the volume of exports expanded by about 69% y-o-y, 
the average price per ton of exported goods fell by about 7.7% y-o-y. Against 
a backdrop of increased competitiveness from international exporters and 
positive impact of currency depreciation, domestic exporters have preferred 

to compete on price, in order to keep their current market share and enter 
into new markets. In contrast, the import volume declined by about 11.5% y-
o-y, whereas the average price per ton of imported goods rose by about 21% 
compared to 2009. 

Albania’s trade was concentrated in EU countries, where the combined 
share of trade exchanges with Italy and Greece accounted for 70% of the total. 
Exports experienced accelerated upward pace to countries such as Austria, 
Bulgaria, Switzerland, Czech Republic, Spain, Greece, Italy, Turkey and the 
United States and declined to Montenegro, Romania, and Former Yugoslav 
Republic of Macedonia. Imports grew from countries, such as Austria, Italy, 

34   Goods trade in volume is released monthly by the Directory of Customs. 

Chart 24  Volume and average price per ton of imports/exports

Source: Bank of Albania, General Customs Directorate
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CEFTA35 member states, Poland, Romania and Slovenia, and decreased 
from Germany, Switzerland, China, Greece, Russia and Turkey.
Box 3. External trade profile

In the context of identifying trends and dynamics of Albania’s external trade 
developments, a special importance is assigned to import and export data 
decomposition according to markets and main products. Although respective markets 
and products of imports and exports change over years, it is of interest to highlight 

key components that affected the volatility of exports and imports during 2010. 

After 2009 export contraction, the year 2010 registered an expansion of traditionally 
exported goods from Albania in the form of textile re-exports. Although assessed 
comparatively low in absolute terms compared to export of textile products, export 
of electric power machinery36 and base metal articles37 have demonstrated a 

35	 Free trade agreement of the Central Europe with the following member states: Croatia, 
Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, Serbia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, 
Moldova, Kosovo, Albania. 

36	M ainly electro motors, generators and electric equipment for landline telephony. 
37	M ainly metal equipment for doors.

Chart 25 Value of export products by steady-growing products (left) and 
accelerated-growing products (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania, General Customs Directorate
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Chart 26 The lek’s annual change in nominal effective terms (NEER*) (left) 
and the EMP index (right)

*NEER – nominal effective exchange rate, measured relative to both major currencies, according to an 
approximate weight they have when traded abroad, EUR (80 %) and USD (20 %). A rise in the NEER 

implies the lek’s appreciation.
Source: Bank of Albania
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sustainable growth rate. On the other hand, export of mineral fuels, steel and 
cast iron provided the major contribution to export expansion this year, featuring 
a three-digit growth rate. The same trend is shown by the two other groups which 
are affected by constant growth of export of cement and higher international prices 
in ore row materials. 

As concerns main markets where domestic exporters compete, though there appeared 
a tendency to penetrate into new markets, 50% of exports are addressed to Italy. 
At the same time, the speeded-up economic performance experienced in China 
and Turkey has helped attract our exports to these countries. In the meantime, the 
speeded-up growth of mineral fuels export has helped grow the share of penetration 

to Swiss and Spanish markets. 

Import products that have the largest share to total imports are mineral fuels, which 
are closely related to international oil and energy prices and electric equipment 
and machinery. Coupled with the import of electric machinery and equipment and 
of pharmaceutical products, both above-mentioned clusters form products with the 
lowest volatility among major categories of import in our country. On the other 
hand, import of vehicles and their parts, as well as of mechanical machinery and 
equipment recorded annual decline during 2009 and 2010. Two other constituent 
clusters of steel and cast-iron were volatile. 

Italy and Greece remain the origin of the majority of imports. Meanwhile, annual 
imports from Greece, Russia, China, Germany and Turkey were downward during 
2009 and 2010. Following a decline in 2009, imports from Italy showed a positive 
growth rate for 2010. However, during 2010 the more accelerated upward rate of 
imports from countries with the largest share to the total, was recorded with Croatia, 
up by 112% y-o-y. 

Although during 2010, the scope of products exported from our country was 
expanded, still focus was on two types of exports: raw materials and textile products. 
These two types of exports represent two different implications on Albania’s 
competitiveness against the regional markets. Export of raw materials in the form 
of ores, being subject to only one or two processing step, impacts on maintaining 
low value-added of these exports. Meanwhile, the comparative advantage in textile 
industry lies on low production costs, which make our exports more competitive in the 
market. In this way, long-term economic policies on competitiveness of our economy 

Chart 27  Main import clusters

Source: Bank of Albania, General Customs Directorate
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should be addressed more to increasing the value-added of exports and enhancing their 
sophistication, investing in production technology. 

•	 Services, revenues and current transfers
The combined net account position of services, income and current transfers 

increased the financing flows by about 7.2% y-o-y, funding about 49.3% of 
trade deficit over the observed period. Increased net foreign-currency inflows 
from services account was helped by the decline in outflows from tourism. 
Thus, although foreign-currency inflows from foreign passengers’ personal 
expenses declined by about 2.6% y-o-y, contraction of resident travellers’ 
expenses abroad by about 20.9% was the main contributor to growth of net 
services account position. Meanwhile, the annual performance of transport 
and insurance services followed similar trend to performance of the goods 

trade deficit. 

The negative balance recorded in income account 
in 2010, by EUR. 76.8 million, represented a 
reduction of this deficit by 23.6% y-o-y. Against the 
setting of high risk perception by foreign investors, 
2009 highlighted an increase in the repatriation pace 
of profits from foreign direct investments. Although 
this trend continued during 2010, albeit at more 
moderate upward rates, higher net inflows of income 
from work and income from portfolio investments 
helped reduce the negative net account position.

Net current transfers resulted 1.7% lower this 
year compared with the previous year. Remittances 
continued their downward trend having started 
since 2007, due to labour market slack in countries 
where their concentration is higher and the cyclicality 

characterizing them. In 2010, these financial inflows fell by about 11.7% y-
o-y, accounting for 7.8% of nominal GDP. On the other hand, government 
transfers and other transfers were higher this year. 

•	 Capital and financial account
Net flows in capital and financial account recorded a surplus of about EUR 

924.7 million during 2010, falling by about 11.2% compared to the same 
period the previous year. Decreased surplus in this account was caused by the 
y-o-y descent of financial account flows by about 12.3%. In relation to GDP, 
(net) capital and financial inflows represented about 10.4%, from 12.0% in 
the previous year. Currently, the surplus of this account managed to finance 
only 87.5% of the 2010 current account. 

The flow of Albania’s cross-border financial liabilities was EUR. 1081.2 
million in 2010, up by 19.3% from 2009. The increase in financial liabilities 
was mainly due to increased foreign direct investments in Albania and 

Chart 28  Current account components to 
GDP in the years 

Source: Bank of Albania
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significant growth of portfolio investments. The portfolio investments increased 
in 2010 Q4 due to EUR 300 million Eurobond issue in international markets. 
The total borrowing flow (private and public withdrawals) during the year 
resulted EUR. 238.0 million, about 46.2% lower compared with a year 
earlier. External debt payments reduced Albania’s cross-border liabilities by 
about EUR. 279.5 million during the year. These payments were offset mainly 
by using the Eurobond funds. Likewise in 2009, 
residents’ liabilities abroad continued to decrease 
as a consequence of banking system short-term 
debt settlement. 

Foreign direct investments inflows in 2010 yielded 
EUR. 827.4 million, up by about 17.1% y-o-y. 
Foreign direct investments in 2010 were oriented 
mainly to hydropower sector and hydrocarbon one. 
The ratio of net foreign direct investments (inflows 
- outflows) to nominal GDP for 2010 is estimated 
at about 9.4% or about up 1.6 percentage points 
from the previous year. Excluding privatization 
receipts, the inflows of foreign direct investments in 
2010 increased by 66.4% compared to 2009. This 
change was due to a higher level of privatization 
receipts and the important role they played in FDI 
growth in 2009 38. 

Financial asset account in 2010 was characterized by a pronounced 
increase in our assets invested abroad compared with a year earlier. As a 
result of increase in our banks’ deposits at non-resident banks and portfolio 
investments, our financial assets invested abroad are estimated at EUR. 242.1 
million. A year earlier, our assets invested abroad dropped by about EUR. 
50.2 million. During 2010, the “currency and deposit” account, as well as 
portfolio investments contributed respectively about EUR. 125.7 million and 
EUR. 89.0 million to our assets invested abroad. 

Foreign reserves were up about EUR. 178.8 million in 2010, from down 
EUR. 32.0 million in 2009. 

38	D uring 2009, privatization revenues are estimated at Eur. 210.8 million, from only Eur. 3 million 
in 2010.

Chart 29 Financial account and main 
items-net flows in EUR million

Source: Bank of Albania, Ministry of Finance 
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“Pursuant to the ratification of Convention of 1925, the first Albanian national banknote was issued, with the value: 5 
lekë/1 gold franc (lekë was determined as the monetary unit, with the value: 5 lekë = 1 gold franc).  This banknote 
was very soon withdrawn from circulation because the Albanian Government protested against the eagle stamped on 
it, which was of the Roman style, one-headed instead of a double-headed one. According to available documents, 
it was printed by “Richter” in Naples of Italy and was in circulation only for 5 days.”
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IV.1.	Monetary developments

Albania’s improved growth rates are reflected in the monetary indicators 
dynamics. Monetary indicators in 2010 highlighted expansion of money supply 
in the economy, in line with the upward contribution of the foreign-currency 
component and the restrained expansion of net domestic assets. Also, this 
performance is consistent with the shifting of monetary assets towards longer 
maturities�, with moderate growth of credit to the economy during 2010, and 
with the most rapid circulation of money in the economy, in view of eased 
monetary conditions during this year. Good management of the global crisis 
effects by means of a coherent cooperation of fiscal and monetary policy 
was associated with boosted public confidence in the banking system and 
improved liquidity indicators. Together with the overall economic climate 
improvement in the country and foreign currency inflows, these developments 
led to remonetisation of the economy during 2010�. This trend was reflected 
in the growth of M3 to GDP, which reached 80.1% in 2010, from 76.2% in 
2009.

The effect of deposits return into the banking system was materialized in 
the expansion of foreign assets of the system and to a lower extent, in the 
expansion of private sector lending. Lending growth rates were significantly 
below the historical average levels, thus attesting to private economic agents’ 

�   In the major part of 2010, there is highlighted the economic agents’ propensity to save. 
�   Following to deposit withdrawal from the banking system in October 2008 – March 2009.

Chapter IV Monetary and financial market 
developments 

Chart 1 Y-o-y performance of M3 components and monetary 
aggregates, in real terms 

Source: Bank of Albania
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moderate demand for money. Although banks eased the credit terms and 
conditions and reduced the funding cost,  recovery of the private sector 
demand for loans took place gradually and moderately, due to uncertainties 
and expectations for the future. Public sector demand for monetary assets 
most of the year provided a steady contributed to M3 aggregate growth. 
Overall, monetary conditions in the economy were stimulating and promoted  
financial intermediation and  support to sustainable economic growth. 

Broad money in the economy, aggregate M3, posted an average growth of 
about 10.6% y-o-y in 2010. Throughout the year, the highest contribution to 
this growth was given by the banks’ net foreign assets, by 5.7 percentage points 
on average. The private sector contribution, averaging about 3 percentage 
points to broad money expansion, continued to be significantly below the 
recent years’ average contribution. Considering the price performance, the 
real money supply grew gradually, to stabilize at 8.4% at year-end. The M3 
aggregate’s annual real growth rate resulted below its historical average 
during the major part of the year, hence attesting to the subdued monetary 
inflation pressures. 

During the major part of the year, the public sector provided a significant 
contribution to money growth in the economy, averaging 1.8 percentage 
points for 2010. Public sector domestic borrowing rates are generally 
associated with seasonal swings in the demand for cash in circulation, 
which are reflected in narrow money indicators in the economy, i.e., M1 
and monetary base. The currency outside banks indicator was contracted 
steadily throughout 2010, recording an average of about 4.4% decline y-o-y. 
Consequently, this indicator’s share to ALL-denominated M2 aggregate was 
reduced to 32.3% at end-December, compared with 36.2% on a year earlier. 
Monthly developments have generally followed the seasonal performance, 
characterized by a higher increase of currency outside banks in July and 
December, periods that correspond to the seasonality of the increased demand 

Chart 2 Annual inflation and M3 (left) and key interest rate (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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for cash by both the public and private sectors. Reserve money indicator, 
monetary base, has marked moderate growth rates, with the annual rates 
averaging to about 0.3% during 2010.

The supply-side positive developments indicate full recovery of deposit 
stock in 2010�, reflecting the boosted confidence of economic agents in the 
banking system. Total deposit stock grew by an average of about 15.5% y-o-
y. In December, deposits marked the highest annual growth rate, by 18.5% 
- or about ALL 123 billion - thus registering growth rates similar to those of 
the pre-global crisis� period. High growth rates of deposits were registered  in 
July - September, coinciding  with the seasonality of foreign currency inflows. 

Year 2010 highlighted a decline in money velocity� indicator. The long-term 

�   Deposit stock recovery in nominal terms was carried out since 2009, whereas adjusted for the 
exchange rate effect it was fully recovered in 2010. 

�   In 2005-2007, the annual average deposit growth fluctuated to about 18%. 
�	 This indicator is measured as a ratio of GDP to M3 and serves as a proxy to the velocity of 

money circulation in the economy. 

Chart 3 Annual rates of ALL monetary aggregates; broad money 
multiplier 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 4 Ratio of total deposits to GDP and money velocity in the economy

Source: Bank of Albania
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downward trend of this indicator reflected the rapid monetary stock expansion, 
thanks to the boosted confidence in the banking system and greatest use of 
new financial products and instruments provided by this system for economic 
agents’ payment means. 

The deposit stock totalled roughly 80.1% to the broad money, compared 

with 76% as at previous year’s December. Re-monetization of the economy 
was also reflected in the increased ratio of deposits to GDP, to 64.2% at end-
2010, from 57.9% on a year earlier. The deposit time structure in 2010 shifted 
towards longer-term maturities. This trend is demonstrated in the increased 
share of time deposits to total ones, accounting for 78.6% at period-end, 
from 77.2% in December 2009. The deposit behaviour by economic agents 
has kept its structure almost unchanged, with the domination of household 
deposits by about 85% to the total stock. 

•	Le k component of money supply – M2 aggregate
Private agents’ relatively lower demand for ALL-denominated monetary 

assets has led to lower creation of lek of money supply component. The public 
sector’s domestic borrowing has dominated the main developments in the ALL 
aggregate, M2. Fiscal agent’s demand for money as at October has made 
the major contribution to M2 aggregate expansion.

 
The fiscal agent decreased the domestic borrowing over the last two months 

of the year, a period which is associated with its decreased contribution to 
base money expansion. This period coincides also with the expansion of 
private sector’s activity, which is funded basically from the domestic monetary 
assets. As at year-end, the system’s ALL-denominated deposits resulted up 
11%, or up ALL 40 billion of the stock. ALL money multiplier increased to 2.13 
as at end-2010, from 2.04 on a year earlier. 

Chart 5 Annual deposit growth by currency and maturity term

Source: Bank of Albania
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•	 Foreign currency component of M3 aggregate
M3 aggregate growth rates increased throughout 2010, when the 

foreign currency component of the broad money dominated the monetary 
developments. Foreign-currency deposit stock registered a y-o-y growth of 
about 28% or ALL 82.5 billion. The positive developments in the external 
sector of the economy and economic agents’ higher demand for foreign 
currency led to rapid recovery of growth rates in foreign-currency assets. Due 
to higher cash flows and faster money multiplying in the economy, the broad 
money multiplier marked upward rates, recording an annual average of 3.34 
in 2010, from 3.03 in 2009.

 

Chart 6 ALL-denominated deposits to M2 and the contribution of each 
group to annual ALL-denominated deposit growth 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 7 Foreign-currency deposits to M3 and each group’s contribution to 
annual foreign-currency deposit growth 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Box 4 Geographic distribution of banking intermediation

Using bank financial intermediaries by economic agents depends, to a great 
extent, on their number and size in fulfilling the population needs and the country’s 
economic activity. Thus, the geographic distribution of financial intermediation is 
a determinant factor in the role of the banking system intermediaries relative to 
the degree of savings and investments in an economy. Geographic distribution of 
banks in Albania is characterized by high concentration of lending and to a lesser 
extent, by low concentration of deposits. In general, this trend has reflected, besides 
the characteristics of concentration of population, the degree of socio-economic 
development in different areas of the country, as well. 

Geographic loan distribution has not undergone any significant changes over the 
years. Likewise in 2009, during 2010 lending to the economy was concentrated 
mainly in Tirana, which absorbed 70% of the total loans outstanding, recording 
a slight increase from the previous year’s figure (around 69%). In the meantime, 
deposit distribution continued to be somewhat more uniform, mostly concentrated 
in Tirana and the coastal cities of Durres and Vlora. 

Deposit market continued to be more concentrated in businesses rather than 
households. The deposit stock structure as at end-2010 highlights a higher 
concentration of business deposits in Tirana and a more balanced distribution of 
business deposits in other districts, as compared to the previous year. Household 
deposits are generally in line with the geographic distribution of the country’s 
population, reflecting also other factors, such as poverty and income level, migration 
and savings/consumption trend. Hence, Tirana’s household deposits account for 
about 41% of total deposits�. The rest is concentrated mainly in lowlands and coastal 
areas, which have a higher level of remittances. 

Geographic loan distribution is more concentrated than deposits, for both households 
and businesses. Business loans in Tirana account for about 75% of the total, slightly 
up compared to the previous year’s 74%, thanks to higher net lending flows to this 
district in 2010. Over the course of this period, high net flows were also recorded 
in the districts of Kukës, Peshkopi, Kavaja and Lezha. Loan concentration in Tirana 

�   A year earlier, deposits in Tirana accounted for about 42% of total stock. 

Chart 8 Deposit and loan distribution by districts

Source: Bank of Albania
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is indicative of the high concentration of economic activity in this area, where about 
40% of the country’s businesses operate. Also, the geographic loan distribution is 
in line with the financial activity distribution in different districts, judging from the 
presence of banks and their branches in these cities. Thus, Tirana accounts for about 
40% of total banks and their branches operating in Albania. 

Geographic household loan distribution is more proportionate and balanced 
than business loans. Household loans in Tirana account for about 57% of total 
outstanding loans, while the rest is more uniformly allocated to other districts of the 
country. Mortgage loan accounts for the major share (about 79%) of the household 
loan portfolio, simultaneously demonstrating the highest concentration within this 
category. Above 80% of the mortgage loan is made to Tirana, Durrës, Vlora and 
Fier, reflecting the greatest development of the real estate market in these districts�. 
In the meantime, disproportionateness in consumer loan allocation is lower. About 
53% of consumer loan is extended to households living in Tirana, whereas the 
geographic distribution of the rest results more uniform. 

�   In 2009, mortgage loans allocated to these districts accounted for about 85% of the 
total. 

Chart 9 Distribution of household deposits and population (left) and 
business deposits by currency (right)

Source: Bank of Albania, INSTAT
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Chart 10 Geographic distribution of business loans and number of 
businesses (left) and household loan by purpose (right) 

Note: The data on the number of businesses are for 2009.
Source: Bank of Albania, INSTAT
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•	Len ding to the private sector 
The banks’ financial intermediation, particularly lending, is an important 

component supportive to the economic activity. During 2010, banks were 
cautious in financing the private sector. Anyway, good liquidity conditions 
and banks’ soundness influenced banks’ capacity to finance private sector 
and somewhat ease the lending standards. Credit supply expansion was 
associated with economic agents’ increased credit demand, in line with the 
gradual recovery of Albania’s economic activity. Also, the measures taken in 
terms of macroeconomic and regulatory framework were aimed at promoting 
banks to increase the economy’s financing. Consequently, at the end of 2010, 
lending showed higher upward rates compared to the first half of the year. 

As a share of gross domestic product, credit to the private sector reached 
38.7% or 1.7 percentage points higher than a year earlier. Credit impulse� in 
economic growth, after hitting its historical low level in 2010 Q3, increased 
to 3.2% in Q4. However, it is still close to historical lows. In the first half of the 
year, lending to the private sector was affected by the dampened demand for 
monetary assets, in response to the developments in the country’s economic 
activity, as well as the banks’ prudence in financing the economy�. In 2010 
H2, the improved private sector demand for monetary assets, good liquidity 
conditions and banks’ capitalization level, decreased public sector demand 
for domestic financing, and eased lending standards have all contributed to 
faster credit growth rates. 

Private-sector loan portfolio showed moderate growth rates in 2010. It 
grew on average about 10% in annual nominal terms, significantly lower 
than the 20% annual growth in 2009. Loan portfolio is dominated by foreign-
currency loans, accounting for about 68%, mainly in euro. As such, the 

�   This indicator is measured as a ratio of net credit flows to annualized nominal GDP. 
�   During this period, the loan portfolio quality was deteriorated, driving to Banks’ cautious stance 

in fulfilling the private sector demand for loans.

Chart 11 Private sector loan portfolio 

Source: Bank of Albania
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exchange rate movements play an important role in the dynamics of nominal 
loan performance. Corrected for foreign exchange volatility, the 2010 loan 
portfolio highlights a gradually improved growth rate10 y-o-y, peaking over 
the last two months of the year to 9.7%, compared to 4.2% growth as at 
December 2009. 

Improved foreign-currency liquidity in the banking system, in response to 
channelling the foreign-currency inflows into the system, and more relaxed 
exchange-rate performance during 2010, stimulated the increase in foreign-
currency lending to the private sector. Also, lower cost of foreign-currency 
loans as compared to ALL loans, has pushed the demand for this loan up. This 
portfolio, after being contracted over the first quarter, has gradually showed 
positive growth rates, marking the highest annual growth in December, by 
7.8%. However, throughout the year, banks continued to be cautious in terms 
of foreign-currency household lending11. Annual ALL credit growth rates 
slowed during the year, to 15.6%12 on average, mainly reflecting the sustained 
growth of this portfolio in 2009 and the private sector’s lower preference for 
ALL loans. In the meantime, the decrease in government financing at year-end 
pushed the banks’ financing to the private sector higher in both the lek and 
foreign currency. 

 

10	 The following analysis of lending to the economy is corrected for the exchange rate 
movements. 

11	D ue to lack of generation of household foreign-currency income, implying lower natural 
protection of this group compared to businesses. 

12	D uring 2009, the ALL private-sector loan portfolio increased 30.6% on average. The maintaining 
of high ALL credit growth rates over this period reflected also the banks’ tendency to make ALL 
loans to their clients, in view of more pronounced difficulties in generating foreign-currency 
funds. 
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Box 5 Lending Problems in Albania

Notwithstanding the recovery of economic activity in the country during 2010, 
credit has continued to grow at low rates. This situation is in line with the theoretical 
framework of the correlation between credit and the real economy, according to 
which, following a slowdown or recession, credit growth follows the economic activity 
recovery with one lag. Also, over the past two years lending in Albania performed 
similarly to the experience of other countries of the South-East and Central Europe, 
but at more moderate levels. 

Initially, lending slowdown came as a result of tight credit supply. Difficulties in 
liquidity, particularly in foreign currency, with which banks were faced in late 2008 
and early 2009,made them to briskly share out the funds remaining for lending, 
tightening the household and business lending standards. The tightening of lending 
standards brought about naturally the decline in the demand for loans. Also, faced 
with tighter conditions of foreign financing and the consequences and uncertainties 
imported from external economic environment, the Albanian economy showed 
slowdown in 2009 H2, marking an annual contraction in 2009 Q4. The economic 
slowdown further contributed to reducing the demand for loans and the still low 
demand of the private sector for goods and services in 2010 led to a low demand 
for loans during this year as well. 

From a general viewpoint, lending in the country, along with monetary policy 
decisions to reduce the cost of money is also influenced by the supervisory and 
financial stability policies pursued by the supervisory authority and reflected in 
changing the regulations and infrastructure where the banking system operates. In 
this regard, the Bank of Albania has made a number of operational improvements 
in regulatory and supervisory framework and has created the necessary conditions, 
taking care to promote simultaneously lending to the economy and implement best 
practices in the lending process. 

Another significant impact on lending is also played by the individual banks’ long-
term strategies and policies. They may aim at strengthening the position of these 
banks in the financial market, and also providing services in the strategic sectors of 
the economy, served slightly or not served at all by other segments of the financial 
market. Regardless of the purpose, these policies condition the amount of bank 
loans sustaining certain sectors of the economy. 

Chart 12 Y-o-y private-sector credit growth and  GDP (left) and 
non-performing loans (right)

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania
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Lending in 2010 was influenced by both the demand and supply-side factors. On the 
supply-side, despite good position of liquidity and capitalization, banks continued to 
be cautious in terms of lending. Among the factors that conditioned this behaviour 
of banks are the economic situation in certain sectors of the economy, for example 
in construction, the economic activity of which contracted for several consecutive 
quarters, and the financial situation of their clients. Despite reduced  risk premiums 
in the Albanian economy during 2010, the effects of the slowdown of the economy 
persisted in bank balance sheets. The ratio of nonperforming loans, from an average 
of 4% in 2005-2008, has grown steadily over the last two years, reaching 14% at 
the end of 2010. Consequently, even though credit interest rates were downward, 
banks have remained cautious in assessing and financing high-risk clients, applying 
higher interest rates on those loans. 

The banks’ cautious stance is evident in the performance of loan standards, including, 
besides the loan interest rate, other conditions as well, such as collateral requirements 
to secure loans, type of collateral, loan instalment to income ratio, maximum loan 
maturity term, maximum loan amount and commissions charged for premature loan 

Chart 13 Lending standards to businesses (left) and to households (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania, quarterly credit survey
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Chart 14 Lending standards and demand 

Source: Bank of Albania, quarterly credit survey
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granting or closing. As also reported by banks in the lending surveys, in spite of 
the tendency to ease several conditions, such as raise the maximum loan maturity 
term and size, other important conditions, such as loan-guarantee collateral and 
commissions are still tight. Also, interest rates on certain types of loans or clients 
remain high.

Tight lending conditions have also contributed to discouraging a part of the demand 
for loans. However, beyond this factor, the demand for loans is also influenced by 
other factors directly related to the situation and perceptions of households and 
businesses. Thus, households continue to perceive uncertainty about the future, as 
indicated by their confidence indicators related to performance of the economy and 
the labour market. This is also reflected in the increasing propensity of individuals 
to save and a prudent approach relative to expenditures and their financing by 
means of loans. Against a low consumer demand for goods and services, productive 
capabilities of businesses are not fully utilized, thus conditioning the existence of 
spare production capacity in the economy. Under these conditions, businesses’ 
need for loans has also been low. 

Of the interaction of supply and demand factors in the 2010 loan performance, the 
demand-side effect has been more determining. With rapid recovery of the demand 
in the economy, the banking system is expected to provide a greater commitment 
to lending, in order to support its needs for financing. In this regard, the Bank of 
Albania has established appropriate monetary conditions and has provided the 
necessary operational infrastructure, so that the banking system carries out its 
financial intermediation function efficiently and soundly.
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In 2010, loans to businesses increased on average by 10.7% y-o-y. 
This loan is characterized by a steady increase of investment loan, which 
expanded its growth rates up to 16.2% in December 2010, compared to 
4% in the previous year. In the meantime, working capital loan has been 
volatile and experienced substantial growth only in certain periods, in line 
with the seasonality of economic activity at home. In average annual terms, 
the working capital loan slowed its growth rates to 10.1% compared with 
the average annual growth of 21% in 2009. Despite the existence of spare 
capacity in production, investment loan improvement is also confirmed by the 
credit survey, in which the business demand for this loan is rated high. This 
demand may signal the endeavours of businesses to alternate their economic 
activity or to expand and improve their current technology in accordance with 
new customer requirements. 

Lending by sectors of the economy shows an increase in financing businesses 
of the sector “trade, hotels and restaurants”, which accounts for about 38.8% 
of business loan portfolio, slightly higher than a year earlier (38.4%). This 
portfolio has grown on average by 11.2% y-o-y. Meanwhile, the sectors of 
construction and industry experienced more moderate annual growth rates, by 
5% and 7% respectively13. With the exception of the construction sector, these 
developments are also in line with these sectors’ contribution to the country’s 
economic growth in 2010. Agriculture, transport and telecommunication 
were the branches of the economy that demonstrated the highest y-o-y loan 
portfolio growth, influenced by specific projects in their sectors, or by the 
statistical effect of low lending base for these sectors.

 

13	H owever, compared to the previous year, the sectors’ share dropped to 23.5% and 19.9%, 
respectively. 

Chart 15 Business loan by purpose 

Source: Bank of Albania
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In 2010, household financing by banks was low and therefore the share of 
household loans to total loans decreased to 31%, compared with 33% in the 
previous year. Household outstanding loan contracted on average by -1.1% y-
o-y. Only at the end of the period, this portfolio was slightly higher than in the 
previous year, 1.2%. As a share of GDP, household loan accounted for 12.2% 
or 0.6 p.p. less than in 2009. This performance reflected the contraction of 
household demand for loans, due to uncertainties about income and housing 
market prospects, especially in the first half of the year. Meanwhile, during 
2010, banks stopped tightening household lending terms on both consumer 
and house purchase loans. In particular, over 2010 Q4, many banks offered 
preferential mortgage products. Notwithstanding the encouragement these 
offers conveyed to the market, the demand for them appeared moderate. 

At end-2010, home loan portfolio was up 1.6% from end-2009, whereas 
consumer loan was similar to loan outstanding at end-2009. Household 
portfolio is dominated by house purchase loans, accounting for about 80% 
of the total, and is mostly made in euro (67%). In the meantime, the share of 
consumer loan contracted in 2010, accounting for only 20% of the household 
loan portfolio at year-end. The major part of loan portfolio is dominated by 
ALL-denominated loans (80% of the portfolio).

Chart 16 Household loan portfolio 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Box 6. Results of the 2010 Bank Lending Survey

Results of the banks’ lending survey14 are used by the Bank of Albania to make a 
fast assessment of the credit demand and supply trend, as well as of main factors 
influencing them. Monitoring loan performance and recognising financing conditions 
at home contributes to monetary policy decision-making. The analysis of this survey 
outcome shows that the net percentage of banks that report easing of standards is 
positively correlated and precedes loan performance by three or four quarters, as 
measured by official statistics. This was noted particularly during the last financial 
crisis of late 2008 and early 2009, when the decline in lending growth rates was 
preceded by increased net percentage of banks that reported tightened lending 
standards and increased margins on performing loans and higher-risk ones15. 

Based on credit survey results, lending standards stopped tightening in 2010. 
Net percentage of banks having reported easing of approved credit standards 
was somewhat volatile in the first half of 2010, to mark only positive values in the 
second half. 

The level of business loan standard tightening has been falling, starting from 2008 
Q4, when the net percentage of banks that reported tightening had hit historical 
highs. The 2010 H2 highlighted slight tendency to ease the approved business loan 
standards. The business lending standards were eased equally for both investment 
loans and working capital ones. According to credit officers’ opinion, increased 
competitiveness is the main factor making banks ease the business loan standards. 
The 2010 Q4 highlighted the positive contribution of factors related to better liquidity 
position of banks as well. The banks’ easing policy was implemented mainly by 
increasing the approved loan size. As concerns the 2010 business credit demand, 
it is deemed that it somewhat recovered the 2009 decline. The improving trend of 
the demand was broken by its decline over Q3, to resume its upward trend over 
2010 Q4.

14	 Credit conditions survey is conducted quarterly with bank credit officers. 
15	 These results are supported by the analysis of correlation between survey data and official 

credit ones. Its conclusions are in compliance with the outcome on EU countries, according 
to the European Commission’s study of Credit Conditions Survey. 

Chart 17 Changes in applied standards and credit demand

Source: Lending Survey, Bank of Albania
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Household loan standards were tightened less, starting from 2009 Q1. They 
experienced evident easing in 2010 Q4. Given the determinants to this performance, 
banks deem that real estate market developments  contributed positively to standard 
easing over 2010 Q4. The banks’ easing policy is implemented mainly by narrowing 
the average loan margin, increasing the approved loan size and extending the 
maximum loan maturity term. As concerns the 2010 household credit demand, it is 
deemed that it  markedly recovered the 2009 decline. The increase in household 
credit demand, distributed in the quarters, was uneven. In the second quarter, the 
household credit demand fell, breaking the upward trend, to mark pronounced 
increase over the 2010 Q4.
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IV.2.	Financial market developments 

In 2010, stabilization of liquidity conditions and significantly improved financial 
position in the domestic economy was largely reflected in the performance of 
markets. The policy pursued by the monetary authority in view of promoting 
financial intermediation and sustaining the economic activity is reflected in 
all financial markets. Thus, the interbank market has highlighted a downward 
interest rate trend, increased volumes exchanged by participants and their 
steering towards the key interest rate. Setting a new operational objective, which 
targets the interest rates of this market, appears to have helped in this regard. 
Continuous reduction of primary market security yields and the narrowing of 
spreads between maturity terms is another indication of a more sustainable 
financial climate in the domestic market. After further easing of monetary 
conditions by the Bank of Albania at end-July, the primary market government 
security yield continued to decrease, contributing to government financing cost 
cut. The successful Eurobond issue in the international market helped mitigate 
the fiscal pressures on the domestic market and made new space in using funds 
by the banks and market agents, thus supporting the downward interest rate trend 
in the market. Deposit market highlighted a downward interest rate trend, under 
the conditions of increased public savings and their channelling into the banking 
system. In the meantime, the banks’ competition to maintain their market share 
is reflected in still slightly high margins compared to the key interest rate on lek 
deposits and European market interest rates on foreign-currency deposits. Loan 
interest rates have transmitted the aforementioned factors, being contained at 
year-start and then downward, mostly in long-term maturities. In general, more 
favourable interest rates are applied to real estate loans and investments in 
domestic currency. In the foreign exchange market, the 2010 nominal effective 
exchange rate dynamics continued to show a depreciating trend, however at 
significantly more decelerated rates than in 2009. The positive developments 
in the external sector of the economy, mainly during the first half of 2010, and 
prudent fiscal sector policies in terms of choosing the funding sources helped 
keep balances in the foreign exchange market.

•	 Interbank market
In 2010, the interbank market highlighted a slightly downward interest 

rate trend and increased volume traded among banks. Interest rates fell for 
both main maturity terms preferred by the banks, and also showed a more 
contained volatility than in 2009. The Bank of Albania continued to supply 
the market with liquidity through reverse repurchase auctions of 7-day, 1-
month and 3-month maturity terms. Liquidity provided through these auctions 
fell along the year and in spite of the changed auction form16, the interest 
rates demanded by the participating banks approached the key interest rate, 
without affecting the increase in the borrowing cost in the interbank market. 
The 0.25 percentage point interest rate cut at end-July by the Bank of Albania 
was rapidly reflected in interbank rates, where the interest rate demanded by 
banks in trading their funds fell further in the following periods. 
16  Since January, the Bank of Albania has changed the auction form into fixed amount and 

competitive interest rate, from fixed interest rate. 
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The Banks’ improved liquidity conditions helped 
create a positive climate for interest rates on both the 
daily and weekly transactions. Announcement of the 
Bank of Albania’s new operational objective17 at end-
June, which targets the interbank rate, appears to have 
triggered further development of this market, in terms 
of increasing the volume and maturity term. Thus, in 
2010 H2, transactions of one-month and three-month 
maturity term were effected, while interest rates were 
steady and fluctuated around the key interest rate. The 
spread between the overnight and weekly interest rate 
and the key one, decreased compared to 2010 H2, 
and 200918. The monthly analysis on the money market 
indicates that interest rate swings are concentrated in 
certain periods, such as during the last days of required 
reserve fulfilment, related mainly to supply/demand 
factors from individual banks with non-optimal liquidity 

management. Overnight and weekly interest rates averaged 4.93% and 5.14%, or 
0.24 and 0.47 percentage points less than in the previous year.

In average terms, the total volume traded on the money market increased 
significantly in 2010, mainly influenced by the positive contribution of one-
week transactions. The banks’ preference shifted toward this maturity term, 
accounting for the major share to the total traded volume, and attesting 
to boosted confidence in the market. High values of funds traded among 
the banks were recorded most of the year, excluding the second quarter. In 
average annual terms, the total borrowing in the interbank market reached 
ALL 3.3 billion in 2010, significantly higher from ALL 1.8 billion in 2009. 

17	 Should you need further information, please refer to box 7 “Change to the Bank of Albania’s 
Operational Objective”.

18	 The absolute spread between the overnight and weekly interbank rate, and the key rate was 
20 and 8 basis points, respectively, for the 2010 H2, from 35 and 8 basis points for the 2010 
H1 and 53 and 10 basis points for 2009. 

Chart 18 Liquidity provided by the Bank of 
Albania and overnight interbank rates 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Box 7. Change to Bank of Albania’s operational framework 

In June 2010, the Bank of Albania changed its operational framework by setting as its 
operational objective the steering of the short-term interbank rates towards the central 
banks’ key interest rate, keeping their fluctuations under check. The operational 
objectives play an important role in policy compilation and implementation. 
They connect the monetary authority’s interventions in the money market and the 
intermediate target of monetary policy, thus serving as a starting point of monetary 
policy transmission mechanism. The Bank of Albania’s experience, albeit successful, 
has shown that focusing on quantitative control of net domestic assets and net foreign 
assets can bring about large volatility in the interbank markets and it does not allow 
proper flexibility to weather contingent situations. 

In response to the need for a more flexible and efficient operational framework, in 
view of enhancing the monetary policy effectiveness and transparency, the Bank of 
Albania decided to change its operational objective. Targeting the interbank rates 
seems an option that finds ample theoretical support, 
whose application has proved successful in a number 
of advanced and emerging economies. It serves better 
to keeping the short-term horizon of interest rates’ curve 
under check, making the conduct of monetary policy 
more transparent and providing clearer signs of monetary 
policy stance. This operational framework, inter alia, 
allows for more flexibility in handling short and long term 
shocks on the economy or the banking system. To have 
a clearer picture of the effects and the impact that this 
change has made on the domestic interbank market, we 
are focused on measuring and analysing the volatility of 
the interbank rate versus the key interest rate. The period 
under analysis covers the last four quarters aggregated 
into two 6-month periods. Another indicator is the level 
of standard deviation of these rates in certain periods, 
under the logic that an announced and transparent 
objective, which puts focus on interbank rates, will be 
a driving factor for banks to enhance the functioning of 
interbank market activity. 

The time interval taken as reference for the “old” operational objective starts in 
January, when the repo auctions retook their competitive limited-amount form, and 
is closed at end-June, when the operational target was changed. In the meantime, 
the next period includes the months after the change, when the potential effects of 
new operational objective can be highlighted. 

The interbank rate spreads during both periods recorded different values ​​for both 
maturities. Thus, during the fourth quarter, the overnight rates reduced their absolute 
spread versus the key interest rate to 19 from 21 basis points, while the weekly ones 
are down by 1 unit, to 7 basis points. This spread has followed the diminishing trend 
even relative to the preceding quarters this year. Standard deviation highlights that 
in the fourth quarter these values ​​were lower for both maturities, respectively from 
0.34 to 0.24 on fortnight ones, and from 0.29 to 0.06 on the weekly ones. 

In general, the decreased spread between the overnight and the weekly rates, and the 
key interest rate supports the initial idea of reduced volatility against the key interest 
rate and interbank market stabilization. The Banks’ improved liquidity conditions, 
against the backdrop of a satisfactory funding from deposits, as well as the creation 
of free spaces on the banks’ assets thanks to lowered government demand for T-bills 

Chart 20 Interbank market volatility during 
both observed periods

Source: Bank of Albania
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and bonds are other factors of influence. They have all contributed to achieving a 
more sustainable activity of banks in the interbank market over the course of this 
quarter. Thus, the overnight interbank rate remained below the key interest rate 
and it exceeded it only during certain days. The analysis of monthly developments 
in the interbank market highlights a diminished volatility, being reflected in the 
standard deviation values, confirming also the periodic overnight rates volatility, 
mainly during the days of required reserve fulfilment. Liquidity management at the 
limits of efficiency by the banks make this time period of the month more exposed 
to overnight rate volatility. One-week transaction rates reflected a more moderate 
volatility and minimum spread from the key interest rate. 
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•	 Primary market 
Primary market security yields had a downward trend throughout 2010. Their 

reduction has started since the past year’s last months, to continue with higher 
intensity this year. The yield level over the course of this period decreased 
evidently, even below the pre-crisis values. Stabilized liquidity condition in the 
banking system, decreased risk premium, and reduced government demand 
for T-bills appear to have influenced the reduction of their yields demanded for 
these instruments. Downward T-bill yields were marked for all maturity terms, 
being more pronounced for the 12-month T-bills and bonds parameterized 
with it. The 12-month T-bill yield marked continuous reduction over the course 
of this period. In the meantime, the key interest rate cut by 0.25 percentage 
points at end-July contributed to downward trend of all yields asked over the 
following periods. As at end-December, the 12-month T-bill yield asked was 
6.91%, or down by 2.15 percentage points on a year earlier. 

At end-June, the government issued a 9-month euro-denominated T-bill, in 
which, it is worth mentioning that the banks’ bid and participation was in line 
with the factors highlighted until that moment as concerns the primary market. 
In the meantime, the demanded yield resulted 6.06% or 1.75% less than the 
euro-denominated loan interest rate for the same maturity term. 

During this period, the securities of a smaller maturity term followed the 
same trend. The 3 - and 6 - month T-bill yields were cut by an average of 0.53 
and 0.60 percentage points (y-o-y). Auctions’ participation was high and the 
ratio of participants’ bid to the amounts asked has always exceeded 1.019, thus 
becoming another supporting factor for reduction of premiums demanded by 
the banks. The yield curve picture shows clearly these developments, where 
its level dropped obviously and the narrowing of spreads between maturities 
brought about mitigated slope, mainly in the short-term segment but also in 
its last section. 

19   On average 1.23 for T-bill auctions in 2010.

Chart 21 Government security yields (left) and yield curve (right)

Source: Bank of Albania
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The primary bond market performed similarly to the T-bill one. Bond yields 
recorded consecutive cuts throughout the period, following the performance 
of 12-month T-bill yields. The improved financial conditions in the market 
and high competition for these instruments fostered the descending pressures, 
thus being a supportive factor to the downward yield trend. The reduction of 
the demanded premiums was high and contributed to lowering the overall 
government financing costs. The 2-year bond yield marked 7.65% at the end 
of this year, down by 1.65 percentage points from the previous year. 

Similarly to T-bills, the bond yield cut was in place for all maturity terms. So, 
the yield of 3 - and 5 - year bonds decreased by 0.30 and 1.38 percentage 
points, respectively, while their level as at December 2010 was down to 
9.19 and 8.48%. It is worth noting that the variable-rate bond yield cut was 
affected by the performance of instruments it is parameterized with, as well as 
by the reduced accepted margin, which followed a downward trend during 
this period. Thus, over the last months of 2010, the demanded yield on 5-
year variable-rate bonds was 8.48%, lower than the 3-year fixed-rate bond 
yield (9.19%). At the end of October, a Eurobond was issued in international 
markets, yielding 7.62%. The result of this issue may be regarded as positive, 
since it may reduce the government demand for domestic financing and might 
have exerted downward pressures on yields.

•	 INTEREST RATES on new deposits
The year 2010 was characterized by falling interest rates on both the lek 

and the euro deposits. The key interest rate cut for the lek by 0.25 percentage 
points in July, was followed by decline in the weighted average interest rate 
on new ALL deposits, which performed in line with the monetary policy signals. 
Euro deposit rates were also downward. Even so, competition among banks 
to maintain their market share is still high, pushing banks to keep margins at 

Chart 22 Bond yields (left) and bid-to-cover ratio (right)

Source: Bank of Albania
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relatively high levels as compared to the key interest rates and the European 
market interest rates20. 

In average terms, the lek deposit interest rate registered 5.19% in 2010, 
down 0.27 percentage points from 2009. The average lek deposit interest 
rate fell in the first months of the year, from 5.66% in January to 5.29% in 
February, due to completion of end-2009 promotional offers and improved 
liquidity conditions. During summer, this indicator increased, reaching the 
highest level, 5.47% in August, affected by the seasonal offers. In addition, 
following the increase of deposits in the system, interest rates underwent 
consecutive cuts until December (5.09%). By maturity terms, it is observed that 
12-month deposits decreased on average 0.35 per cent compared to 2009.

Interest rates on euro time deposits followed a downward trend even in 
2010. Significant interest rate cuts were registered on all maturity terms, 
particularly on 12-month ones (-0.74 pp). The euro deposit interest rate 
registered on average 2.24% in 2010, or down 0.24 percentage points from 
the 2009’s average. This value is still relatively high relative to the ECB’s 
key interest rate, which settled at 1.0% throughout 2010. These rates are 
subject to liquidity conditions and orientation of individual policies towards 
foreign-currency deposits by the banks of the system. The latter continue to 
use the deposit interest rates (cost of funds) as reference rate for euro loans, 
a tendency that has started since end-2008 and has persisted during the 
last 2 years. Even though interest rates were cut constantly, they increased in 
January and August, periods that coincide with the banks’ seasonal offers.

The relatively faster decrease in euro deposit interest rates relative to the lek 

20	 Also, it should be stressed that the spread between interest rate on euro deposits in the country 
and foreign interest rates has narrowed, upon rise in interest rates in Europe. 

Chart 23 The 12-month lek deposit interest rates and the 12-month 
lek-euro interest rate spread

Source: Bank of Albania
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ones made the ALL and euro deposit interest rates spread21 maintain slightly 
higher values ​​throughout 2010. In average terms, this indicator accounted for 
2.80 percentage points in 2010, from 2.41 percentage points in 2009.

•	ne w loan interest rates 
Year 2010 was characterized by downward trend of average interest 

rates on lek and euro loans. As a consequence of perceived uncertainty in 
2009, banks reacted more slowly by easing the conditions over 2010 H1. In 
2010 H2, after significantly improved liquidity condition, decreased primary 
market interest rates and Bank of Albania’s signals to reduce ALL lending 
costs, interest rates recorded consecutive decline for both major currencies. 
These are accompanied by supply diversification and preferential terms and 
conditions for particular clients in several banks of the system. 

During 2010, the lek loan interest rate22 registered 12.59%, from 13.59% 
in the previous year. The decline reflected the interest rate cut is indexed 
with - 12-month T-bills, whose yield fell on average by 1.15 percentage 
points over this period. The new loan is mostly extended for short-term 0-
1 year financing (overdrafts/working capital for businesses). However, more 
favourable interest rates were applied on long-term loans compared to short-
term ones, promoting real estate lek-denominated loans. During 2010 H1, 
the banks were more conservative and lek-denominated interest rates followed 
the high margins of 2009 H2. Later on, at the beginning of summer, interest 
rates started to fall significantly, affected also by special promotional policies 
pursued by the banking system as a result of short-term corporate demand. 
The average interest rate cut continued till end-2010, marking historic lows in 
December (11.84%). These developments reflected the ongoing assessment 
of the banking system for financing in our national currency, in response to a 

21	 Estimated as the difference between weighted average interest rates on 12-month euro and 
lek deposits. 

22	 The weighted average interest rate on new loans.

Chart 24 Weighted average interest rate on ALL loans (left) and on EUR 
loans (right)

Source: Bank of Albania

1.0

3.0

5.0

7.0

9.0

D
ecem

ber 05

D
ecem

ber-06

D
ecem

ber-07

D
ecem

ber-08

D
ecem

ber-09

D
ecem

ber-10

weighted interest for euro loans; 
3m moving average
Euro Libor
12m euro interest rates

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

D
ecem

ber-04

D
ecem

ber 05

D
ecem

ber-06

D
ecem

ber-07

D
ecem

ber-08

D
ecem

ber-09

D
ecem

ber-10

weighted interest for lek loans
T-bill 12m
Adjusted average interest; 
6m moving average



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

90 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 91

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

90 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 91

fairer perception of foreign-currency lending risk.

Overall, euro-denominated lending was cheaper in 2010 compared to 
2009, although the weighted average interest rate was characterized by 
seasonal volatility. The weighted average interest rate on euro loans was 
7.47% in 2010, compared to 7.89% in 2009. Meanwhile, the Euribor rate 
in international markets fell only 0.19 percentage points during this period. 
The perception of improved macroeconomic situation at home and ongoing 
monitoring of euro-denominated lending are reflected in lower bank margins. 
On average, during 2010, falling interest rates were registered for all maturity 
terms. The decreased loan price is evident in short-term overdrafts, mainly 
reflecting banks’ preferential terms for their clients, in response to the seasonal 
corporate demand for liquidity. Meanwhile, interest rates on long-term euro 
loans remained unchanged on average, counting the uncertainties about 
exchange rate developments in the periods ahead.

Intermediation cost declined over 2010, in both, the lek and euro. The one 

in lek averaged 7.40 percentage points, from 8.13 percentage points in the 
previous year. The one in euro averaged 5.23 percentage points, down 0.18 
percentage points from the previous year. Its decline in the national currency 
was mainly due to average loan interest rate cut, whereas its slow decline 
in the euro was due to convergence of interest rates for both deposits and 
loans. 

With the eased lending standards in both currencies, the interest rate spread 
between ALL and EUR loans was down to 5.1 percentage points on average 
in 2010, from 5.7 percentage points in 2009.

Chart 25 ALL and EUR intermediation margins (left) and the weighted 
average interest rate spread between ALL and EUR loans (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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•	 Exchange rate 
The dynamics of nominal effective exchange rate in 2010, continued to 

present depreciating trend, but at considerably marginal rates relative to 2009. 
The annual changes to the NEER index reflected the diminished depreciating 
trend, reaching as at 2010 Q4, similar levels to those of 2008 Q4, when for 
the first time the domestic foreign exchange market experienced depreciating 
pressures from the global financial crisis impact. From the macroeconomic 
perspective, the relative exchange rate stability in 2010 appears to have 
reflected the re-dimensioning process of key determinants, providing grounds 
to transit to a new equilibrium. 

Chart 26 The lek’s annual change in nominal effective terms (NEER*) (left) 
and the EMP index (right)

*NEER – nominal effective exchange rate, measured relative to both major currencies, according to an 
approximate weight they have when traded abroad, EUR (80 %) and USD (20 %). A rise in the NEER 

implies the lek’s appreciation.
Source: Bank of Albania
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Box 8. Exchange Market Pressure (EMP)

Central banks use a number of indicators, which enable the identification of 
pressures generated from the demand-supply imbalances in the exchange market. 
The Exchange Market Pressure Index (EMP) is mentioned as one of the most useful 
indicators in identifying such pressures. The composite EMP index reflects combined 
changes of the exchange rate, foreign reserve and interest rate spread and is 
generated by the following formulae: 

 
 
 
where:

•	  the annual exchange rate change (NEER);
•	  expresses the y-o-y change of foreign reserve denominated in USD million 

(at a fixed exchange rate);
•	  represents the interest rate spread in t period and is estimated as the 

deviation of the weighted average rate of ALL deposits from an index which 
combines the interest rates on EUR and USD deposits, weighted by their share 
to total deposits of the commercial banks’ balance sheets. An increase in the 
index represents higher pressures, and vice-versa, in the foreign exchange 
market. 

In this context, the exchange market pressures are absorbed by 1) depreciation or 
appreciation of the nominal exchange rate; 2) decrease or increase in international 
reserve -ΔRt, under the assumption that the monetary authority tries to mitigate 
depreciating or appreciating pressures on the exchange rate. Thus, the monetary 
authority intervenes in the foreign exchange market by selling or purchasing foreign 
currency in case there is foreign currency demand/supply in the market; 3) easing/
tightening monetary policy, which expands/reduces the interest rate spread, which 
encourages/discourages capital inflows (under the assumption that capital mobility 
conditions are ideal), hence reducing/increasing the EMP. 
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More specifically, the external sector’s positive developments, mainly during 
the first half of 2010, and the fiscal sector’s more prudential policies in terms 
of choosing the financial resources helped generate contained pressures in 
the foreign exchange market. The above-mentioned developments appear to 
be confirmed also by the exchange market pressure index (EMP), which after 
an accelerated increase in 2009, is presented as relatively stable in 2010. 
In 2010, the performance of individual major currencies of the basket in the 
domestic foreign-exchange market highlighted a more moderate depreciation 
of the lek vs. the dollar and euro. In more details, the average depreciation 
of the lek vs. the U.S. dollar was 9.33% in 2010, from 13.21% in 2009, 
whereas vs. the euro it was 4.33% in 2010, from 7.56% in 2009. 

The USD/ALL ratio in 2010 was in line with the performance of USD/EUR in 
the international markets. Thus, the problems generated from the difficulties in 
terms of the sovereign debt of some euro-area countries appear to have been 
the main factor favouring the green currency exchange during 2010. However, 
the non-positive results of several indicators in the U.S. economy and market 
agents’ expectations for continuation of easing quantitative policies appear 
to have contributed to temporary weakening of the U.S. dollar’s positions in 
2010 Q3. Against this backdrop, the agents’ high uncertainty in international 
markets is reflected in the USD/ALL exchange rate volatility, which is slightly 
higher than in 2009, but always below the well-known level of 2008. 

On the other hand, the performance of the lek vs. the euro is characterized 
by a gradually diminishing seasonal volatility, which was materialized in a 
relatively stable ratio relative to the previous year. It seems that the ever cautious 
approach of market agents against the temporary demand and supply effects, 
contributed to minimizing the shocks driven by psychological factors, which 
had a significant impact during 2009. Under these conditions, the EUR/ALL 
ratio volatility appears to have dropped significantly during 201023. 

23   The volatility is measured as an annual average standard deviation. It was 0.38 in 2010, 
from 0.91 in 2009. 

Chart 27 Daily EUR/ALL and USD/ALL exchange rate (left) and monthly 
EUR/ALL ratio in the years 2008-2010 (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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From the regional perspective, the developments of the ALL/EUR ratio 
appeared stable during 2010, while in marginal terms, the lek reflects a 
significantly better dynamics than many currencies of the countries in the region. 
The external sector’s positive developments and the fiscal measures taken in 
view of fiscal consolidation significantly favoured the EUR/ALL performance 
in 2010. The performance of the Serbian dinar is an important exception 
from the above-mentioned developments, reflecting a relatively pronounced 
depreciating trend this year, thus highlighting pronounced problems in the 
balance of payments. The Romanian and Hungarian currencies reflected 
depreciating trends, but at considerably more contained rates than the dinar, 
as a consequence of problems in the fiscal sector.

Chart 28 Annual volatility of the USD/ ALL ratio (left) and the EUR/ALL 
(right)

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 29 EUR/ALL exchange rate volatility* relative to currencies of the 
Central East Europe and the Balkan (index base – October 2008)

*The exchange rate volatility is measured as a 30-day standard deviation. The climax points of volatility 
over each period represent the maximum and minimum standard deviations registered by the included 

ratios. The included countries are: Poland, Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania, Turkey and Serbia.
Source: Respective central banks and the Bank of Albania
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Chapter V Monetary policy instruments and 
Foreign reserve management

Chart 1 Open market operations and use of 
standing facilities*

*The negative values in the chart show liquidity-absorbing 
operations, whereas the positive ones show the liquidity-providing 

operations.
Source: Bank of Albania

-42.00
-37.00
-32.00
-27.00
-22.00
-17.00
-12.00
-7.00
-2.00
3.00
8.00
13.00
18.00
23.00
28.00
33.00
38.00

15
/0

1/
10

04
/0

2/
10

24
/0

2/
10

16
/0

3/
10

05
/0

4/
10

25
/0

4/
10

15
/0

5/
10

04
/0

6/
10

24
/0

6/
10

14
/0

7/
10

03
/0

8/
10

23
/0

8/
10

12
/0

9/
10

02
/1

0/
10

22
/1

0/
10

11
/1

1/
10

01
/1

2/
10

21
/1

2/
10

-42
-37
-32
-27
-22
-17
-12
-7
-2
3
8
13
18
23
28
33
38

overnight deposit

1-week reverse repo

1-month reverse repo

3-month reverse repo
permanent operations

overnight credit

weekly average liquidity

V.1.	Monetary policy instruments

The boosted public confidence in the banking system during 2010 was 
reflected in the improved liquidity conditions of banks. This improvement was 
associated with removal of some specific measures taken by the Bank of 
Albania during 2008-2009. In early 2010, according to the announcement 
made in October 2009, the Bank shifted to liquidity-providing operations 
through (announced amount) variable-price auction. In June 2010, the Bank 
of Albania’s partners in its open market operations were notified in advance 
of restoring the symmetrical corridor in early 2011. Prior notification of these 
changes and their implementation according to the schedule, without causing 
uncertainty, is a very important moment in boosting the confidence in the 
banking system through the implementation of Bank of Albania’s monetary 
policy operations. 

Changing the Bank of Albania’s operational 
target from targeting the quantitative monetary 
aggregates to short-term interbank rates was also 
reflected in the targets of money market operations, 
hence orienting short-term interbank rates towards 
the key policy rate. 

During 2010, the amount of short-term liquidity 
injected by the Bank of Albania peaked by about 
ALL 31 billion in summer, falling gradually to about 
ALL 4 billion at year-end. This is the lowest level 
registered over the last two years. The number of 
banks having used temporary instruments equalled 
that of the past year. This is a sign of increased 
importance of these operations and signals further 
enhancement of their effectiveness in the future.

 

V.1.1. Open market operations

Open market operations�, which consist of the main operations, fine-tuning 
operations, and structural ones, are core operations for liquidity management 

�	O pen market operations represent the buying and selling of securities by the Bank of Albania. 
The main open market operation is carried out through (reverse) repurchase agreement of 
a 7-day maturity term and is Bank of Albania’s main instrument for implementing monetary 
policy. Fine-tuning operations of the open market are carried out through (reverse) repurchase 
agreement of a 1-day, 1-month and 3-month maturity term. Structural operations of the open 
market are outright security purchases. 
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Chart 2 Main open market operation by 
auction dates (in ALL billion)

Source: Bank of Albania
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by central banks. The banks’ improved liquidity conditions in 2010 and 
mainly in 2010 H2, reduced somewhat the need for fine-tuning liquidity 
injection compared with a year earlier. Liquidity provision structure averaged 
58% through the main instrument and 42% through fine-tuning instruments of 
longer than one-week maturity term. A year earlier, it averaged 55% through 
the main instrument and 45% through long-term operations. 

•	Main  open market operation 
During 2010, reverse repurchase agreement of one-week maturity term 

was the main instrument of open market operations. Intervening by using this 
operation was conducted mainly through fixed-amount variable-price auction, 
except two cases in early 2010 when fixed-price auction was used. Using 
fixed-price auction is an outcome of measures taken to mitigate the banks’ 
tension in 2009. Considering that market conditions turned to normality, it 
was decided to restore the classic form of the main open market operation 
– variable-price auction. 

The liquidity injected through reverse repurchase 
agreements of one-week maturity term averaged 
ALL 14.76 billion a week. The number of banks 
participating in weekly auctions averaged 6, similar 
to 2009’s average. 

The steady participation by 6 banks on average 
in 2010 reflects a positive sign of the banks’ 
increased activation in terms of central bank liquidity 
intermediation in the economy. Liquidity distribution 
in the system by banks having a contract with the 
central bank influenced the non-participation in 
weekly auctions by other banks having sporadic 
need for liquidity. Although this situation reflects 
improved liquidity distribution in the banking system 
through the interbank market, this distribution is 
frequently driven by market circumstances and is 

not yet considered another active position of banks for trading liquidity in the 
interbank market. 

•	 Fine-tuning operations
During 2010, fine-tuning operations for injecting liquidity of a longer-than-

one week maturity term were used mainly in response to decreased liquidity 
in the banking system over seasonal periods, when the demand for liquidity 
goes up, such as in summer and end-year periods. During 2010, the fine-
tuning operations of one-month maturity term were used more frequently than 
a year earlier, whereas three-month liquidity-injecting operations were used 
less. This operational tactic was pursued in response to improved liquidity 
conditions in the banking system, which mitigated liquidity pressures in the 
long term.
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In 2010, reverse repurchase agreements of one-month maturity term were 
used 15 times, injecting roughly ALL 2.9 billion, from 8 times in the previous 
year. Reverse repurchase agreements of three-month maturity term were used 
9 times, injecting roughly ALL 3.2 billion, from 16 times in the previous year. 
The reverse repurchase agreements of three-month maturity term were used 
mainly in summer. 

The bid-to-cover ratio of monthly auctions averaged 130%�, whereas that 
of quarterly auctions averaged 131%, being higher than a year earlier. The 
number of banks participating in the auction averaged 4 banks per auction, 
likewise in the previous year. These instruments are mainly used by big banks 
of the system, which are more predisposed to money market share. 

The spread between the quarterly interest rate and the key interest rate 
ranged from 24 to 43 basis points, whereas the one between one-month 
interest rate and the key interest rate ranged from 5 to 33 basis points. The 
average interest rate spread for quarterly liquidity injection was down by 13 
points compared to the previous year, to 30 b.p. on average. Related to 
monthly interest rate, this indicator was up by 8 b.p, to 18 b.p. on average. 
This expansion is due to more frequent use of monthly liquidity-providing 
instrument than the quarterly one, compared to a year earlier. 

Besides one-month and three-month maturity fine-tuning instrument, the 
overnight reverse repurchase agreement was used solely once, at ALL 4.3 
billion. This operation was intended to manage the liquidity condition and 
short-term interest rates at the end of the required reserve maintenance period 
in July.

�	 In this case, cover is the amount asked by the Bank of Albania in the reverse repurchase 
agreement auction, whereas bid corresponds to the banks’ request to participate in these 
auctions. 

Chart 3 Fine-tuning operations by auction dates (in ALL billions)

Source: Bank of Albania
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•	 Structural operations
During 2010, structural operations - outright purchases/sales of T-bills - 

were not applied.

V.1.2. Standing facilities 

Standing facilities - overnight deposit and overnight loan - are instruments 
available to commercial banks to manage unexpected amount of liquidity on 
a daily basis. However, the Bank of Albania has the right to suspend the use 
of these instruments, when necessary. 

After 2009 Q1, when the Bank of Albania had temporarily suspended 
the use of the overnight deposit because of non-smooth functioning of 
the interbank market, the following months were characterized by a better 
liquidity management by commercial banks, which concentrated the use of 
overnight deposits mainly in the last days of the required reserve maintenance 
period. The 2010 overnight deposit averaged ALL 0.47 billion per day, being 
lower than in the previous year, especially over the period prior to temporary 
suspension of this instrument. 

Overnight loan was used frequently during 2010, albeit at a lower average 
than in 2009. Specifically, in 2010, it was used 35 times, averaging ALL 0.68 
billion, compared to 10 times in the previous year, averaging ALL 1,241 billion. 
Likewise in overnight deposits, the cases of liquidity-providing instrument were 
concentrated at the end of the required reserve maintenance period. 

V.1.2. Additional liquidity providing instruments 

Lombard loan is the last lending instrument of the Bank of Albania used 
to help banks overcome temporary liquidity shortages, provided they are 

financially sound. Likewise in latest years, this 
instrument was not used at all in 2010. 

V.1.3. Required resereve

ALL required reserve is a monetary policy 
instrument aimed at adjusting the banking system 
liquidity and stabilizing the interest rates. The Bank 
of Albania applies the required reserve even for 
foreign-currency deposits. The required reserve 
ratio is 10% of commercial banks’ deposits of up to 
2 years, in the three currencies - ALL, EUR, USD. Its 
performance during 2010 reflected that of deposits 
by respective currencies with a one-month lag, since 
the required reserve maintenance period starts on 

Chart 4 Required reserve (in ALL billion)*

*Foreign required reserve components are converted according to 
respective fixed exchange rate announced by the Bank of Albania 

on the last day of 2010.
Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 5 Required reserve remuneration rates 

Source: Bank of Albania
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the 24th calendar day of each month and corresponds to deposit position of 
the preceding calendar month. 

The required reserve ratio reflected the effect of ongoing deposit growth 
throughout 2010 both in ALL and in EUR. The annual growth of the required 
reserve in ALL was 10.47%, of the one in EUR was 34.19% and of the one in 
USD was negative by 7.76%. 

In 2010, the average share of the required 
reserve component in ALL was 53.0%, while in EUR 
was 39.0% and in USD was 8.0%. 

During 2010, the ALL required reserve averaging, 
by using 40% of the required reserve, reflects a 
significant improvement compared to 2009. The 
deviation of the account position from required 
reserve ratio at the end of the maintenance period 
decreased, from a positive average of ALL 0.40 
billion in 2009, to a positive average of ALL 0.21 
billion. In optimal conditions, the deviation should 
be positive, close to zero. It should be emphasized 
that compared to the previous years, thanks to the 
Bank of Albania’s continued contacts with the banks 
of the system, their commitment is higher as to 
good management of liquidity through the required 
reserve instrument. 

The required reserve remuneration rates performed in line with the interest 
rates they derive from�. Specifically, the ALL required reserve remuneration 
reflected the Bank of Albania’s key interest rate cut, which at end-July 2010 
was lowered by 0.25 percentage points to 5.00%. 

Foreign required reserve remuneration is based on key policy rates of 
respective central banks - the European Central Bank and the Federal Reserve 
of the USA – which did not change their key policy rates in 2010. 

V.2.	Foreign reserve management

V.2.1. Required reserve in 2010

During 2010, gross foreign reserve, estimated and reported in euro, 
increased by about 262 million, registering EUR 1,904.90 million as at end-
December. 

The key factors impacting on the gross reserve are presented in the 
following: 

�   The required reserve remuneration rates are 70% of the reference rates for each currency. 
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A.	T ransactions with the Ministry of Finance, related to its accounts at the 
Bank of Albania, provided a positive impact, estimated at EUR 131.29 
million, according to the following items: 

•	P rivatization and other receipts, EUR 100.31 million; 
•	 Receipts from security issue, EUR 321.91 million; 
•	 Receipts from loans extended by the International Development Agency 

(IDA), etc.., EUR 108.74 million; 
•	T ransfer, EUR 399.67 million.

During 2010, swaps were carried out with the Ministry of Finance. Effects 
generated at the time of entering into swaps and upon their maturity term 
were reflected in foreign currency selling/purchasing transactions. 

B.	 Commercial banks’ transactions provided a positive impact, estimated 
at EUR 46.21 million, according to the following items: 

•	 Commercial banks’ depositing at the Bank of Albania to fulfil the 
required reserve and other transactions related to their capital, at EUR 
117.93 million;

•	T ransfers, at EUR 71.72 million. 

C. 	 Bank of Albania’s transactions provided a positive impact, estimated 
at EUR 0.87 million, according to the following items: 

•	 Buying foreign currency, at EUR 63.60 million, from;

o 	 the Ministry of Finance, at EUR 47.12 million; 
o 	 commercial banks, at EUR 14.00 million; 
o 	 other institutions, at EUR 2.48 million 

•	 Receipts ensured from foreign reserve investment, are estimated 
at about EUR 33.24 million. These receipts represent the bulk of 
payments in the form of security coupons, in which the foreign reserve 
is invested. The portfolio re-valuation effect, as a result of interest rate 
volatility, is estimated at a negative value of EUR 7.22 million; 

•	S ettlement of Bank of Albania’s due to the IMF is estimated at EUR 
9.46 million;

•	E xternal debt payments for the Albanian government are estimated at 
EUR 28.37 million; 

•	S elling of foreign currency to the Ministry of Finance is estimated at 
EUR 47.05 million;

•	T ransfers, at about EUR 3.87 million.

During 2010, the foreign exchange rate volatility of currencies composing 
the foreign reserve positively influenced the gross reserve value, registering an 
effect of about EUR83.65 million.
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V.2.2. Foreign reserve management, other aspects

The assistance program of the World Bank for reserve management purposes 
switched to a new phase, upon approval of an unspecified-term agreement at 
the beginning of September 2010. The objectives of the new agreement aim at 
consolidating the knowledge gained by the Monetary Operations Department 
in the recent years, keeping in touch with new developments in portfolio 
management and risks arising during the investment process. Also, the World 
Bank, to a less extent, will continue to provide technical assistance for projects 
to be undertaken by the Bank of Albania on reserve management. 

During 2010, the World Bank provided assistance in the legal area, as well 
as in using new money market instruments during the portfolio investment. 
Using forward contract instrument on the exchange rate associated with 
investment in a money market instrument (deposit, security) was a new 
alternative for investing the foreign reserve in the short term. Another very 
important aspect of assistance was even the establishment of the function of 
operational risk management for reserve management purposes, as well as 
improvement of the internal audit function. Following the latest assistance, 
the Monetary Operations Department, in cooperation with several other 
departments of the Bank of Albania, started a process for establishing and 
consolidating the operational risk management function during the foreign 
reserve management process. The experience gained during this process can 
be extended to other processes taking place at the Bank of Albania in the 
near future. 

Reviewing the Regulation “On foreign reserve policy and management” and 
adopting the new Regulation “On gold policy and management” represent 
the main 2010 highlights in terms of regulatory franework completion and 
improvement. Main amendments to the first Regulation relate primarly to 
defining a differentiated degree of credit risk acceptance for governments, 
which carry less default in debt repayment, compared to other institutions 
allowed to invest foreign exchange reserves, and further on they relate to 
some amendments that explicitly state the possibilities of foreign reserve 
investment, providing at the same time more flexibility in determining the 
instruments allowed for investment. The second Regulation is an addition to 
the present regulatory base and establishes a formal framework for carrying 
out the monetary gold management process at the Bank of Albania. 
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“Stamping banknotes appeared after the WWII, following the proclamation of the Albanian Democratic 
Government, when first signs of inflation appeared and deterioration of banknotes was evident. This situation 
was due to the impossibility to print a new banknote to replace the Italian issue already in circulation. While 
waiting for the situation to normalize, the rendered solution was to mark the banknotes in circulation with 
a square stamp 52x34 mm, reading Banka e Shtetit Shqiptar (Bank of the Albanian State) with the double-
headed eagle in the centre and three waving feathers on its left. side.”
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Chapter VI BANKING SUPERVISION

Chart 1 Shares of peer bank groups* 
according to total of assets

*Size of activity is the criteria used for dividing the banks into peer groups: 
G1 is the group of small banks (the share of assets of each bank in this 

peer group is below 2% of the total system assets); G2 is the group of 
medium banks (the share of assets of each bank in this peer group ranges 

2% - 7% of the total system assets); and G3 is the group of large banks (the 
share of assets of each bank in this peer group is above 7% of the total 

system assets).
Source: Bank of Albania
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VI.1. BANKING SYSTEM AND NON-
BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

VI.1.1. Banking system assets and 
financial intermediation 

The banking system remains the main financial 
intermediary in Albania. At end-2010, its assets 
accounted for about 81% of the Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP). During 2010, the banking system 
total assets doubled in annual terms. The banks’ 
asset structure continued to be financed mainly by 
household deposits and was focused on lending, 
primarily to the private sector. At end-2010, the 
loan portfolio accounted for about 49% of the 
banking system total assets. 

In 2010, the banking system’s total assets were up by about ALL 104.3 
billion or about 12%, indicating accelerated growth rates in 2010 compared 
to 7% in 2009. 

Table 1 Banking system total assets 
Indicators 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Total assets (in ALL billion) 373.6 426.4 496.6 624.3 742.9 834.1 886.3 990.6
Total assets /GDP (in %) 53.8 56.8 60.9 70.8 76.8 76.7 77.5 81.0

 Source: Bank of Albania

Consequently, in 2010, banking activity continued to deepen its 
intermediation in the economy. This intermediation, banking system total 
assets to the GDP, increased by 3.5 percentage points in 2010 vis-à-vis 0.8 
percentage points in 2009.

Concentration indicators during 2010, presented in the Herfindahl index, 
are shown in levels almost equal to those in the last three years, remaining far 
from optimum levels.

Indicators 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
H Index (assets) 0.21 0.18 0.15 0.15 0.14 0.14
H Index (deposits) 0.24 0.2 0.17 0.17 0.16 0.15
H Index (credit) 0.1 0.11 0.12 0.11 0.11 0.11

Source: Bank of Albania

Table 2	H  (Herfindahl) 
Index of asset, deposit 
and credit concentration
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Table 3 Quarterly credit 
growth in 2010

•	  Banking system credit highlights 
Banking system investments, creditwise, despite recording a slower growth 

compared to previous periods, follow an upward trend year-on-year. However, 
this growth was slower regardless of high growth rates of the banking sector 
lending to total asset ratio, over the last two years. Perception of a higher 
lending risk was followed by bank’s tendency to increase their placements 
at other, mainly foreign, financial institutions. Nevertheless, the decelerated 
lending growth is deemed to have been temporary. More specifically, lending 
to the economy grew by 9.07%, with the highest growth concentrating more 
during the last quarter. 

Quarterly credit growth QI Q II Q III Q IV
In ALL million 8,639.68 11,115.79 3,125.76 18,097.27
In percentage 1.90 2.40 0.70 3.80

Source: Bank of Albania

This development has affected the loan portfolio quality. At end-2010, 
non-performing loans rose to ALL 68.5 billion, increasing by ALL 21.4 billion 
year-on-year. However, in 2010 Q4, non-performing loans increased by ALL 
3.4 billion, the lowest record over the last two years. Non-performing loans 
dropped by ALL 1.1 billion in December 2010 compared to November 2010. 
Consequently, the monthly non-performing loan indicator declined for the first 
time in the last two years, from 14.4% in November to 14.0% in December 
2010�.

Furthermore, it is worth noting that non-performing loan growth was lower 
in 2010 than in 2009. Loan portfolio quality dropped for both businesses 
and households. Non-performing loans to total outstanding business and 
household loan was respectively 15.5% and 11.7%. Moreover, loan portfolio 
quality deteriorated both in lek and in foreign currency loan. Quality indicators, 
“non-performing loan/outstanding loan in lek” and “non-performing loan/
outstanding loan in foreign currency” were 14.4% and 13.7%, respectively.

The second most significant item was the “Treasury and inter-bank 
transactions”�. At end-2010, this item reached about ALL 296 billion, 
accounting for 30% of total assets. This increase was due to the increase 
in transactions with commercial banks, credit institutions and other financial 
institutions, from 6.3% of assets at end-2009 to 9.3% at end-2010.

•	 Net profit and banking system profitability indicators
During 2010, the banking system net profit posted higher growth compared 

to 2009. Net profit in 2010 was around 90% higher, with banking activity 
growth playing a determinant role.

�	 At end-2009, non-performing loan to total loan was 10.48%. 
�	 This item includes banks’ transactions with the central bank (deposits, required reserve, and 

open market operations); transactions with T-bonds, and commercial inter-bank transactions 
- deposits, current accounts, loans; etc.
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Table 6	 Banking system 
profitability indicators (in 
percentage)

Indicators December ‘07 December ‘08 December ‘09 December ‘10
Net profit (after tax) 9.98 7.33 3.54 6.72

Source: Bank of Albania

Net Interest Margin (NIM) surged compared to 2009 year-end, primarily 
due to increased operational income and decreased financing costs of 
interest-bearing assets. 

Table 5	 Core activity profitability indicators, in percentage (cumulative)
Indicators December ‘07 December ’08 December ‘09 December ‘10
Interest income/average income-bearing-assets (1) 7.72 8.06 8.10 8.11
Interest expenses/average income-bearing assets (2) 3.37 3.94 4.06 3.78
Net interest margin (NIM) {(1)-(2)} 4.35 4.13 4.04 4.32

Source: Bank of Albania

Profitability indicators, return on assets (RoA) and return on equity (RoE) at 
end-2010 increased y-o-y, owing to the banking system net profit growth.

Indicators December ‘07 December ‘07 December ‘07 December ‘07
ROA 1.48 0.91 0.42 0.72
ROE 20.32 11.35 4.58 7.58

Source: Bank of Albania

Efficiency indicator hiked compared to the previous year due to almost 
similar levels in operating expenses and substantial rise in income.

•	 Banking system captial adequacy ratio 
Capital adequacy ratio remains at satisfactory levels. System’s shareholder 

equity increased by ALL 8.29 billion, to ALL 93.1 billion as at December 
2010. The shareholder equity to liabilities was 9.4%, down by 0.2% year-on-
year. Financial leverage ratio increased only by 0.2%, to 10.6%, indicating 
sustainable reliance on same debt levels for two consecutive years. 

Table 7	 Banking system capital adequacy ratio 
Indicators December ‘06 December ‘07 December ‘08 December ‘09 December ‘10
Capital adequacy ratio, in percentage 18 17.1 17.2 16.2 15.4

Source: Bank of Albania

At end-2010, the Albanian banking system was considered well capitalised 
in terms of solvency. Capital adequacy ratio was 15.4%, about 0.8 percentage 
points lower than figures of June 2009. The minimum regulatory capital 
requirement is 12%. In spite of banks’ good capitalisation levels, capital 
requirements for individual banks need to be monitored prudentially. 

Table 4	 Net profit in ALL 
billion
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Stress-test analyses show that the banking system, overall, remains resilient 
to various shocks. However, individual banks’ sensistivity to these shocks 
increased. For that reason, banks should assess their resilience to similar 
scenarios and should be encouraged to constantly strenghten their captial 
stock and control operational risks at best.

Credit risk remains the banking sector’s primary risk. In response to the 
credit risk situation, the banking system has established its provisions to cover 
potential losses. At end-2010, provisions for covering residents credit risk 
surged to ALL 36.1 billion, about 33% higher than at end-2009. Provision 
to non-performing loan ratio was 52.7%, above from the 49.9% three-year 
average. Provision to total outstanding loan ratio rose to 7.4%, from 5.4% a 
year earlier. In addition, the non-performing loan portfolio collateral coverage 
was 79.3% of the loan portfolio, from 78% six months earlier. 

VI.1.2. Non-bank financial system highlights

•	  Non-bank financial institutions�

Seventeen non-bank financial institutions currently operate in Albania, 
compared to twelve registered a year earlier. According to their activities 
licensed by the Bank of Albania, these institutions are classified as follows:

•	L ending financial institutions; 
•	L easing financial institutions;
•	P ayments services and money transfer financial institutions; 
•	 Microcredit financial institutions; 
•	F actoring financial institutions. 

Non-bank financial institutions performed positively in terms of growth 
of assets, loan portfolio and financial profit. In September 2010, these 
institutions accounted for ALL 30.8 billion or 3.1% to the banking system total 
assets. Compared to December 2009, these institutions recorded a growth of 
23.2%, leading to increase of their specific share to the banking system total 
assets by 0.3 percentage points.

During 2010 Q3, non-bank financial institutions loan portfolio’s gross 
value was ALL 18.5 billion, accounting for 3.8% of the total loan portfolio of 
the system. Compared to 2009, the portfolio increased to 29.9%. Lending 
institutions (60.0%), followed by leasing institutions (38.8%) are the largest 
contributors to their share to the total loan portfolio. During 2010, these 
institutions’ loan portfolio highlighted increased non-performing loans to total 
loans, to 5.6% against 3.4% as at December 2009. 

Non-bank financial institutions’ net profit was positive, albeit lower than 
in 2009. A determining factor to this slowdown was the reduction in income 
from non-bank financial institutions and increase in their provision expenses. 

�   Non-bank financial institutions data refer to the period up to 2010 Q3. 
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•	 Savings and loan associations and their unions 
Savings and Loan Associations (SLAs) are grouped in two unions, namely: 

The Albanian Savings and Loan Union (ASLU) and Jehona Union. The unions 
account for about 0.5% of the system’s total assets. In December 2010, the 
unions’ total assets were ALL 4,614 million with an annual growth rate of 
16.8%. The network of SLAs� posted a total volume of assets of ALL 5,091 
million, up 5.8% compared to 2009. At system level, the SLAs network 
acccounts for 0.5% of total assets. Most of the unions and the SLAs network 
is lending-oriented.

Loan portfolio of the unions and SLAs network acccounted for 0.5% and 
0.9%, respectively, to total banking system loans. The loan portfolio quality is 
assessed as positive for both the unions and the SLAs network. The majority 
of the loan portfolio consists of “standard” loans, 98.8% for the unions and 
95.8% for the SLAs portfolio. The unions’ net profit improved during 2010, 
whereas SLAs network, albeit a positive financial position, had a downward 
performance compared to end-2009.

VI.1.3. Credit Register 

Year 2010 may be considered an eventful year for the Credit Register’s 
performance and functioning. At end-2010, which marked the Register’s third 
anniversary, data were reported for almost all the borrowers in the Republic 
of Albania. The latest records show about 540.000 reported loans in total, of 
which 260.000 are active loans. 

During 2010, the aim was to include non-bank lending institutions as data 
reporters to the Credit Register. Since November 2010, five new entities have 
been added as reporters to the Credit Register to the existing banks and 
branches of foreign banks. More specifically, they were:

•	F ondi Besa sh.a.; 
•	O pportunity Albania sh.a; 
•	V ision Fund Albania sh.p.k; 
•	SLA s Union Jehona; 
•	A lbanian Union of SLAs Unioni Shqiptar i Kursim-Kreditit.

This inclusion was coupled with the revision of the relevant regulatory 
framework. Furthermore, five regional branches of the Bank of Albania 
were also included in this process, as a new development to assist persons 
residing in remote areas outside Tirana. The information generated by the 
Credit Register serves also to the Bank of Albania for its on-site and off-site 
examination, contributing to a risk-oriented supervision.

�   SLAs network refers to the total SLAs of both unions: Jehona Union and ASLU Union.
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VI.1.4. Non-credit Risk Condition and Supervision 

Upon entry into force of the BoA’s organisational changes, supervision 
focus and strategy were re-conceptualised in accordance with the banking 
and financial system risks.

Besides the credit risk that deserves due attention during supervision, a 
series of other risks, followed and supervised equally strictly by the Bank of 
Albania, are present in the system. 

•	 Supervision of Liquidity and Market Risks 
The end-2008 events in international financial markets, manifested in the 

Albanian financial system in the loss of public confidence in the banking 
system and subsequent deposits outflow, led to 
the need for intensified monitoring of the situation 
and a timely reaction by the Bank of Albania. In 
this regard, frequent and detailed analysis were 
conducted daily, weekly, or monthly, based on a 
new information packet. This periodic information 
provides for an assessment of banks liquidity 
situation both on individual and system basis. 

During 2010, the system’s liquidity seemed 
improved, especially with regard to foreign currency 
liquidity, which had been a problem for most of the 
banks during 2009. As of April 2009�, deposits 
have continued to show even higher growth rates 
in 2010. 

Credit to deposit ratio is an important indicator, 
which may be used to assess banking system liquidity. 

At end-2010, this indicator was at 60%, down by 5 percentage points year-
on-year. The improvement in the indicator was due to lower credit growth rate 
(9%) compared to deposit growth rate (18%). Credit to deposit ratio in foreign 
currency was at 86%, down by about 13 percentage points year-on-year. 
Credit to deposit ratio in lek was 35%, generally stable throughout the year. 

Year Lek Foreign Currency All currencies
2006 17 70 38
2007 22 79 46
2008 30 104 62
2009 36 99 65
2010 35 86 60

Source: Bank of Albania

Entry into force of the new Regulation “On liquidity risk management”, in 
December 2009 changed the definition of liquid assets, making them more 

�   At this time, deposits began to return to the system.

Chart 2 Deposits, in total and divided 
according to categories of clients

Source: Bank of Albania
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conservative. This Regulation led to the entry into force of a 20% regulatory 
limit (for all currencies) for liquid assets to short-term liabilities, up to a year. 
During 2010, this ratio was relatively stable. In December 2010, it was at 
30.6%, of which 42.9% in lek, 15.6% in euro and 23.9% in US dollars.

Concerning the foreign exchange risk, at the end of December 2010, the 
system’s net open position in buying and in relative terms accounted for 5% 
of the banks regulatory capital. With the entry into force of the Regulation 
“On open foreign exchange positions”, in August 2010, the calculation 
methodology for foreign exchange open positions also changed�.

The required capital to cover market risks was, in relative terms, 2.1% of 
the regulatory capital at end-2010. The overall rate for covering the systemic, 
markets and credit risks with capital was 126.5% compared to the regulatory 
rate of 100%.

Operational risk assessment through a stress-test analysis shows a moderate 
influence of the direct foreign exchange risk, due to low levels of banking 
system open foreign exchange position. As regards the interest rate risk, the 
difference between assets and liabilities sensitive to interest rate indicates a 
low risk to interest rate fluctuations for a three-month maturity term. The risk 
is more eminent for longer-term maturity. Nevertheless, stress-test analyses 
show that the influence of this risk on banking system adequacy is moderate. 

In relation to the liquidity risk, liquid assets to short-term liabilities (maturity 
term up to a year) resulted 30.6%, against 32.6% a year earlier. The minimum 
value of this ratio as stipulated in the regulatory framework is 20%. The differences 
between assets and liabilities according to time maturity structures�, both for 
balance items and off-balance items, result in negative values. However, these 
values are covered in multiple times by the liquid asset value, demonstrating a 
full capacity for liability payment as they fall due. Nonetheless, credit to deposit 
ratio is expected to increase again during the resurgence of banks’lending. 
Another form of administration of short-term liquidity needs is borrowing in the 
interbank market or from the Bank of Albania. This is generally a collateralised 
borrowing and the type and adequacy of assets that may serve as collateral 
in this case are other elements that need to be monitored for assessing banks 
capacity to satisfy their needs for short-term liquidity.

VI.1.5. Compliance, Transparency and Anti-Money Laundering 
and Combating the Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT)

Anti-money laundering, transparency and compliance with supervision 
norms were an important part of supervision during 2010. In this regard, 

�   Some of the off-balance items are not taken into account for the calculation of open foreign 
exchange position, while the total position is calculated as the absolute maximum value of 
positions in various currencies, in order to avoid neutralisation of opposite positions in various 
currencies.

�   Supposing keeping assets and liabilities to their maturity date.
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general examinations were conducted in two banks and four non-bank 
institutions as well as two targeted examinations.

In view of cooperating with the Directorate General of Anti-money 
Laundering, it was quarterly reported in accordance with the implementation 
plan of the strategy document “On financial crime investigation” approved 
by the Decision of the Council of Ministers, No. 1077, dated 27.10.2009 as 
well as an annual report on the enforcement of this document.

•	 Compliance with supervisory norms
During 2010, banks’ capital requirement, exposure to significant risks, 

liquidity risk, etc., were at the core of the periodic analysis on compliance of 
banks and non-bank institutions with regulatory supervisory standards. The 
analysis revealed that the banking sector continued to be well capitalised, 
despite a few cases of a decline in banks’ regulatory capital levels. 

Overall, non-bank institutions complied with regulatory indicators. All these 
institutions had adequate capital. Some non-bank financial institutions failed 
to comply with the regulatory permissible norms on open foreign currency 
positions.

 

•	 Anti-money laundering 
In 2010 on-site examinations and off-site periodic examinations on AML/

CFT at banks and non-bank financial institutions revealed that institutions 
took measures for improvement, mainly, to:

•	E stablish necessary structures and infrastructure on anti-money 
laundering and combating the financing of terrorism; 

•	D raft internal regulations, which take into account the risk of money 
laundering and financing of terrorism by compiling a “Know Your 
Client” policy, with issues related to the implementation of ”Expanded 
due diligence”;

•	D evelop systems, which daily generate all cash transactions of over 
ALL 1.5 mln and non-cash transactions of over ALL 6 mln in addition 
to specific modules that function according to risk definition variables 
or a centralised data collection system.

During 2010, recommendations in accordance with problems identified 
by the Bank of Albania examinations generally consisted in implementing 
programmes that enable risk perception by business activity, turnover, etc.; 
strengthening the due diligence to client; reporting the suspicious activity in 
quantitative indicators (low number of Suspicious Activity Reports (SARs)) and 
qualitative ones (typology analysis), etc.

The Bank of Albania, with regard to increasing the number of SARs, 
has suggested the establishment of a broader structure of communication 
between the Responsible Authority and the Supervisory Authority. This should 
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be intensified in the future with concrete joint examinations on categorisation, 
identification of suspicious transactions and activities, as well as on training 
institutions’ staff to enhance their awareness and professionalism for identifying 
suspicious activities.

•	 Transparency to the public 
Transparency and publication of information on banking and financial 

products, accurately and timely, by banks and non-bank institutions were at 
the core of supervision for 2010. This was reflected through off-site periodic 
analyses and on-site examinations. The dynamics was guided by the financial 
system developments and problems evidenced during the reporting period.

Overall, institutions reacted to the Bank of Albania’s recommendations or 
requirements to establish a transparent and more efficient banking market. 
These recommendations, related also to transparency assessment, are a 
consequence of on-site examinations findings and client complaints during 
2010. The issues mainly refer to information disclosure at bank premises, 
calculation methodology for the effective interest rate (EIR), changes to the 
calculation interest rates methodology by banks, the language used in the 
content of loan contracts, etc.

High commission fees applied for banking products and services were a 
sensitive issue in the past year, which will also be primary for the upcoming 
periods. This phenomenon was the subject of an open discussion of the Bank 
of Albania, which addressed the banks and the Albanian Association of Banks 
on this topic, mainly concerning the methodology for setting commission fees 
and their comparison with the countries in the region. Such communications 
originate from thorough analyses by the Bank of Albania on the matter. 

Regarding non-bank financial institutions, satisfactory efforts are observed 
for compliance with relevant Bank of Albania’s regulatory requirements. 
Improvements are also noticed in the framework of public information 
disclosure. The number of banks without a web page is reduced and the 
quality of published information has increased. 

VI.1.6. Supervision of operational risk 

Materialisation of this risk category in the supervision carried out by the 
Bank of Albania was a necessity arising from recommendations of the New 
Basel Capital Accord (BASEL II) and best international practices.

In 2010, regulatory foundations were laid through drafting a regulation 
“On minimum standards for operational risk management” and a periodic 
reporting framework with banks data on this risk category. 

Furthermore, in mid 2010, a number of targeted examinations were 
carried out to see more concretely and closer the status of the main banks in 
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the system as regards operational risk management. The results demonstrate 
that the majority of banks have well-defined organisational structures and 
approved policies at senior management level concerning operational risk 
management. Most of the banks use also quantitative self-assessment, as an 
important tool in the context of operational risk. Many banks have started 
to identify data on operational loss, although some of them are still at the 
formatting stage. 

•	 Information and communications technology 
As regards the banking system information and communications technology, 

during 2010, the banks upgraded their basic banking softwares. During this 
time, four banks changed and applied new banking software. At system level, 
there are improvements or developments of the banking software in use. 

VI.2. ON-SITE EXAMINATION 

In 2010, the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania was reorganised 
aiming at integrating the horizontal perspective of the banking system (credit 
– non-credit sectors) with the vertical perspective for each bank (portfolio 
managers). 

During 2010, 3 full and 3 partial examinations on commercial banks and 
4 full examinations on non-bank institutions were carried out.

VI.2.1. Bank examinations 

The banking system continued, in 2010, to demonstrate the effects of 
crediting expansion from previous years, also influenced by the economic 
growth slowdown in the past two years. During full and partial examinations, 
special attention was paid first to the loan protfolio quality and practices 
pursued by the banks to monitor and follow-up overdue loans, as well as 
measures for their re-payment. Special importance is given to the bank 
transparency to clients in the lending process, for a complete dislosure of 
information on loan terms and conditions. Main shortcomings were identified 
on a correct classification of loans and bank provisioning inadequacy. Main 
breaches of the regulatory and legal framework were identified on:

•	 Regulation “On large exposures.” An excess of maximum permissible 
limit of 10% to the regulatory capital for shareholders and the limit of 
20% of the regulatory capital for a beneficiary was identified;

•	 Regulation “On credit risk management” about the correct classification 
of credits and inadequacy of reserve funds. Examinations requested 
the establishment of additional funds for provisions in amounts that 
vary according to banks; 

•	 Regulation”On capital adequacy”. Increase of required provisions by 
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examination teams affected a recalculation of the capital adequacy 
ratio, leading to lower-value indicators. In addition, a lower influence 
was also exercised from other elements such as categorisation of 
assets according to risk classes;

•	 Regulation “On transparency for banking and financial products and 
services.” The identified cases relate to the absence of some elements 
in the credit and deposit contracts envisaged in the regulation, lack of 
information clarity in promotional materials, calculation of the effective 
interest rate, changes to the credit interest rates, etc; 

•	 Regulation ”On foreign exchange”, regarding transfers and the 
relevant supporting documentation;

•	 Regulation “On liquidity risk management” regarding compliance with 
liquidity indicator limits and design of stress-test scenarios;

•	 Regulation “On use of information and communications technology 
in subjects licensed by the Bank of Albania”. Identified cases refer 
to the method of creating user profiles, not always based on the job 
description for that position and, in some cases, circumvents the 
four-eyes principle. In addition, deficiencies are noted on risk and its 
documentation, ICT service assessment, plan for work continuation and 
back-up in case of a disaster, etc. Some banks, during the year, were 
in the process of improving/changing their banking software. In these 
cases, it was recommended that, during implementation, measures be 
taken to observe all requirements of the relevant Regulation.

•	 Regulation “On functioning of the Credit Register at the Bank of 
Albania” about the provision of prior consent that needs to be signed 
by the client, accuracy of the information reported by files, etc.;•	
Law “On Anti-Money Laundering” on the physical presence of clients 
at a bank. 

VI.2.2. Non-bank institutions examinations 

Examinations conducted in 2010 on non-bank institutions focused on the 
assessment of their crediting and their action on credit risk management. Other 
areas of importance included compliance, money laundering, transparency 
and ICT. Among the main problems identified, we may list the following: 

•	W orsening the loan portfolio situation for lending institutions. In this 
context, strengthening of structures responsible for follow-up and 
collection of credits was recommended;

•	N on-complying with the internal regulatory framework. Problems 
appear mainly with regard to compliance with the set limit and approval 
of transactions by the Steering Council, their ongoing monitoring, 
restructuring process, portfolio classification, relevant provision levels 
and blocking of collateral. Moreover, institutions need to review and 
update lending manuals, in compliance with regulatory requirements 
of the Bank of Albania;

•	 Breaching the regulatory limitations on open foreign exchange 
positions. Institutions were required to present their methodologies 
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and suitable solutions for compliance with the regulatory norms on 
open foreign exchange positions.

• Incomplete transparency on preliminary information on credit terms 
and conditions, including, among other things, the nominal annual 
interest rate; incomplete information on foreign currency borrowing 
risk, calculation conditions and changes to the interest rate as well as 
methodologies used for their calculation. Deficiencies were identified 
also during calculation, disclosure and reporting of the effective interest 
rate and drafting contracts content with the requirement components as 
defined in the Regulation “On transparency for banking and financial 
products and services” of the Bank of Albania;

• Exceeding the permissible limits on large exposures. For the identified 
cases, measures were required to bring the exposure within the 
norms;

• Failure to comply with Regulation “On supervisory standards of non-
bank financial institutions”; 

• Deficiencies in the implementation of the law “On accounting and 
financial statements”;

• Expanding the scope of control of the Internal Audit with verification 
of compliance with requirements laid down in the legal and sub-legal 
acts of the Bank of Albania; 

• Using the ICT; Institutions were requested to draft policies, procedures 
and technological standards in line with regulatory requirements of the 
Bank of Albania.

VI.3. LICENCING AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

VI.3.1. LICENCING 

In 2010, as part of banking supervision, a considerable number of practices 
were handled for new licences, revocation of licences, preliminary approvals, 
notifications, etc. This process consisted mainly in: 

• Preliminary approvals for additional activities in the bank licence annex. 
Banks, in view of implementation of their strategies to expand activities, 
besides new branches and agencies, request additional activities not 
included in the licences annex as well as new banking products. In 
2010, the Bank of Albania granted its approval for additional activities 
to seven banks. These activities consist in the following activities:

a) Factoring and financing of commercial transactions;
b) Trading of transferable securities, other negotiable instruments and 

financial assets, including transactions in gold;
c) Issuing all types of securities, including signing, establishment as an 

agent (both public and private) and conduct of services related to 
these issuances;

d) Intermediation for monetary transactions for compensation and 
administration of assets such as money and portfolio management, 
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funds administration, custody, deposit and trust services; 
e)	S ervices for compensation and settlement of payments of financial 

assets, including securities, derivative and other negotiable products, 
etc. 

Table 9 Bank network at end-2009

No. Banks No. of branches 
in country 

No. of 
agencies

No. of branches 
abroad

No. of branches 
and agencies

1 Raiffeisen Bank 102     102
2 National Commercial Bank (BKT) 27 29 2 58
3 United Bank of Albania 4 2   6
4 Veneto Bank (former Italian Development Bank) 8     8
5 Tirana Bank 43 4   47
6 National Bank of Greece Branch (NBG) 5 25   30
7 International Commercial Bank 8     8
8 Alfa Bank Branch 48   48
9 Intesa Sanpaolo Bank, Albania 19 14 4 37
10 ProCredit Bank 30 15   45
11 Emporiki Bank 13 10   23
12 Credit Bank of Albania 1 2   3
13 Credins Bank 27 6   33
14 Banka Popullore 42     42
15 Union Bank 15 16   31
16 First Investment Bank 5 4   9

T O T A L 398 126 6 530
Source: Bank of Albania

•	A pproval of the request of three banks to use their e-banking products, 
such as internet banking, sms banking, electronic bank cards, ATMs 
and POSs services. 

•	A pproval for changes in the shareholders structure for banks and non-
bank financial institutions.

 
Table 10 Bank network at end-2010

No. Banks No. of branches 
in country 

No. of 
agencies

No. of branches 
abroad

No. of branches 
and agencies

1 Raiffeisen Bank 103     103
2 National Commercial Bank (BKT) 27 31 1* 59
3 United Bank of Albania 4 2   6
4 Veneto Bank (former Italian Development Bank) 8     8
5 Tirana Bank 49 3   52
6 National Bank of Greece Branch (NBG) 5 25   30
7 International Commercial Bank 9     9
8 Alfa Bank Branch 48   48
9 Intesa Sanpaolo Bank, Albania 17 14 1 32
10 ProCredit Bank 25 17   42
11 Emporiki Bank 13 11   24
12 Credit Bank of Albania 1 2   3
13 Credins Bank 28 6   34

14 Societe Generale Albania Bank (former Banka 
Popullore) 42     42

15 Union Bank 15 15   30
16 First Investment Bank 5 4   9

T O T A L 399 130 2 531
*) 	Number of National Commercial Bank branches was verified and revised. Namely, the National 

Commercial Bank has one branch in the Republic of Kosovo, which operates through 15 units 
all over the territory of Kosovo. 
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	 Source: Bank of Albania

•	P reliminary approvals for the expansion of the banks network. Network 
expansion of the banks’ branches and agencies continued in 2010. 
More specifically, 23 bank branches and agencies opened and 
started their activity while during this year banks reported the closure 
of 21 branches, following their network reorganisation. At the end of 
the year, the total number of branches and agencies in country and 
abroad was 531� from 530 at end-2009. 

•	A pproval of 53 requests for the approval of administrators appointed 
by the banks and non-bank financial institutions, pursuant to the Law 
“On Banks in the Republic of Albania”. These preliminary approvals 
of administrators consist in:

-	A ppointment of administrators due to developments in the organisational 
structures of banks, parallel reassignment or new appointments; 

-	N ew posts as a result of the establishment of new structures in the 
bank; 

-	N ew appointments as a result of appointment of shareholders 
representatives in managing positions. 

These cases of approvals of bank administrators include 12 approvals 
for bank steering council members, 5 for control committee members, 6 for 
general/executive directors, 2 for deputy general directors, 28 for head of 
department/division/directorate. 

At end-2010, there were 16 banks operating in the Republic of Albania, 
two of which are branches of foreign banks. During the past year, there were 
no applicatons for new bank licences. 

•	E stablishment and licensing of non-bank financial institutions. The 
Bank of Albania granted four new licences to non-bank financial 
institutions in response to their application for financial activities 
(such as crediting, leasing, microcrediting, and factoring) as well as 
in compliance with regulatory provisions. In the meanwhile, there is a 
tendency to establish financial institutions that provide payments and 
money transfer services through mobile telephony. 

•	 Granting and revoking licences for foreign exchange bureaux. In 
2010, 66 new licences for foreign exchange bureaux were granted 
and three were revoked. Furthermore, pursuant to the Regulation “On 
licensing, organisation, activity and supervision of foreign exchange 
bureaux” additional activities were approved for 52 foreign exchange 
bureaux that operate as money transfer agents on behalf of a non-bank 
financial institution. At end-2010, there were 284 bureaux operating 
in the foreign exchange market. 

•	 Granting and revocation of licences for savings and loan associations. 

�   After verification and revision of the number of branches abroad, going down from 2 to 1 
branch of the National Commercial Bank for 2010, the total number of bank branches and 
agencies operating in Albania and abroad at the end of 2010 is 531. 
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During 2010, four new savings and loan associations were licensed 
and 13 licences were revoked, following merger with an existing 
association, totalling 126 savings and loan association and two 
savings and loan associations unions. 

•	P ursuant to the Regulation “On licensing and activity of non-
bank financial institutions”, approved by Decision No 11, dated 
25.02.2009 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, the 
process continued for the approval of agents that operate on behalf 
of a non-bank financial institution, licensed by the Bank of Albania. 
Namely, 102 agents were approved to transfer money on behalf of 
non-bank financial institutions. 

Table 11 Subjects licensed by the Bank of Albania.
No Subjects 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
1 Banks and branches of foreign banks 14 15 16 17 17 18 16 16 16
2 Non-bank financial institutions 5 7 7 7 6 6 7 13 17
3 Foreign Exchange Bureaux 58 58 54 58 60 112 189 221 284
4 Savings and Loan Associations 113 131 130 131 125 130 133 135 126
5 Unions of Savings and Loan Associations 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Source: Bank of Albania

VI.3.2. Regulatory framework 

Year 2010 witnessed the finalisation of a number of new regulations and 
amendments to some existing regulations on banking supervision. This process 
has continually focused on approximation with Basel Committee standards 
and European Union directives, taking into consideration best practices in the 
field of regulation and development of the Albanian banking system. 

New regulatory acts and significant amendments to existing acts on banking 
supervision approved during this year are:

•	 Regulation “On risk management in the activity of non-bank financial 
institutions”, which sets out risk management rules in the activity of 
non-bank financial institutions, particularly on risk management in the 
activity of microcrediting and leasing financial institutions. 

•	 Regulation “On defining the decision-making level in the supervision 
of banking and financial activities”, which lays down the level of 
competencies by managing bodies of the Bank of Albania in the 
decision-making process as regards its supervisory functions. 

•	 Regulation “On management of risk from open foreign currency 
positions”, which sets out the rules and criteria for calculating, 
supervising and reporting open foreign currency positions of a bank, 
for foreign exchange risk management. 

•	 Guidelines “On conservatorship and liquidation of banks”, which sets 
out the procedures and actions for the realisation of conservatorship 
and insolvency, in the framework of the actions of the authority in the 
cases of putting in conservatorship/liquidation of a bank or branch of 
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a foreign bank.
•	A dditions and amendments were made respectively to the following:

-	 Regulation “On supervision of savings and loan associations and their 
unions”, waiving the limit on a credit granted for over three years and 
limit the credit of over five years in relation to given amounts of capital, 
deposits or liabilities, while providing space for long-term crediting, in 
order to encourage investment crediting;

-	 Regulation “On administration of risk from large exposures of banks”, 
to ease the measures taken by the authority during the global financial 
crisis on concentration risk management;

-	 Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” and an amendment to the 
Regulation “On risk management in the activity of non-bank financial 
institutions”, referring to the list of OECD countries applicable in 
counterparties against which banks and non-bank financial institutions 
are exposed. 
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Article 3 
The conversion rate is set at:
Frank equals Lek 9 – of the new currency

Law “On the new currency, Lek”,
OJ 63, 9 July 1947 
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Chapter VII Other Activities of the Bank of 
Albania 

VII.1. Developments in the payment systems 

A primary task of the Bank of Albania is promotion and support for a 
smooth operation of internal payment systems. To fulfil this task, the Bank 
of Albania applies at least three different approaches: (i) operational role in 
providing payment systems; (ii) systems oversight; and (iii) national payment 
systems catalyst/reformer. These approaches complement and interact with 
each other.

VII.1.1. Statistical indicators of the payment systems during 
2010

In the Republic of Albania, interbank payments clearing and settlement in 
Lek is done through two payment systems: the “Interbank Gross Settlement 
system - AIPS” and the “Automated electronic clearing house for small value 
payments – AECH”. Both systems are managed and operated by the Bank of 
Albania, in the framework of its operational role to provide the market with 
infrastructure. At the end of 2010, all banks licensed by the Bank of Albania 
were direct participants for settlement in AIPS, of which, 15 banks were also 
direct participants in the AECH� system. 

•	 Interbank Gross Settlement system - AIPS 
During 2010, payment systems reflected security and efficiency. These 

features are necessary for the systems’ smooth operation. A total volume of 
80,356 payment transactions was settled through the AIPS system during 
2010, with a total transactions value of ALL 4,437 billion. Relative to 2009, 
the payments volume settled during 2010 increased by 44%, while the settled 
transactions decreased by 6%.

Reduced transactions of the Bank of Albania in government’s lek securities 
had a significant influence on the transactions value settled in 2010.

AIPS System 2007 2008 2009 2010
Number of transactions 45,480 56,717 55,701 80,356
Value of transactions (billion lek) 3,745 5,146 4,718 4,437
Average transaction value (billion lek) 82 91 85 55

Source: Bank of Albania

�   In 2010, the Bank of Albania concluded procedures and testing for Veneto Bank membership 
in AECH. As of February 2011, procedures for Veneto Bank were completed and all banks 
operating in Albania are now direct participants in the AECH system. 

Table 1	 Transactions 
through AIPS during 
2007-2010
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Table 3 Concentration 
indicators for AIPS

A detailed overview of types of transactions processed and settled through 
the AIPS during 2010 and their relative share to the total are presented in 
the following table. Of total transactions processed and settled through the 
AIPS during 2010, about 68% of the transactions volume regards settlements 
between participants on behalf of their clients, with an increase of 85% vis-
à-vis the same indicator for 2009. This increase is an output of the Ministry 
of Finance’s automated treasury payments project that accounts for 50% in 
volume and 31% in value to the total customer payments through the AIPS.

Table 2 Types of transactions through AIPS
Volume Value (ALL billion)

Type of transactions through AIPS Number of transactions Relative share Absolute share Relative share 
Bank of Albania financing transactions / instruments 2,758 3.4 % 2,130 48 %
Cash transfers to/from the issue 8,770 10.9 % 219 4.9 %
Inter-bank payments (MT202) 8,084 10.1 % 833 18.8 %
Customer payments (MT103) 54,454 67.8 % 729 16.5 %
Net settlement for clearing systems 6,290 7.8 % 526 11.8 %
Total 80,356 100 % 4,437 100 %

Source: Bank of Albania

As regards the transactions value settled through the AIPS, transactions 
initiated by the Bank of Albania to meet its legal targets, account for the 
highest liquidity circulation, about 48% to the total compared to 57% in 2009. 
The downward liquidity value circulated through the AIPS, during 2010, for 
transactions initiated by the Bank of Albania, is mainly due to reduced Bank 
of Albania’s transaction in government securities. The section “net settlements 
for clearing systems” consists in net settlement transactions resulting from 
the clearing systems such as clearing of small value payments in AECH 
system, clearing of banking and personal cheques in ALL, net settlements 
of government securities, and net settlements of ALL payments via VISA and 
MasterCard cards, for which the Bank of Albania plays the settlement agent’s 
role.

The concentration indicator is the share of four most active banks in the 
AIPS to the total activity in this system. As shown by the following table, during 
2010, the Bank of Albania (including Treasury payments) initiated about 50% 
in volume and 54% in value of transactions to the total activity in the AIPS.

 

Volume of transactions Value of transactions (ALL billions)
AIPS Share/Total Share/Total
4 major banks 23 % 39 %
12 other banks 27 % 15 %
Bank of Albania 50 % 54 %
Total (absolute value) 80,356 4,437

Source: Bank of Albania

Use of intraday loan facility (ILF) is an efficient instrument that participating 
banks in the AIPS may use to manage their liquidity during their operational 
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activity within a day. Year-on-year, disbursed loans (use of ILF) increased by 
34%, while the intra-day liquidity disbursed during this period dropped by 
37%, reflecting lower liquidity needs from banks that meet the criteria for 
guaranteeing additional liquidity. The decline in disbursed intraday loan is 
attributed primarily to a change in the Bank of Albania’s policy to increase the 
daily use of the lek-required reserve (from 20% to 40%) by banks for intra-day 
liquidity, in order to ensure smooth operation of the AIPS system.

 
Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) 2007 2008 2009 2010
Number of transactions 675 579 207 278
Value of transactions (ALL billion) 218 221 121 75
Average transaction value (ALL million) 322 382 582 270

Source: Bank of Albania

The following chart shows the distribution of 
intraday liquidity needs by AIPS participants, during 
2010. The highest liquidity demand was in July, 
when the Bank of Albania disbursed about 26% 
of the credit value disbursed throughout the entire 
year. 

•	 Automated clearing system for 
small value payments - AECH 

The AECH system processes and clears customer 
payments of a value smaller than ALL 1 million. 
In total, 332,777 payment orders were cleared 
through the AECH in 2010, with an average 
settled transaction value of ALL 130 thousand. 
On average, about 1,330 payments were cleared 
through the AECH system, with an average daily 
value of ALL 176 million. In comparison with 2009, 
the volume of cleared payments in 2010 increased about 225%, while the 
value of cleared transactions was up by 185%. 

AECH System 2007 2008 2009 2010
Number of transactions 71,857 113,682 102,304 332,777
Value of transactions (ALL billion) 12.01 17.61 15.46 43.98
Average transaction value (ALL million) 0.17 0.15 0.15 0.13

Source: Bank of Albania

The table shows a considerable increase in the number of interbank 
payment orders processed in the AECH system, compared to the activity in 
previous years. This increase comes as a result of the finalisation of a project 
(March 2010) for the automatisation of payments between the Treasury System 
AMoFTS at the Albanian Ministry of Finances and AIPS and AECH systems at 
the Bank of Albania. 

Table 4	 Intraday 
Loan Facility for AIPS 
participating institutions

Chart 1 Monthly ILF transactions in 
AIPS during 2010

Source: Bank of Albania
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Table 6 Concentration 
indicators for the AECH 

system

Table 7 Distribution 
of payments in AECH 
according to clearing 

sessions in 2010

During the ten-month life of the systems electronic interface, a large flow 
of payments was executed, initiated by the Ministry of Finances, in favour of 
beneficiary clients, to the banks that participate in the system, counting for 
about 74% of the volume and 71% of the annual payments value in the AECH 
system. 

Concentration indicators reflect the share of four more active banks in the 
AECH system (including the Bank of Albania as a participant in the system) to 
the total activity in this system.

Volume of transactions Value of transactions (ALL billion)
AECH system Share/Total Share/Total
4 major banks 14 % 15 %
12 other banks 12 % 14 %
Ministry of Finances (Treasury) 74 % 71 %
Total (absolute value) 332,777 43.98

Source: Bank of Albania

Payments cleared through the AECH system are processed in two sessions 
(Session I - 09:00 to 11:00; Session II – 12:00 to 14:30) in a business day. 
At the end of each session, payments are settled for their net result through 
the AIPS system. 

Session Year
AECH system I II 2010
Number of transactions 162,167 170,610 332,777
Value of transactions (ALL billion) 22.17 21.81 43.98
Average transaction value (ALL million) 0.136 0.128 0.13

Source: Bank of Albania

VII.1.1. Payment instruments 

Banks reports reveal that at the end of 2010, the total number of bank 
customer accounts, valid for payments in lek or a foreign currency, is about 
2.5 million, up by 17% compared to the end of 2009. About 91% of the total 
accounts are individual accounts and over 99% of customer account holders 
are residents.

Table 8 Number of customer accounts in the banking system as at 31 December 2010

Account description 
Total customer accounts Internet accessible 

2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010
Customer accounts (1+2) 1,573,830 2,086,143 2,446,495 11,108 15,034 27,368
1-resident accounts (a+b) (%) 99% 99% 99% 97% 97% 97%
 a – individual (%) 91% 92% 93% 65% 66% 69%
 b – company (%) 9% 8% 7% 35% 34% 31%
2-nonresident accounts (c+d) (%) 1% 1% 1% 3% 3% 3%
 c – individual (%) 96% 94% 93% 88% 80% 78%
 d – company (%) 4% 6% 7% 12% 20% 22%

Source: Bank of Albania (banks’ reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments 
instruments”).
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Of the total customer accounts at the end of 2010, about 27 thousand 
accounts are accessible online to provide payment services or check the 
balance statement, up 82% compared to end-2009. Regardless of the 
significant increase of this indicator in 2010, online accessibility of bank 
customer accounts remains at very low levels. According to banks’ reports 
in 2010, the following chart shows the share of customer transactions in the 
banking system per category (cash/non-cash). 

The table shows that payments in the national currency have a share of 
86% in volume and 54% in value to the total customer payments. In addition, 
paper customer payments continue to dominate (about 80%), compared to a 
moderate increase of electronic payments (about 9%). 

Table 9 Share of customer payments in the banking system according to payment 
instruments
Payment services  Payments in Lek  Payments in foreign currency Total payments 

1 January - 31 December 2010 Number Value 
(ALL billion) Number Value 

(ALL billion) Number Value 
(ALL billion)

I. Client crediting transfers 81.6% 95.1% 78.2% 93.3% 81% 94%
of which:
1. Paper crediting transfer 97.8% 97.4% 94.3% 96.8% 97% 97%
2. “E-banking” crediting transfer 2.2% 2.6% 5.7% 3.2% 3% 3%
II. Card payments at POS terminals 5.8% 0.2% 15.5% 0.3% 7% 0%
Of which:
1. Payments via debit cards 63.5% 48.8% 55.6% 37.1% 61% 42%
2. Payments via credit cards 36.5% 51.2% 44.4% 62.9% 39% 58%
III. Direct debit 12.0% 2.3% 4% 5.0% 11% 4%
IV. Cheques 0.7% 2.4% 2.3% 1.5% 1% 2%
Total Payments (I+II+III+IV) 6,327,342 1,825 1,049,697 1,573 7,377,039 3,398

Source: Bank of Albania (banks’ reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments 
instruments”).

Chart 2 Share of customer transactions in the banking system 

Source: Bank of Albania (banks' reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments 
instruments”)
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Table 10 Number of 
ATMs and POSs as at 
31 December 2010, 

compared to 2009 and 
2008

At the end of 2010, 16 banks were operating in the Republic of Albania, 
offering payment services through 529 branches/agencies across the country. 
At present, there are 14 banks licensed to issue cards that offer cash withdrawal 
from ATMs. Of card-issuing banks, only seven of them are also licensed as 
card acceptors, making card payments at POS installed in shops, restaurants, 
hotels, or shopping centres. 

Description 2008 2009 2010
Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) 642 741 771
Of which:
1 - ATMs for cash withdrawal 642 741 771
2 - ATMs for transfer orders 59 66 62
3 - ATMs for cash depositing 73 74 84
Points of sale terminals 2,953 4,370 4,903
Of which:
1- POS terminal for cash withdrawal 907 1,290 111
2- EFTPOS payment terminal 2,915 4,320 4,846
Terminals for using e-money - - -

Source: Banks’ reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments instruments”. 

During 2010, the number of ATMs increased by 4% and POSs network 
expanded by 12% compared to 2009. According to banks’ reports, ATMs 
and POSs are established in most developed and industrial areas. The chart 
shows that about 53% of the ATMs and 78% of the POS terminals are in 
Tirana (banks’ reports refer to the territory division according to the branches 
of the Bank of Albania). 

Cards are payment instruments used in Albania, though still at low levels 
compared to other countries in the region. During 2010, the number of cards 
in circulation increased by 23% compared to that of end-2009. 	

Chart 3 Distribution of ATMs and POSs as at the end of 2010 

Source: Banks’ reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments instruments”
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Number of cards by function 2008 2009 2010
Cards for cash and payments 512,232 566,985 694,848
Of which:
 1- Debit cards 482,072 543,141 667,548
 2- Credit cards 15,931 23,844 27,300
Cards with e-money function - - -
Total cards in circulation 498,003 566,985 694,848

Source: Bank of Albania (banks’ reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments 
instruments”). 

According to banks reporting, debit cards share 
is 96% to total number of cards in circulation. 
As regards the card brand and card processing 
operators, VISA cards have the highest share of about 
83% to the total, followed by MasterCard. Maestro 
and American Express cards have a smaller share. 
Only two banks issue local cards, which account for 
about 2% of the total cards in circulation. 

Of the total customer accounts reported by 
banks, about 29% of the accounts are remotely 
accessible through a credit or debit card. Payments 
or cash withdrawal from other accounts requires 
necessarily the physical presence of the customer 
at bank counters. Distribution of cards according 
to the cardholder’s gender and age is presented 
graphically in the following chart.

The following table presents types of transactions by bank cards (debit/
credit), per volume and value, compared with previous year’s data. 

Table 11	Number of 
cards in circulation as 
at 31 December 2010, 
compared to 2009 and 
2008

Chart 4 Share of payment cards according to 
their type, until end-2010

Source: Bank of Albania (banks’ reports according to the 
“Reporting methodology for payments instruments”)
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Transactions through cards by 
transaction type

Volume Value (ALL million)
2009 2010 2009 2010

1- ATMs for cash withdrawal 8,717,982 9,877,583 96,117.27 100,057.91
2- ATMs for depositing 91 47 2.97 0.23
3- Transfer orders through ATMs 366 260 10.02 6,31
4- Cash withdrawal at POS terminals 2,647 1,654 453.86 358.22
5- Card payments at POS terminals 403,214 527,411 5,321.72 7,438.30
 Of which:
 - payments through debit cards 252,780 322,230 2,565.67 3,151.13
 - payments through credit cards 150,434 205,181 2,756.05 4,287.17
Total card transactions 9,124,300 10,406,955 101,905.3 107,860.96

Source: Banks reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments instruments”. 

During January - December 2010, about 10.5 million transactions through 
cards (ATM and POS) were processed, with a total circulation of ALL 108 
billion. Of the total transactions, about 95% is cash withdrawal from ATMs 
and only 5% refers to customer payments through cards in POSs, an indicator 
of a highly cash-based economy. 

Home-banking is increasing, enabling clients to have remote access to 
their bank accounts, through internet connection, telephone, or software that 
the banks provide to their clients. For the first time, this service was provided 
by the American Bank of Albania in 2005, while in 2010 this service was 
provided by 11 banks in Albania. During 2010, about 163 thousand “home-
banking” e-transactions were reported for the entire banking system, totalling 
ALL 92 billion, about 2% in volume and value to total customer payments. 

Home banking 
transactions Number of banks Number of 

transactions
Value of transactions 

(ALL million)
2005 1 15,706 15,908
2006 1 19,096 16,834
2007 3 42,447 48,492
2008 6 88,261 63,240
2009 10 136,482 78,156
2010 11 162,385 91,274

Source: Banks reports according to the “Reporting methodology for payments instruments”. 

VII.1.2. Bank of Albania as a supervisor and reformer of the 
national payment systems 

The Bank of Albania (BoA) is assuming an increasingly important role in 
reforming and overseeing payment systems. In light of this, BoA is working to 
set up safe and efficient national payment systems to support recent financial 
market developments based on best practices of other central banks. 

The BoA has started a twinning project with the Bank of Italy, where 
development of payment system oversight has a significant place. The project 
scope is, inter alia, to strengthen capacities and approximate the regulatory 
and operational framework of payment systems in Albania with those of EU 
countries.

Table 13 Performance 
of home-banking 

transactions over the 
years

Table 12 Transactions 
through cards during 

2010 compared to 2009
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In 2010, the draft law “On payment systems” and an explanatory 
commentary were finalised as important documents, which explain concepts 
on the national payment systems as well as a more detailed definition of the 
role and duties of the Bank of Albania in relation to developing and supervising 
the payment systems in Albania. This draft law is a very important step forward 
in the process of continuous approximation of Albania’s legislation with the 
EU legislation in banking and finance area, provided also under Articles 70 
and 89 of the Stabilisation and Association Agreement (SAA) between Albania 
and the European Communities. 

In international terms, central banks should have a special jurisdiction on 
the settlement of financial instruments infrastructure (“post-trading”), as part 
of their overall mandate to supervise the payment systems. For this reason, 
this draft law aims to regulate and oversee the overall payment systems, 
including institutions such as securities clearing houses, their settlement 
systems and others such as CSD and CCP. The Bank of Albania and the 
Albanian Financial Supervisory Authority shall cooperate to define roles and 
duties for the supervision of securities clearing and settlement systems. 

In December 2010, the draft law “On payments systems”, an explanatory 
report and a Table on compliance with the acquis communautaire were sent 
to the Ministry of Finance for their review. 

After e long cooperation between the Bank of Albania, the Ministry of 
Finances and the banking system, on 01 March 2010, live communication 
was established through an electronic interface between the Treasury System 
at the Ministry of Finances and the AIPS and AECH payment systems at 
the Bank of Albania. In the framework of implementing the new scheme of 
automated Treasury payments, the Ministry of Finances was provided with 
the possibility to monitor, in real time, the activity in its accounts in the AIPS 
system at the Bank of Albania, contributing to more efficient administration of 
funds. The project consists in automated processing of Lek payments, initiated 
by Treasury branches, to individuals or other beneficiary institutions of public 
funds. The part of inflows for the Treasury (by the public) is actually done 
through the banks; at the end of the day, each bank transfers the total cash 
funds to the main government account at the Bank of Albania. 

Furthermore, during this year, the focus was on improving and expanding 
the required infrastructure for the settlement of electronic payment instruments 
(bank cards). In July 2010, the project for Lek payments settlement via 
MasterCard and Maestro cards through the AIPS was finalised, a service 
offered to the MasterCard company following an experience of some years 
with the Visa card company. 
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VII.2. Money Issue 

•	M oney in circulation 
Money in circulation amounted to ALL 202.36 billion at the end of 2010, 

compared to ALL 216.74 billion at the end of 2009. The largest growth was 
noted in the fourth quarter.

•	 Structure of money in circulation 

Banknotes 
The structure of banknotes in circulation� was 

characterised by a balancing of denominations in 
relation to the reduction of money in circulation. 
High denominations have a bigger share, dictated 
by the demand of commercial banks to handle 
the payment flow and filling of ATMs with these 
denominations. During 2010, a significant increase 
in the circulation of the 2000 Lek banknote was 
observed. 

Coins
The structure of the coin continued, even this 

year, to be oriented towards an increase in the 
share of 50 and 100 Lek coins. One of the main 

factors affecting this rise was the use of these coins to substitute the 100 Lek 
banknote, which was withdrawn from circulation on 31 December 2010. 

�	 This indicator represents banknotes and coins that are legal tender and have left from the Bank 
of Albania counters, regardless of their location.

Chart 6 Money in circulation (in 000 Lek)

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 7 Structure of banknotes 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Coin versus Banknote 
At the end of 2010, the overall value of coin to banknote ratio resulted 

higher than a year earlier. The gradual replacing of the 100 Lek banknote 
with coins and the demand for coins from retail traders, mainly from newly 
opened supermarkets and hypermarkets, were key factors contributing to the 
upward trend of this ratio, albeit an obvious increase in banknotes.

•	 Indicators of money in circulation 

Banknotes and coins in circulation 

At the end of 2010, there were in circulation:

Chart 8 Structure of the coin

Source: Bank of Albania
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•	 153,433,328 pcs banknotes 
•	 116,098,253 pcs coins 

Average value of a banknote in circulation 

The average value of a banknote in circulation at the end of 2010 reached 
1227 Lek, compared with 1063 Lek at the end of 2009.

Money in circulation against M2

At the end of 2010, the ratio of money in circulation to the M2 aggregate 
was 34.57%, while at the end of 2009 it was 37.5%.

Money Rate of Return�

The money rate of return at the Bank of Albania was 0.596 for 2010, from 
0.593 in 2009. This shows that during 2010, commercial banks, as regards 
money in circulation, delivered more money to the cash desks of the Bank of 
Albania.

Quality of money in circulation 

Pursuant to contemporary standards and rapid increase in the number of 
ATMs of commercial banks, during 2010, the Bank of Albania withdrew from 
circulation about 23,534 million unfit banknotes, replacing them with fit ones. 
A substantial withdrawn quantity consisted in issues of earlier than 1996. At 
the end of 2010, pre-1996 issues in circulation accounted for only 1% of the 
average banknote in circulation. New banknotes put into circulation in 2009 
accounted for 15.32% of the total average banknotes in circulation.

VII.3. Research at the Bank of Albania 

Research Department discussion papers during 2010 focused mainly on 
the study of issues on monetary policy, fiscal policy, financial stability and the 
new economic growth model as well as on the external sector. 

The Research Department, utilising the knowledge and research work for 
many years on the Albanian economy, has contributed to debates on drafting 
and implementing the monetary policy. During 2010, an assessment of the 
future performance of some important macroeconomic indicators and an 
analysis of various risk scenarios were made possible through the MEAM 
model and other satellite models outside it. Among the analysed risks, we 

�   This indicator is calculated for each denomination in pieces, as a ratio of receivables to the 
average stock of money in circulation for a given period. 
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may mention the exchange rate, shocks from the supply and demand, fiscal 
policy effects, etc. 

In addition, during 2010 a structural model was designed and evaluated 
to analyse the monetary policy in Albania. This model is very suitable for the 
Albanian economy as it takes into consideration all its features and reflects 
the effect of monetary policy on main macroeconomic indicators, such as 
production, inflation, exchange rate and unemployment. 

As regards financial stability, work has been done on establishing a DSGE 
model, based mainly on two factors of production: labour and capital. The 
creation of this model aims to incorporate financial stability into the existing 
macroeconomic model and finding equilibrium levels for the variables involved. 
In addition, two works are realised, which measure the indirect credit risk 
and the effect of macroeconomic indicators on the level of non-performing 
loans. Another point of focus was the evaluation of a potential non-linear 
correlation between inflation and financial development in Albania, taking 
into account the effect of other variables such as government expenditures 
and international trade.

A study on the calculation of the trade deficit benchmark and current 
account stability serves as a reference basis for economic policies on the 
equilibrium of the external balance of the economy. Another material 
focused on the external sector with a view to evaluate the potentials of 
trade exchange with main trading partners of Albania, focusing on free 
trade agreements with countries of the region and the European Union. 
Finally, through another study on economic agglomeration and the creation 
of sectorial synergies in South Eastern Europe, we have managed to 
conclude that economic growth is most affected by income from commerce 
and foreign investments, in an integrated region, in terms of space and 
economic practice.

 
Moreover, various studies have been conducted on economic growth 

performance. Main determinants of economic growth in Albania have been 
evaluated, leading to the conclusion that total productivity of production 
factors is the main contributor to economic growth. Another study on economic 
growth has analysed the positive effect of the Albanian tourism sector on its 
economic growth. 

Another issue addressed by our research is the assessment of the 
discretionary fiscal policy effects on prices, interest rates and economic 
growth; and on a potential difference between expenditure increase 
policy and tax reduction policy by assessing their respective multiplicators. 
Furthermore, the fiscal policy stability in Albania and the definition of 
an appropriate fiscal rule have been assessed. Given the importance 
of remittances, their macroeconomic determiners have been studied to 
draft economic policies and an approach to attract this important flow of 
financing. 
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•	 PUBLICATIONS 
Most of research and discussion papers are published on the Bank of Albania 

official website, under the category “Publications/Research and Discussion”, 
while articles are also published quarterly in the Economic Bulletin. In 2009, 
the Research Department began to publish semi annually the “Scientific news 
at the Bank of Albania”. It provides information on documents presented 
under the “Friday Workshop series”, and other materials and articles that are 
either completed or in process.

 

•	 Activities 
On 3 May 2010, a round table was organised at the BoA Research Centre 

in Berat on “Economic growth in Albania – the need for a new model”, 
organised by the Research Department. Representatives of academics, Bank 
of Albania and other international institutions such as the World Bank, IMF 
and USAID participated in this round table. The studies and discussions 
focused on the actual model of economic growth, capital market in the future 
economic model and role of agriculture and technology in the new growth 
model, paying attention to negative environmental externalities of economic 
growth. The debate on the new economic growth model will continue in other 
series, with other interest groups, with the hope that discussions and opinions 
become concrete recommendations. 

The Research Department organised, for the fourth consecutive year, on 
18-19 November 2010, a regional meeting on “Economic Research in South 
Eastern Europe”. This event focused primarily on further improvement of 
economic research in the region and expansion of the region’s central banks 
knowledge on characteristics and specific economic developments. Main 
issues addressed the global crisis and financial and macroeconomic sectors 
of South Eastern Europe, regulation of internal and external disbalances and 
the need for continuous efforts through structural reforms to promote stable 
economic growth. 

Following the work started a number of years ago, the Research Department 
continued with the “Friday Workshop Series” in 2010. During this year, 13 
studies were presented by representatives from the Bank of Albania, other 
central banks and academia. This activity is a good opportunity for all 
researchers to discuss and present their empirical and theoretical studies. 

VII.4. Statistics activities of the Bank of Albania 

The Bank of Albania is one of the key agencies that produces statistics, 
along with the Statistics Institute, Ministry of Finances, Ministry of Agriculture, 
Food and Consumer Protection, and the Ministry of Environment, Forestry 
and Water Management. According to the Official Statistics Programme�, 
the Bank of Albania is required by law to produce and publish monetary and 
�   Official Statistics Programme 2007-2011 approved by Decision No. 153, dated 31.01.2008 

of the Assembly of the Republic of Albania. 
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balance of payments statistics. The law “On official statistics� and the law 
‘’On the Bank of Albania”� entitle the Bank of Albania to collect information 
by all statistical units in the territory of the Republic of Albania for statistical 
processing. 

  Number of tables Number of indicators 
Periodical statistics of the Bank of Albania 91 3,021
Archive 17 126
Statistics by the Ministry of Finances 5 86
Statistics by INSTAT 12 241
Total 125 3,474

 

The Bank of Albania aims to not only successfully compile and publish 
statistics indicators, but also consistently improve public services by expanding 
the range of indicators, approximating the methodology with international 
standards and best practices, and providing information accordingly for a 
diverse range of users. The Bank of Albania website reflects dynamically 
qualitative and qualitative user requests and actually contains 125 tables with 
3,474 indicators. Applications of the ‘Statistics/Time Series’ space provide 
users with information on most recently published indicators, time and 
content of publication. The query allows for selection of time series, indicators 
within tables and form of information display (for more refer to Annex 1). 
The Monthly Statistical Report of the Bank of Albania is a comprehensive 
publication highly appreciated by users. This report contains statistics on the 
monetary and external sector and important indicators of the real and fiscal 
sectors, published respectively by INSTAT and Ministry of Finances. 

VII.4.1. Production of statistics 

In 2010, statistics on monetary and balance of payments by the Bank 
of Albania were published on time, compliant to the statistics publications 
calendar. In order to comply with the publication deadline, in cases of delayed 
reporting by reporting units, the Bank of Albania took its measures to counter 
delays by reducing the information processing time. Publication of statistics 
produced by the Bank of Albania is done electronically on its official website, 
while the Monthly Statistical Report is distributed to 300 institutional users 
on a CD. Paper copies of statistical publications are included in periodical 
reports of the Bank of Albania such as the quarterly Monetary Policy Report 
and the Annual Report of the Bank of Albania. 

With regard to statistical production, the main development during 
2010 is the publication for the first time of statistics on gross external debt, 
international investments position, loans and the economy. Statistics on gross 
external debt and international investments positions complement statistics on 
the external sector and statistics on balance of payments, exchange rate and 

�   Law ‘On Official Statistics’ No. 9180, dated 05.02.2004
�   Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997

Table 14 Statistics 
displayed under the 
“Statistics” item in the 
Bank of Albania website
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foreign reserve. Publication of these statistics in accordance with the respective 
standards is a precondition for all countries that aspire to become members 
of the Special Data Dissemination Standard of the International Monetary 
Fund, as well as for EU members or applicant countries. Statistical credit 
tables according to subjects, currency, maturity, economic activity, prefecture, 
etc. are not a requirement of international statistical standards, but a high 
number of states publish them to assist users with detailed information of 
interest to them. In 2011, the database with information published by the 
Bank of Albania will be enriched with detailed tables on residents’ deposits at 
the banking system. 

VII.4.2. Statistical activities in mid-term horizon 

In the mid-term horizon, the Bank of Albania will continue to produce and 
publish monetary and financial statistics on the external sector conform to 
manuals and international practices�. In addition, in its capacity of a statistics 
agency, the Bank of Albania will continue to contribute actively to improving 
the national statistical system, including strengthening of relations with other 
statistics agencies and enrichment of the legal and regulatory framework on 
drafting and follow-up of national programmes on statistics production with 
special focus on EU requirements for statistics reporting. In the context of 
preparations for meeting EU requirements on statistics produced by central 
banks, the Bank of Albania will benefit from a Twinning Project with the 
central banks of two EU countries�. As regards monetary and external sectors 
statistics, during the lifetime of this project, work will be done in terms of 
improvement of methodology and forms of reporting as well as of technology, 
statistics processing and dissemination practices. 

VII.4.3. Relations with users 

The Bank of Albania is constantly in contact with regular users of the statistics 
it produces and publishes. The distribution list of statistical publications for 
institutional users is reviewed, time after time, to include all interested users 
and new institutions. At the same time, the space ‘Statistics’ at the website of 
the Bank of Albania is updated consistently to bring the format and content 
of publications close to the requests of a wide user base. In November 2010, 
the Bank of Albania met with two important user groups. The first meeting was 
with media representatives and the second meeting was with institutional and 
academic users. Both meetings were welcomed with high interest. In these 
meetings, main groups of statistics published in the webpage of the Bank 
of Albania were introduced and instructions on using this page were given. 

�   On balance of payments statistics and international investments position - “Balance of Payments 
Statistics and International Investment Position Manual”, IMF, sixth edition, January 2010. On 
external debt statistics– “External debt statistics: guide for compilers and users’’, IMF, June 
2003. On monetary and financial statistics – “Monetary and Financial Statistics Manual”, 
IMF, October 2000.

�   Under the Twinning Project on “Strengthening institutional capacities of the Bank of Albania”, 
assistance will be provided by the central banks of Italy and France. 
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During the meetings, questions and suggestions were tabled by the users on 
the methodology, data sources, relations among statistical agencies in the 
country and other important aspects of official statistics. 

VII.5. Public relations 

During 2010, on public relations the Bank of Albania focused principally 
on restructuring current tools and establishing new communication methods, 
which contribute to accomplishing the long-term goal for an environment 
of well-informed stakeholders capable of understanding central bank 
decision-making and of making rational decisions on economic and financial 
matters. 

A number of tools have contributed in communication, to mention a few: 
direct communications of the Governor in press conferences, interviews and 
speeches on issues that require public attention, periodic and non-periodic 
publications on the work and decisions of the Bank of Albania, the official 
website, which provides real time information on the Bank of Albania’s 
activity and policies, and financial literacy for the public aiming to develop 
the economic and financial literacy of the Albanian society. 

•	 Publications of the Bank of Albania 
The publications of the Bank of Albania continued, even in 2010, to inform 

the public on most recent developments in the Albanian and world economy 
and financial system. 

This year has introduced some changes to the set of periodical publications 
of the Bank of Albania. More specifically, the Monetary Policy Statement, once 
part of the Economic Bulletin, was published separately as the “Monetary Policy 
Report”, quarterly. As a result of the restructuring of the Economic Bulletin, 
a new title was added to this set: “The Bulletin of the Bank of Albania”. This 
publication comes to the public semi- annually and its introductory editorial, 
dedicated to the most important project or activity of the Bank of Albania for 
that reporting period is a novelty. 

Similarly, during 2010, the Financial Stability Report changed its frequency 
of publication, from once to twice a year, while the Monthly Statistical Report 
is set to be redesigned to a new more user-friendly and attractive format. 

•	 Relations with the media 
In line with the established and positive experience, the communication 

of the central bank with media outlets continued to be direct and intensive. 
Thus, new initiatives have been taken to enhance transparency and public 
awareness on the role of the Bank of Albania and the banking system in the 
country’s economy. 
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The hallmark of communication continued to be the regular monthly press 
conference of the Governor at the conclusion of each Supervisory Council 
meeting, where the economic and financial grounds for the monetary policy 
decisions have been directly transmitted to the media and the public. Starting 
from July 2010, this event was joined by simplified presentations of various 
periodic reports on monetary policy, financial stability, statistics, banking 
supervision, etc., which serve to orientate the media towards a correct reading 
of the Bank of Albania decisions and activities and help them convey the right 
message to the public. 

•	 Financial literacy 
Given the overall economic climate and the ever-growing complexity of 

financial markets, the Albanian banking system and its products for Albanian 
citizens, the importance of financial literacy is increasing year after year. 

In this context, in March 2010, the Bank of Albania organised an international 
discussion panel on responsible finance, in cooperation with the KfW 
Entwicklungsbank and the European Fund for Southeast Europe (EFSE). In this 
panel, representatives from the financial sector and the Albanian government, 
donor agencies, international financial institutions and microfinance practitioners 
in Albania, appealed for higher efforts to promote responsible finance practices 
and principles in Albania. As the Governor of the Bank of Albania stated, 
responsible finance is the best term to bring together under one name the 
multifaceted efforts of the Bank of Albania over the past three-four years on 
banking and financial supervision, monetary policy and public education.

Efforts of the Bank of Albania in this regard, have aimed to equal those of 
the most committed central banks on financial literacy, and to move forward 
in accordance with the developments and needs of the public. 

A good part of our attention was committed to awareness-raising 
programmes, which have resulted successful during the pilot phase, thus 
paving the way for further development. 

Established in 2007 to promote the creation of economic and financial 
literacy in the Albanian society, “The central bank in our daily life” programme 
took place in 2010 in the districts of Durrës, Berat and Fier. Thanks to Regional 
Departments of Education and the commitment of the Bank of Albania staff 
members from various departments, training workshops were organised for 
high-school teachers of economics, as per the following table:

Table 15 Training workshops with high school teachers of economics
Time period Description of the workshop Participation

29 March – 2 April 2010 Training workshop on finance, economy and banking for high school 
teachers of Durrës

High school teachers 
(30)

26 – 30 April 2010 Training workshop on finance, economy and banking for high school 
teachers of Berat

High school teachers 
(30)

24 – 28 May 2010 Training workshop on finance, economy and banking for high school 
teachers of Fier

High school teachers 
(33)

Source: Bank of Albania

Similar to workshops in previous years, participating teachers in these 
districts learned about not only the functions and role of the central bank and 
the Albanian banking and financial system, but also about other topics such 
as public finances and state budget. 

 
From the experience of the Bank of Albania and that of other central banks, the 
teacher training workshops have proven to be a very effective tool to improve 
teaching quality, with a positive impact on educating the new generation. 
The direct contact with high-school teachers draws their attention on various 
educational brochures and materials of the Bank of Albania, which may come 
to their help during their teaching process.

In 2010, the series of lectures by the Governor of the Bank of Albania 
in universities continued with “POLIS” University in Tirana and South East 
Europe University of Tetovo, FYROM. Furthermore, in a slight deviation from 
the classical line of this type of events, in his lecture at the “POLIS” University 
in Tirana, Governor Fullani introduced the project for the reconstruction of 
the central building of the Bank of Albania, which intertwines the current 
architecture with modern architecture. In addition to preserving architectural, 
historical and cultural values, it will provide multifunctional solutions in 
accordance with the needs of the Bank of Albania.

Meetings of the Governor with high-school students in various cities 
continued to be at the core of activities dedicated to the young generation. The 
Governor met with high school students of Berat, Gjirokastra and Shkodra.

In one of these meetings, the Governor launched one of the main projects 
in education, i.e. education through the website of the Bank of Albania. 
Taking advantage of the latest developments in the field of communications 
technology and taking into account that young people are main users of 
this technology, the Bank of Albania has been working to introduce soon a 
complete informative platform on central banking, which will be fully internet 
accessible. 

A major educational project is the compilation of an elective course module 
on personal finances for which, during 2010, the Bank of Albania worked 
closely with the Institute for Educational Development (IED), in the framework 
of a Memorandum of Cooperation signed with the Albanian Ministry of 
Education and Science. Representatives from the Bank of Albania, IED and 
teachers of economics joined forces to draft this text. The module will be 
included in the teaching curriculum of 2011-2012 school year, equipping 
high school students with knowledge and skills on topics such as money 
management, budget drafting, achievement of financial objectives, prudent 
credit use, investments, savings, insurance and taxes. 
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24 – 28 May 2010 Training workshop on finance, economy and banking for high school 
teachers of Fier

High school teachers 
(33)

Source: Bank of Albania

Similar to workshops in previous years, participating teachers in these 
districts learned about not only the functions and role of the central bank and 
the Albanian banking and financial system, but also about other topics such 
as public finances and state budget. 

 
From the experience of the Bank of Albania and that of other central banks, the 
teacher training workshops have proven to be a very effective tool to improve 
teaching quality, with a positive impact on educating the new generation. 
The direct contact with high-school teachers draws their attention on various 
educational brochures and materials of the Bank of Albania, which may come 
to their help during their teaching process.

In 2010, the series of lectures by the Governor of the Bank of Albania 
in universities continued with “POLIS” University in Tirana and South East 
Europe University of Tetovo, FYROM. Furthermore, in a slight deviation from 
the classical line of this type of events, in his lecture at the “POLIS” University 
in Tirana, Governor Fullani introduced the project for the reconstruction of 
the central building of the Bank of Albania, which intertwines the current 
architecture with modern architecture. In addition to preserving architectural, 
historical and cultural values, it will provide multifunctional solutions in 
accordance with the needs of the Bank of Albania.

Meetings of the Governor with high-school students in various cities 
continued to be at the core of activities dedicated to the young generation. The 
Governor met with high school students of Berat, Gjirokastra and Shkodra.

In one of these meetings, the Governor launched one of the main projects 
in education, i.e. education through the website of the Bank of Albania. 
Taking advantage of the latest developments in the field of communications 
technology and taking into account that young people are main users of 
this technology, the Bank of Albania has been working to introduce soon a 
complete informative platform on central banking, which will be fully internet 
accessible. 

A major educational project is the compilation of an elective course module 
on personal finances for which, during 2010, the Bank of Albania worked 
closely with the Institute for Educational Development (IED), in the framework 
of a Memorandum of Cooperation signed with the Albanian Ministry of 
Education and Science. Representatives from the Bank of Albania, IED and 
teachers of economics joined forces to draft this text. The module will be 
included in the teaching curriculum of 2011-2012 school year, equipping 
high school students with knowledge and skills on topics such as money 
management, budget drafting, achievement of financial objectives, prudent 
credit use, investments, savings, insurance and taxes. 
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VII.6. European Integration and cooperation 

•	 European Integration 
After its ratification by all European Union (EU) Member States, the 

Stabilisation and Association Agreement (SAA), entered into force on 1 April 
2009, paving the way for Albania to submit its application to the EU for the 
status of a candidate country. Albania eventually submitted its application for 
EU membership on 28 April 2009 and conform to procedures established in 
the EU Treaty, the European Commission (EC) handed a Questionnaire to the 
Albanian authorities to assess the country’s capacities to meet the membership 
requirements. 

Based on the answers to the Questionnaire by the Albanian authorities, on 
9 November 2010, the EC published its Opinion on Albania’s application for 
EU membership. The EC appraised the achievements of Albania over the past 
12 months, but as concerns opening membership negotiations, it underlined 
the need for reforms and fulfilment of accession criteria, especially the political 
criterion. In addition, the Opinion clearly emphasised the country’s European 
perspective. 

Contribution of the Bank of Albania to answers to the 
Questionnaire 

The Questionnaire consisted of 2,284 questions, divided into 33 chapters 
of the acquis communautaire and 2 chapters addressing in particular the 
Copenhagen criteria (Political criterion and Economic criterion)

In accordance with the established inter-institutional structure, the Bank of 
Albania was assigned as the coordinating institution for answering questions 
on:

•	 Chapter 4 “Free movement of capital”, which addresses issues related 
to the legislative and regulatory framework of: short- and long-term 
capital movements, existing restrictions and definition of different 
types of capital movements; payment services, especially cross-border 
payments, payment services market and electronic money institutions; 
anti-money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism as 
well as inter-institutional cooperation in this field. 

•	 Chapter 17 “Economic and monetary policy”, which addresses issues 
related to the legislative and regulatory framework of: independence 
of central banks, prohibiting direct financing of the public sector by 
the central banks; prohibiting privileged access of the public sector to 
financial institutions; drafting and implementation of monetary policy 
and the exchange rate; compliance with provisions of the EU Treaty 
taking into consideration the perspective of the Euro adoption. 

In addition, the Bank of Albania was a contributing institution for formulating 
answers to the following Chapters: 
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•	 Chapter on “Economic criteria” 
•	 Chapter 9 “Financial services” 
•	 Chapter 3 “Right of establishment and freedom to provide services” 
•	 Chapter 28 “Consumer and public health protection” 
•	 Chapter 32 “Financial control” 
•	 Chapter 20 “Enterprise and industrial policy” 

After submitting its answers to the Questionnaire in April 2010, the Bank of 
Albania engaged in formulating answers to Additional Questions sent by the 
EC and met with an EC Fact-finding Mission addressing issues on answers of 
the Questionnaire. 

Subsequent to the publication of the EC Opinion on Albania’s bid for EU 
membership, the Bank of Albania continuously attends the inter-institutional 
work on EC recommendations, so that Albania may be granted the candidate 
country status, opening the way for EU membership negotiations. 

		
Conform to the SAA implementation process, the Bank of Albania has 

contributed to the revision of the SAA National Plan Implementation (SAANPI) 
for 2010 – 2014. In the narrative section of the SAANPI, the contribution of the 
Bank of Albania consisted in the description of macroeconomic developments 
during 2009, inflation and monetary policy, and the performance of banking 
and external economy sectors. Moreover, priorities and measures taken 
in the field of macroeconomic stability, free movement of capital, right of 
establishment, and freedom to provide services. 

In this context, the following are realised: stipulation of legal and regulatory 
initiatives, implementation activities for the realisation of these initiatives, 
required technical assistance and expected costs in the framework of the 
process for the approximation of the national legislation with the acquis. 

The Bank of Albania has been in constant contact with the Ministry of 
European Integration, to which it forwards monthly progress reports, to 
describe the progress on the realisation of legal measures and implementation 
of activities, in compliance with the timeline laid down in the SAANPI. In 
addition, legal and regulatory acts approved by the Supervisory Council of the 
Bank of Albania are accompanied by a description on the act’s compliance 
with the EU legislation.

On 9 November 2010, the EC published its Analytical Report on Albania, 
with an Opinion of the EC on Albania’s application. These two documents 
describe the country’s progress and its challenges during 30 October 2009 
– 1 November 2010, outlining the EC approach to lead and support our 
country in the future. The Analytical Report describes the Albania-EU relations, 
analyses the progress made on political, economic, legal and accession 
criteria (Copenhagen criteria), and presents a summary of the EC assessment 
on priorities and problematic issues in 33 areas divided according to the 
acquis communautaire. 
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On issues related to the activity of the Bank of Albania, the EC in its 
Analytical Report found that: “Appropriate fiscal and monetary policies have 
been the main anchors of the policy mix and have underpinned the relative 
macroeconomic stability in Albania. The monetary policy framework has 
anchored inflation expectations, despite the limitations arising from significant 
euroisation. The flexible exchange rate has supported adjustment to external 
shocks.”

During 2010, the Bank of Albania drafted and presented the required 
information in periodic Albania – EU meetings. Thus, the Stabilisation and 
Association Committee addressed all the achievements with regard to SAA 
implementation status, one year after its entry into force. 

This meeting aggregated all the issues discussed on technical level at 
joint sub-committees both on economic criteria and European standards. In 
compliance with the recommendations of the Sub-Committee on Economic 
and Financial matters and Statistics, it was reported about measures taken on 
prudential monitoring of non-performing loans and measures taken to reduce 
the use of cash in the economy. 

In the second meeting of the EU-Albania Sub-Committee on Economic and 
Financial matters and Statistics, the Bank of Albania reported on issues such 
as overall economic development and its perspective, inflation and monetary 
policy, external sector, relations with international financial institutions, and 
developments and reforms in the banking financial sectors. 

At the conclusion of the Sub-Committee on Economic and Financial matters 
and Statistics meetings, the delegation of the EC appraised the work done in the 
banking sector stating that economic data of the Albanian economy are optimistic. 
In addition, the delegation from the EC underlined that, in relation to inflation and 
monetary policy, good governance of the Bank of Albania is worth noting. 

In the second meeting of the Sub-Committee on Internal Market and 
Competition, the Bank of Albania reported on improvements to the regulatory 
framework of the banking system and capital movement. At the conclusion 
of this meeting, the delegation from the EC welcomed the developments in 
the legal and regulatory framework as well as the increased administrative 
capacities of the Bank of Albania. 

Year 2010 marked the beginning of the implementation of a twinning 
project of the Bank of Albania with one or two central banks of the ESCB 
funded by the EU Instrument for Pre-Accession Assistance (IPA) 2008, which 
aims to strengthen institutional capacities in six areas of the Bank of Albania 
divided into six modules: banking supervision and financial stability, statistics, 
payment systems, interbank money market, financial literacy and coordination 
of the European integration process. 

After the twining banks were selected, namely the Bank of Italy and Bank 
of France, the contract was signed in October, marking the beginning of 
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the twinning project implementation. During this period, representatives of 
the Bank of Albania had a number of preliminary meetings with experts of 
the Bank of Italy and the Bank of France to draft Development Plans for the 
implementation of each module. The Resident Twinning Advisor, whose main 
duty is to coordinate Project activities over the 18 months of the Projects 
implementation span, participated in all these meetings. 

Meetings for drafting Development Plans for each module (implementation 
of Component I of the Project), including those taking place at the end of 2010, 
aimed to assess the existing situation in terms of the regulatory framework, 
infrastructure, human resources and to conduct an analysis on required 
improvements in order to further adopt European standards for each module. 

•	 INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION
The Republic of Albania is a member of the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) from October 1991. Its quota during 2010 remained unchanged to 
the amount of 48.7 million SDR, likewise its votes (737 votes or 0.03% of 
total votes of all IMF members). Albania is in the same constituency with Italy, 
Greece, Portugal, Malta, San Marino and Timor-Leste. This constituency has 
a total of 90.968 votes (or about 4.1% of total votes of all IMF members) and 
is presided by the Italian representative Mr. Arrigo Sadun, who serves as the 
Executive Director of this constituency. 

During February – March, an IMF mission held consultations with Albanian 
authorities in the framework of Article IV of the Fund’s Articles of Agreement. 
On the basis of the assessments of the mission, the IMF Executive Board, on 
24 May 2010, concluded its consultations in the framework of Article IV of 
the Fund’s Articles of Agreement. According to the assessment, the strong 
stimulus of economic policies provided buffers that have helped to cushion 
the impact of the global crisis and have enabled Albania to handle the crisis 
very well. Both the mission and the Executive Board commended the work of 
the Bank of Albania on monetary policy, anchoring of inflation expectations, 
and maintaining financial and macroeconomic stability.

Furthermore, in 2010, respectively in July and November, Albania was 
visited by two IMF missions to discuss with Albanian authorities recent economic 
development in the country, their perspective in the near and distant future, 
and the role of structural and macroeconomic policies to promote and ensure 
sustainable development.

The Governor of the Bank of Albania represented regularly the Republic of 
Albania in the decision-making of the Board of Governors, the highest body 
of the IMF. Important events in our relations with the IMF in this year were 
the spring and annual meetings of the IMF and the World Bank, organised 
respectively in April and October, where the delegation of the Bank of Albania, 
chaired by the Governor, met with senior IMF officials. These meetings focused 
on recent macroeconomic developments and measures taken by the Bank of 
Albania to minimise global crisis effects. 
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 During the meetings, very good relations between the IMF and Albanian 
authorities were noted and the work by the Bank of Albania in the management 
of the situation created by the crisis effects was commended. High IMF 
representatives stated their readiness to continue with technical assistance 
projects for the Bank of Albania.

During 2010, Albania paid to the IMF about 8.1 million SDR for its dues 
(principal payments, interests, periodic expenses, etc.) arising from earlier 
agreements PRGF and PRGF/EFF.

The Bank of Albania continued in 2010 to benefit from the IMF technical 
assistance on staff training with consultancy in areas such as monetary policy 
and banking supervision.

•	 Relations with the World Bank Group 
Albania is a member of the World Bank Group since 1991 and has 

benefited from this institution a total of USD 1.4 billion through 68 projects. 
On 15 July 2010, the Board of Directors of the World Bank Group approved 
the new three-year partnership strategy with Albania, which will focus on three 
strategic objectives, namely: (i) supporting a recovery in Albania’s growth 
rates through improved competitiveness, (ii) broadening and sustaining 
social gains by improving education and health services, and (iii) reducing 
vulnerability to climate change.

In an official visit in January, the Vice President of the World Bank for Europe 
and Central Asia Region, Mr. Philippe Le Houérou met with the Governor of 
the Bank of Albania and discussed on Albania’s macroeconomic situation 
and future cooperation projects.

Even during 2010, the cooperation between the Bank of Albania and the 
World Bank Group continued under the agreement “On foreign reserve 
investment management and consulting”, signed in September 2005. This 
consultation and technical assistance is materialised through visits of the World 
Bank Treasury experts and participation of the Bank of Albania staff members 
in workshops organised by the World Bank abroad. The World Bank experts’ 
assistance over the years has been very useful contributing to a higher level 
of activities realised by the Bank of Albania on foreign reserve management. 
During 2010, the Bank of Albania was visited by three World Bank missions, 
which focused on issues such as negotiation of contracts for foreign reserve 
management, use of covered forwards for short-term instruments portfolio 
management and the internal audit function.

In addition, during 2010, the World Bank provided technical assistance in 
the framework of a Contingency Planning and Crisis Simulations project. The 
World Bank mission met and discussed intensively with representatives from 
the Bank of Albania and other institutions such as the Ministry of Finances, the 
Financial Supervisory Authority and the Deposit Insurance Agency.
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In meetings the Bank of Albania delegation had with high representatives 
of the World Bank Group during the Annual and Spring Meetings of the 
IMF and the World Bank Group, it addressed extensively the country’s 
macroeconomic developments, banking and financial system developments 
and measures taken by the Bank of Albania to maintain macroeconomic 
stability. On their side, World Bank representatives stated their support for the 
steps made by the Bank of Albania and offered their assistance on financial 
infrastructure improvement. In all the meetings, the interlocutors appraised 
the very good cooperation between the two institutions and discussed on 
further intensification of this cooperation in the future.

The World Bank has continuously stated its readiness to assist the Bank of 
Albania in implementing projects on the eventual consolidation, modernisation 
and stability of the Albanian banking system.

•	 Relations with other International Financial Institutions 
The Bank of Albania during 2010 continued to be in regular contacts 

with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), mainly 
with regard to providing information and statistics on the development of 
the Albanian economy in general, and the financial sector in particular. In 
its Transition Report 2009, the EBRD commended the developments and 
appropriate regulation of the financial sector and monetary interventions 
that contributed to buffering global crisis effects. The report assessed as very 
positive the monetary policy framework of the Bank of Albania in relation 
to keeping inflation within the target range and strengthening of banking 
supervision.

The Bank of Albania continued to keep close relations with the Bank 
for International Settlement (BIS) during 2010. The Governor of the Bank 
of Albania participated at the BIS 80th Annual Meeting in June in Basel, 
Switzerland. In the meetings with BIS and BIS member banks representatives 
it was highlighted the importance of strengthening the cooperation between 
the Bank of Albania and other central banks on areas of mutual interest. 
The BIS has been particularly active in providing technical assistance to the 
Bank of Albania through workshops and training sessions organised by the 
Financial Stability Institute, which promotes international financial stability 
through information exchange and cooperation in the area of financial system 
supervision. 

•	 Relations with central banks and technical cooperation 
Following the intensification of bilateral relations with other central banks, 

during 2010, upon the invitation of the Governor of the Bank of Albania, 
official visits were paid to Albania by the Governor of the National Bank of 
Serbia, former Governor of the National Bank of Switzerland and the Deputy 
Governor of the National Bank of Sweden. On the other hand, the Governor 
of the Bank of Albania paid official visits to the Bank of Greece, Bank of 
Russia and the Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo. 
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Furthermore, the Governor of the Bank of Albania participated in many 
international conferences, summits, and regional workshops, of particular 
importance the second summit of Ministers of Finances and Central Bank 
Governors of South Eastern European countries, Regional Conference on 
Finances and Investments for South East Europe organised by Euromoney, 
conference on Responsible Finances organised by KfW Entwicklungsbank, 
EFSE and the Bank of Albania, a discussion table on “Strengthening Domestic 
Anchors to Assist with Crisis Exit Strategies” organised by Centre of Excellence 
in Finance and the International Monetary Fund, round table on “Economic 
and political challenges of regional cooperation” organised by the University 
of Oxford and the Bank of Albania, sixth Euro-Mediterranean seminar of 
Eurosystem and the Mediterranean Central Banks, high-level seminar on 
“Strengthening of micro- and macroprudentional supervision” in the framework 
of the Europrogramme, etc.

These meetings, visits, and conferences have served not only to exchange 
experiences, economic developments analysis, or measures taken in the 
context of global financial crisis, but also to the consolidation and further 
development of the increasing technical cooperation between the Bank of 
Albania and its counterparts.

On the regional level, it is worth noting the participation in the meetings 
of Central Banks Governors’ Club of Central Asia, Black Sea Region and 
Balkan Countries. These meetings aim to strengthen the ties between central 
banks of the region and promote regional cooperation through exchanging 
best experiences and addressing current issues in round tables at governor or 
expert level. Likewise, it is worth highlighting meetings in the framework of the 
multilateral Memorandum of Understanding, which aims to enhance further 
cooperation in the area of banking supervision in South Eastern Europe and 
maintaining of financial stability in the region, meetings in the framework of 
the Cooperation Process in South Eastern Europe, a forum for diplomatic 
and political dialogue among states. This year, the panel of Central Bank 
Governors and Banking Sector Regulators focused on the discussion of 
macroeconomic indicators and financial sector developments in a setting 
influenced by the crisis.

In May, the Governor of the Bank of Albania participated in the 17th meeting 
of central banks governors of francophone countries, which concentrated 
on political challenges to and reformation of the agenda after the crisis, 
experiences of certain countries and stimulating measures taken as a result 
of the crisis, strategies to be used in crisis exit, maintaining of central bank 
independence in the future, and economic development of member states.

In December, at the presentation of the first stability report of the Central 
Bank of the Republic of Kosovo (CBRK), the Governor of the Bank of Albania 
paid an official visit and delivered a speech at the conference organised on 
that occasion. In the meetings with the management of the CBRK, excellent 
cooperation between the two institutions was appraised and readiness to take 
this technical cooperation further was confirmed. 
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As in previous years, during 2010, in light of coordination of technical 
assistance, a priority was the provision of technical expertise for the CBRK by 
the Bank of Albania. Hence, some working visits have taken place by CBRK 
and the Bank of Albania staff, focusing on areas such as internal control, 
payments systems, supervision, administration, etc.

During 2010, the Bank of Italy, National Bank of Bulgaria, Central Bank of 
the Republic of Turkey, Bank of France and Centre of Excellence in Finance 
(CEF) were the main providers of technical assistance to the Bank of Albania, 
mainly through study visits and internships. 

Moreover, in the context of the cooperation protocol with the National 
Bank of Serbia, in 2010 were organised reciprocal study visits and internships, 
which served to exchange the experiences on issues of mutual interests in 
various fields of central banking.

VII.7. Main developments in banking legislation 
during 2010

In 2010, the Bank of Albania continued its work to review and revise the 
legislative and regulatory framework in compliance with the EU legislation 
and recent dynamics in country. Following is a summary of most important 
banking-related legal initiatives during 2010. 

I.	L egal acts on payment systems 

To ensure security and efficiency of its payment systems, at the end of 
2010, the Bank of Albania finalised a draft law “On payment systems”, which 
is sent to the Ministry of Finance for review. This draft law provides for a 
full harmonisation with core principles of EU directives on payment systems, 
in particular with Directive 98/26/EC “On settlement finality in payment 
and securities settlement systems”, Directive 2002/47/EC “On financial 
collateral arrangements” as well as with Basel Committee “Core principles 
for systemically important payment systems”.

II.	I mprovement of supervision regulatory framework of bank and 
non-bank institutions activity

New regulatory acts on banking supervision approved by the Supervisory 
Council of the Bank of Albania in 2010 are as follows:

1.	 Regulation No. 25, dated 24.03.2010 “On risk management in the 
activity of non-bank financial institutions”. 

This regulatory act sets out the rules for the management of risk in the 
activity of non-bank financial institutions for a safe and stable financial activity 
by these institutions. More specifically, this regulation specifies the criteria for 
the risk management by non-bank institutions and imposes the obligation for 
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these institutions to draft methods and procedures to identify and monitor all 
risks in compliance with internal acts of the institutions and regulatory acts 
of the Bank of Albania. The regulation specifies the indicators of exposure to 
risk/s, and permissible maximum exposure rates that these institutions shall 
abide by. 

In addition, the regulation envisages risk management rates as regards 
open foreign exchange positions, liquidity risk and credit risk. On the latter, 
the regulation defines the criteria on loan classification, obligation to establish 
reserve funds to cover potential losses from loans, loans restructuring and 
loan write-off, laying down special regulation for micro-credit and leasing 
financial institutions. The regulation stipulates reporting and supervision 
obligations on non-bank institutions, when they fail to meet the requirements 
of this regulation.

2.	 Regulation No. 48, dated 14.07.2010 “On open foreign exchange 
positions risk management” 

This regulation abrogates and supersedes the previous regulation “On 
open foreign exchange positions”, approved by Decision No. 59, dated 
05.05.1999 of the Supervisory Council, amended, and methodological 
instruction “On risks from foreign exchange” dated 26.06.1999. The scope 
of this regulation is to set out the rules and criteria for the calculation, 
monitoring, reporting and supervision of the banks’ open foreign exchange 
positions, in order to manage the foreign exchange risk by banks licensed 
by the Bank of Albania to exercise their banking and financial activity in the 
Republic of Albania. This sub-legal act regulates the methodology for defining 
open foreign exchange positions, permissible limits, and the risk management 
arising from open foreign exchange positions. On the latter, the regulation 
envisages the obligation of the banks to establish a management system for 
the exchange rate risk to which it is exposed during its activity, to identify, 
measure, monitor and control this risk. Furthermore, the regulation imposes 
an obligation on banks to draft necessary policies and policies to manage the 
foreign exchange risk.

As regards open foreign exchange positions risk management, the regulation 
sets out the responsibilities of the Steering Council and the Directorate on 
drafting the policy on foreign exchange risk management, develop and 
implement the procedures for the identification, measuring, monitoring and 
control of foreign exchange risk of the bank in line with foreign exchange risk 
management policy; envisaging the establishment of a special structure such 
as the Committee/unit for risks management, which will be responsible to 
implement the above-mentioned system and policies. Further, the regulation 
sets out monitoring, reporting and supervisory requirements on banks 
concerning observance of obligations arising from this regulation.

3.	 Regulation No. 67, dated 13.10.2010 “On information content and 
functioning of Credit Registry at the Bank of Albania”. 
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This regulation supersedes the previous regulation “On functioning of the 
Credit Registry at the Bank of Albania” approved by Decision No. 38, dated 
18.07.2007, amended, of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. 
The scope of this regulation is to set out the information content, principles 
and rules on the functioning of Credit Registry at the Bank of Albania, as 
well as the terms and conditions to get informed and to use the information 
managed in it. The regulation envisages that the Credit Registry kept and 
administered by the Bank of Albania, functions as a system that handles and 
distributes, centrally, information on borrowers, persons related to them and 
guarantors of the credit agreement, for supervision and optimum credit risk 
management by banks and non-bank financial institutions. This regulation, 
in contrast to the previous regulation, expands the circle of data reports, 
including not only banks and branches of foreign banks, but also non-bank 
financial institutions licensed by the Bank of Albania, as well as other financial 
institutions based on agreements concluded between the Bank of Albania with 
them or their supervisory authorities.

In addition to the above stated, the regulation sanctions core principles, 
based on which the Credit Registry functions, such as:

- 	 processing and protection of its data/information, in compliance with 
the legislation in force on personal data and professional and banking 
secrecy.

- 	 function as a public service that handles and disseminates information 
on credit risk and does not contain analysis and estimations regarding 
the credit risk of borrowers.

- 	 Bank of Albania shall not be held responsible for the way the information 
from the Credit Registry is used and assessed.

The Regulation also defines the Credit Registry information content, 
envisaging that the data/information with regard to the identity, credit balance 
and credit exposure of all data reporters’ borrowers, for their related persons 
as well as the guarantors, are reported, retained and processed at the Credit 
Registry

This information is set out in accordance with the criteria and categories 
on credits, other assets and off-balance sheet items, as stipulated in the 
regulations on credit risk management by the Bank of Albania.

Next, the Regulation envisages the Credit Registry functioning, stipulating 
that this Register aims to ensure a concentration of information/data with 
regard to the credit exposure of borrowers, their related persons and of credit 
guarantors; supporting the realisation of supervisory and regulatory function 
of the Bank of Albania; and the use and/or publication of information from 
this register by the Bank of Albania for research, statistical and other purposes 
related to its supervisory process.

Moreover, the Regulation defines the timeline and periodicity of data 
reporting to the Credit Registry, responsibility of data reporters regarding 
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the accuracy of information reported to the Registry, processing terms and 
methodology for the information retained at the Registry and the core principles 
on which the right to acknowledge and review Registry data/information is 
exercised.

Finally, the Regulation stipulates data reporters’ obligations stemming from 
their participation in the Credit Registry system, as well as penalties by the 
Bank of Albania on data reporters in the event of breach of provisions of this 
Regulation. 

4.	I nstruction No. 68, dated 13.10.2010 “On the issue procedure of the 
Borrower’s Report and the data review retained at the Credit Registry”, 
which supersedes the instruction “On issue procedure of borrower’s 
report and review of data retained at the Credit Registry” approved 
by Decision No. 71, dated 18.07.2007, amended of the Supervisory 
Council of the Bank of Albania. This instruction sets out the procedure 
for the issue of the borrower’s report and the data review retained at 
the Credit Registry.

More specifically, this Instruction specifies procedural rules on exercising 
the right to acknowledge and/or review the information retained at the 
Credit Registry, as envisaged in the Regulation “On information content 
and functioning of the Credit Registry at the Bank of Albania”, approved by 
Decision No.67, dated 13.10.2010 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank 
of Albania. This right may be exercised as the case may be by the borrowers, 
persons related to them or their heirs, another person authorised in writing, 
and other entities with the right to request a borrower’s report to meet a legal 
obligation or based on a court decision.

In contrast to the previous Instruction, which allowed for the possibility 
to request and receive a report only from the Head Offices of the Bank of 
Albania, this Instruction provides for the possibility to request, supporting 
documentation and receive the borrowers report not only at the Head Offices 
of the Bank of Albania but also at the nearest branch of the Bank of Albania, 
where the entity has submitted the request.

The Regulation provides that the Bank of Albania keep a register where it 
evidences all submitted requests for borrowers’ reports and data review, and 
the respective measures in the event of failure to address a request for data 
review.

5.	I nstruction No. 70, dated 13.10.2010 “On the functioning of the 
Credit Registry at the Bank of Albania” supersedes Instruction “On 
internal rules for the functioning of the Credit Registry at the Bank 
of Albania” No. 41, dated 27.05.2009, of the Supervisory Council 
of the Bank of Albania. The purpose of this instruction is to set out 
in a harmonised way the functions, duties and internal operational 
procedures that are carried out and realised by certain organisational 
units of the Bank of Albania, for the administration, functioning, 
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“Design used for the 500-Lek banknote, issue of 1992”
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Supervisory Council of 
The Bank of Albania

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Bank of 
Albania (“the Bank”), which comprise the statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2010, the separate income statement, the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements in accordance with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania as disclosed in Note 2 (a) 
to the financial statements, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

KPMG Albania Sh.p.k., an Albanian limited liability company and a member firm of the KPMG network of 
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International cooperative (‘KPMG International’), a Swiss entity.
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requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2010, and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the accounting policies adopted by the Supervisory Council 
of the Bank of Albania as disclosed in Note 2 (a) to the financial statements.

KPMG Albania sh.p.k.
“Dëshmorët e Kombit” Blvd.
Twin Towers Buildings,
Building 1, 13th floor
Tirana, Albania

KPMG Bulgaria OOD
45A, Bulgaria Boulevard 
Sofia 1404
Bulgaria 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 December 
2010 

(amounts in Lek million, unless otherwise stated)

Notes 31 December 2010 31 December 2009
ASSETS
Assets denominated in foreign currencies
Gold and precious metals 5 10,155 7,324
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund 6 15,751 14,737
Deposits with non resident banks 7 31,637 47,113
Available for sale investments 8.1 203,336 154,488
Held for trading investments 8.2 12,566 11,365
Other foreign assets 9 1,183 1,196
Total assets denominated in foreign currencies 274,628 236,223

Domestic assets
Gold and precious metals 5 4,926 3,477
Transit credits 10.1 15 46
Loans to resident banks 10.2 12,520 32,326
Available for sale investments 11 63,630 76,589
Other domestic assets 12 9,229 4,927
Total domestic assets 90,320 117,365
Total Assets 364,948 353,588

LIABILITIES
Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
Due to the International Monetary Fund 13 20,516 20,452
Due to non-resident financial institutions 14 1,256 1,279
Total liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 21,772 21,731

Domestic liabilities 
Currency in circulation 15 202,359 216,739
Due to resident banks 16 80,815 68,075
Due to the Government 17 11,600 13,355
Other domestic liabilities 18 1,279 1,140
Total domestic liabilities 296,053 299,309

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Capital 2,500 2,500
Legal reserve 19 11,697 9,994
Revaluation reserve 20 15,310 2,399
Property revaluation surplus 1,868 1,907
Other reserves 21 15,748 15,748
Total capital and reserves 47,123 32,548
Total liabilities, capital and reserves 364,948 353,588

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part 
of the financial statements set out on pages 169 to 205. 



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

164 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 165

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

164 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 165

Separate income statement for the year ended 31 
December 2010

(amounts in Lek million, unless otherwise stated) 

Notes Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Operations with non-residents
Interest and commission income 22 4,499 5,169
Interest and commission expense 23 (2,461) (1,792)

Operations with non-residents, net 2,038 3,377

Operations with residents
Interest and commission income 24 6,736 7,134
Interest and commission expense 25 (1,625) (1,713)

Operations with residents, net 5,111 5,421

Other operating income, net 26 1,353 2,848
Net trading income 27 220 138
Profit/ (Loss) from exchange rate 13,043 20,668

Total income from Banking activities 21,765 32,452

Other administrative expenses
 Personnel expenses 28 (945) (893)
 Depreciation 12 (163) (159)
 Amortization 12 (274) (279)
 General and administrative expenses (565) (500)
Total other administrative expenses (1,947) (1,831)

Net income from Banking activities 19,818 30,621

Profit distribution as of 31 December 2010:

Notes Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Net income from Banking activities  19,818  30,621

Transfer (to)/ from revaluation reserve  (13,043)  (20,668)
Profit before distribution  6,775  9,953
Provisions 18  (1)  (78)
Net profit before allocation 6,774  9,875
Allocation of profit
Reversal of property revaluation surplus  39  40
Distribution of profit to Legal Reserve (1,703) (2,479)
Distribution of profit to Albanian Government (5,110) (7,436)

Total  6,774 9,875
	

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part 
of the financial statements set out on pages 169 to 205. 
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STATEMENT OF comprehensive income for the year 
ended 31 December 2010 

(amounts in Lek million, unless otherwise stated)

Notes Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Net income from Banking activities 19,818 30,621

Other comprehensive income/(deficit):
Property revaluations (39) (40)
Available for sale financial assets (60) (2,270)
Other comprehensive income for the year (99) (2,310)
Total comprehensive income/(deficit) for the year 19,719  28,311

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part 
of the financial statements set out on pages 169 to 205. 
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statement OF cash flowS for the year ended 31 
December 2010 

(amounts in Lek million, unless otherwise stated)

Notes Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

Cash flows from operating activities

Net profit before allocation 6,774 9,875

Non-cash items in the statement of operation
Interest and commission income (non-residents) 22 (4,499) (5,169)
Interest and commission expense (non-residents) 23 2,461 1,792
Interest and commission income (residents) 24 (6,736) (7,134)
Interest and commission expense (residents) 25 1,625 1,713
Net trading income 27 (220) (138)
Profit from sale of available for sale investments 26 (1,321) (2,771)
Provision for doubtful loans 1 80
Depreciation and amortization 12 437 438

 
Cash flow before the movement of working capital (1,478) (1,314)

Changes in working capital
Increase in accounts with the IMF 6 (1,012) (7,826)
Increase in international quotas 9 (16) (14)
Decrease in transit loans 10.1 31 23
Decrease in Government Loan 10.3 - 3,000
Increase in other domestic assets (270) (205)
Increase in due to the IMF 62 7,581
(Decrease)/Increase in due to financial institutions 14 (24) 101
Decrease in other foreign liabilities - (261)
Increase in due to resident Banks 16 12,736 283
Decrease in due to the Government (1,929) (8,436)
Increase/ (Decrease) in other domestic liabilities 18 139 (417)
Purchase of held for trading securities (in foreign currency) (31,986) (41,811)
Sale of held for trading securities (in foreign currency) 31,763 41,889

Cash flows generated from/ (used in) operations 9,494  (6,093)

Interest received 5,585 6,514
Interest paid (1,675) (1,789)

Net cash generated from/ (used in) operating activities 11,926 (2,682)
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Notes Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment 12 (4,461) (221)
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (9) (395)
Purchase of available for sale investments (in foreign currency) (367,942) (376,526)
Purchase of available for sale investments (domestic assets) (157,505) (192,884)
Sale and maturity of available for sale investments
(in foreign currency) 323,291 367,921

Sale and maturity of available for sale investments 
(domestic assets), including discounts 175,928 196,278

Increase in repurchase agreements 19,706 (12,191)
Adjustment for effect of foreign exchange 7,155 5,402

Net cash used in investing activities (3,837) (12,616)

Cash flows from financing activities

(Decrease)/Increase in money in circulation emissions (6,000) 16,000
Distributed profit (4,936) (6,741)

Net cash generated from financing activities (10,936)  9,259

Decrease in cash during the year (2,847) (6,039)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 29 75,843 81,882

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 29 72,996 75,843
									       

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part 
of the financial statements set out on pages 169 to 205. 

The financial statements were authorised by the Supervisory Council on 10 
March 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Ardian Fullani

Governor

Elsa Bizhga

Deputy Director of Accounting 
and Finance Department
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2010

(amounts in Lek million, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 GENERAL 

The Bank of Albania (the ‘Bank’) is the Central Bank of the Republic of 
Albania and was established according to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 
December 1997 ‘On the Bank of Albania’. 

Under the terms of its charter the Bank’s main responsibilities are:

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the monetary policy of Albania, 
which shall be consistent with its primary objective;

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the foreign exchange arrangement 
and the exchange rate policy of Albania;

•	 issuing or revoking of licenses and supervising banks that engage in 
the banking business in order to secure the stability of the banking 
system;

•	 holding and managing its official foreign reserves;
•	 acting as banker and adviser to, and as fiscal agent of, the Government 

of the Republic of Albania;
•	 promoting an effective operation of payments system.

The Bank is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Parliament of the 
Republic of Albania and the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

2.	b asis of preparation

(a)	S tatement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies adopted in the Bank’s Accounting Manual approved from 
the order No.50 of the Council of Ministers, dated 26 January 2001 and 
other policies approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

These accounting policies are broadly in line with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) approved by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (‘IASB’).

(b)	 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for the following:
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•	 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured 
at fair value 

•	 available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value 
•	 gold is measured at fair value 
•	 buildings are measured at revalued amount.

(c)	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Albanian Lek (‘LEK’), which 
is the Bank’s functional currency. Except as indicated, financial information 
presented in LEK has been rounded to the nearest million.

(d) 	U se of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical 
judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are described in Note 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements. The most significant exception 
from IFRS is explained below:

IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’

Interest income and expenses on financial assets and liabilities are recognized in 
profit or loss on an accrual basis, calculated on the straight line method (see Note 
3.a). This method is not in accordance with IAS 39, which requires the calculation 
on an effective interest basis. Additionally, borrowings from international financial 
institutions are recognized at cost rather than fair value as required by IAS 39.

a. 	I nterest and commission recognition

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss on an accrual 
basis. Interest income and expense include the interest earned on coupons, 
as well as the amortization of any discount or premium or other differences 
between the initial carrying amount of an interest bearing instrument and its 
amount at maturity calculated on a straight line basis.
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Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are 
considered to be incidental to the Bank’s trading operations and are presented 
together with all other changes in the fair value of trading assets and liabilities 
in net trading income.

Fee and commission income and expenses arise on financial services 
provided by the Bank and are recognized when the corresponding service is 
provided. Other operating income/expense includes gains and losses arising 
from disposals and changes in the fair value of available for sale assets.

b. 	F oreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at the reporting date. Some non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are initially recognized in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise, and are then transferred to ‘Revaluation reserves’ in capital 
and reserves, according to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On 
the Bank of Albania’.

The Bank during the normal course of business enters into foreign exchange 
transactions with settlement dates 1 or 2 days after the trade date. These 
transactions are recorded in the financial statements on the settlement date. 
Foreign currency differences are recognised in profit or loss on the settlement 
date.

The applicable official Bank rate (LEK to the foreign currency unit) for the 
principal currencies as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as below:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
United States dollar (USD) 104.00 95.81
European Union currency unit (EUR) 138.77 137.96
British pound (GBP) 161.46 154.64
Special Drawing rights (SDR) 160.16 149.65
Japanese yen (JPY) 1.2790 1.0372
Gold (‘XAU’) per 1 onz 146,666.00 105,774.24

c.	N et trading income

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets 
and liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, 
interest, and foreign exchange differences.

d.	L ease payments made

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
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recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

e.	T axation and Profit distribution policy of the Bank

The Bank is not subject to income tax based on the law ‘On the Bank of 
Albania’. 

The Bank’s policy of distribution of profit from banking operations is defined 
in the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’. According to this law, the Bank allocates 
all the realized profit to the State Budget after having fulfilled its requirement 
for reserve fund as required from the Supervisory Council of the Bank. 

According to Article 64, point (a) of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, 
the net gain / losses arising from the revaluation of assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, is transferred to the equity to a revaluation 
reserve account ‘Revaluation reserves’. According to Article 64, point (b), 
the Government of Albania issues debt securities at market interest rates to 
cover any negative balance of the revaluation reserve arising from the Bank’s 
activity. 

According to the requirements of Article 9 of the Law ‘On the Bank of 
Albania’, the Bank sets aside 25 per cent of the net profit for the year into a 
Legal Reserve until the reserve amounts to 500% of the capital (see accounting 
policy 3.f). 

According to Article 11 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ no transfer, 
redemption or payment under Articles 8, 9 or 10 of this law shall be made 
if the assets of the Bank are less than the sum of its liabilities and paid-
up capital. If such conditions arise, based on the ‘On the Bank of Albania’ 
under article 7, the Ministry of Finance might have to transfer interest bearing 
negotiable government securities to the Bank, in such amount as would be 
necessary to remedy the deficiency.

f. 	L egal reserve

Subsequent to the allocation of reserves as required by the Law ‘On the 
Bank of Albania’ (see accounting policy 3.e), the Bank stipulates the remainder 
to be paid into the State Budget.

g. 	F inancial assets and liabilities

(i) Recognition

All financial assets held-to-maturity, or financial assets available-for-sale 
are initially recognised on the settlement date. The investments held-for-
trading are accounted for on the trade date. The Bank initially recognises 
loans and advances, deposits, and financial liabilities on the date at which 
they are originated.
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A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at cost. The initial 
cost of financial assets approximates their fair value.

(ii) Classification	

See accounting policies 3(h), (i), (j) and (k).

(iii) Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
are discharged or cancelled or expire. The Bank writes off certain loans and 
investment securities when they are determined to be uncollectible (see note 
4).

(iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in 
the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a legal 
right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by 
the accounting policies of the Bank, or for gains and losses arising from a 
group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.

(v)	F air value measurement

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a 
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction on the measurement date. When available, the Bank measures 
the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for 
that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily 
and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

For investments traded in organized financial markets, fair value is 
determined by reference to stock exchange quoted market bid prices at the 
close of business on the reporting date. For investments where there is no 
quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined 
by reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is 
substantially the same.
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(vi)	I dentification and measurement of impairment

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. 
Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a 
loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the 
loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be 
estimated reliably.

Financial assets, other than those ‘Held for trading’, are assessed for indicators 
of impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of 
the investment have been impacted. For financial assets carried at amortized 
cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, as follows:

•	F or loans originated by the Bank – the recoverable amount of 
originated loans is calculated based on the year-end evaluations of 
loans, including the accrued interest. In determining the recoverable 
amounts of loans to employees, management considers particular 
factors, including the review of repayment history of the debt by its 
former employees. The provision for impairment losses on loans 
is reported in profit or loss as a charge and is deducted from the 
relevant asset category in the statement of financial position. When 
it is determined that a loan cannot be recovered, all the necessary 
legal procedures have been completed and the final loss has been 
determined, the loan is written off.

•	F or financial assets held to maturity – the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount either directly or 
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss 
is included in profit or loss. 

•	F or financial assets available for sale –when a decline in the fair value 
of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognized directly 
in other comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that 
the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognized 
directly in other comprehensive income shall be removed from other 
comprehensive income and recognized in profit or loss even though 
the financial asset has not been derecognized.

(vii)	S ecurities lending agreements

Investments lent under securities lending agreements are reported in 
the statement of financial position and are valued in accordance with the 
accounting policies applicable to assets held for trading and assets available-
for-sale. Investments lent under securities lending agreements continue to be 
recognized in the Bank’s statement of financial position. The Bank receives 
cash or securities collateral for such lendings. Income arising from the 
securities lending agreements is reported as interest income.
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h. 	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand and current 
accounts and time deposits with original maturities of less than three months. 
These assets are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial 
position.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Bank includes gold and 
precious metals as part of cash and cash equivalents (See accounting policy 
3.m).

i. Trading assets and liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank 
acquires or incurs principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-
term profit or position taking.

Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognised at cost and subsequently 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position with transaction 
costs taken directly to profit or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised 
as part of net trading income in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are 
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

j. Available for sale investments

Investment securities are initially measured at cost. Available-for-sale 
investments are subsequently carried at fair value. Interest income is recognised 
in profit or loss on an accrual basis. 

Fair value changes are recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
until the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and 
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised 
in profit or loss.

k. Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the 
Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. 

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into 
an agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed 
price on a future date (“reverse repo”), the arrangement is accounted for as 
a loan or advance, and the underlying asset is not recognised in the Bank’s 
financial statements.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.
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l. Derivatives held for risk management purposes 

Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets 
and liabilities that are not classified as trading assets or liabilities. Derivatives 
held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the statement 
of financial position.

m.	 Gold and other precious metals

Gold and other precious metals are valued at market value based on the 
official London Bullion Market price at the reporting date. This valuation is in 
line with local legislation.

n. 	P roperty and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, except for land and buildings, 
which are stated at revalued amount, calculated using the replacement cost 
method. 

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is 
credited in other comprehensive income to the property revaluation reserve, 
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset 
previously recognized in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited 
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease 
in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings 
is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, 
held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation 
of that asset. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. 

(ii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Land 
and work in progress are not depreciated.
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The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as 
follows:

•	 Buildings, Head Office			  40 years
•	 Buildings, branches			   25 years
•	V ehicles				    5 - 10 years
•	F urniture, fixtures and equipment	  3 - 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at 
the reporting date.

o.	I ntangible assets

(i)	P rinting and minting costs

The costs of printing banknotes and minting coins are capitalized as 
intangible assets and amortized over 2.5 years and 10 years, respectively.

(ii)	S oftware

Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 
All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available for use. 
The estimated useful life of software is two years.

p.	I mpairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
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determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.

q. 	 Grants

Grants are recognised initially as deferred income when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the Bank will comply with the conditions 
associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Bank for expenses 
incurred are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same 
periods in which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the 
Bank for the cost of an asset are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the useful life of the asset.

r.	 Borrowings from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

The borrowings of the Government of the Republic of Albania from the IMF 
are undertaken through the Bank and are shown on the statement of financial 
position of the Bank. The interest on these borrowings is paid directly by the 
Bank. Borrowings from the IMF are denominated in Special Drawing Rights. 
Borrowings from IMF are initially measured at cost.

s. 	 Repurchase agreements 

When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into 
an agreement to repurchase the asset (or a similar asset) at a fixed price 
on a future date (“repo”), the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, 
and the underlying asset continues to be recognised in the Bank’s financial 
statements.

Repurchase agreements are included in ‘Due to domestic Banks’. Based on 
the Bank’s regulation on repurchase agreements, the Bank is not required to 
put up any collateral for these securities.

Interest earned on reverse repurchase agreements and interest incurred on 
repurchase agreements is recognized as interest income or interest expense, 
over the life of each agreement using the interest rate approved by the 
Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

t.	P rovisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a 
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation.

u.	E mployee benefits
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(i)	D efined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due.

The Bank makes compulsory social security contributions that provide 
pension benefits for employees upon retirement. The local authorities are 
responsible for providing the legally set minimum threshold for pensions in 
Albania under a defined contribution pension plan. 

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Bank is 
demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to 
a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary 
redundancies are recognised if the Bank has made an offer of voluntary 
redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus 
if the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

v.	 Comparative information

When necessary, comparative figures are reclassified for the purposes of 
comparability. The Bank has not reclassified comparatives in these financial 
statements.

4.	U se of estimates and judgements

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial risk management 
(see note 33).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Allowances for credit losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluated for impairment on a 
basis described in accounting policy 3(g)(vi). 

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment 
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applies to financial assets evaluated individually for impairment and is based 
upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that 
are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management 
makes judgements about the counterparty’s financial situation and the net 
realisable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed 
on its merits, and an estimate of cash flows considered recoverable are 
independently approved. 

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for 
which there is no observable market price requires the use of valuation 
techniques. For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little 
price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees 
of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market 
factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. 
See also “Valuation of financial instruments” below.

Accounting judgements in applying the Bank’s accounting policies

Accounting judgements made in applying the Bank’s accounting 
policies include:

Printing House

At 31 December 2007 the Bank controlled the operations of the Printing 
House. The activity of the Printing House was terminated on 30 September 
2008, based on the Decision of the Council of Ministers No.598 dated 5 
September 2007 ‘On the termination of the economic and financial activities 
of the Printing House of the Bank of Albania’, amended by Decision No. 862 
dated 18 June 2008. 

According to points 7 and 8 of Decision No. 598, the inventory and intangible 
assets of the Printing House were transferred to the Ministry of Finance, and 
the machinery used in the printing of fiscal stamps was transferred to the 
Tax Office. According to point 10 of the same decision the ownership of the 
Buildings of the Printing House was transferred to the Bank.

Following termination, the Bank has included in ‘Other domestic liabilities’ 
(see Note 18) an amount of LEK 227 million (2009: LEK 239 million), 
which represents other transfers between the Bank and Printing House upon 
termination. These transfers were based on the above mentioned decisions. The 
Bank has not yet taken a decision on the settlement of the total liabilities.

Valuation of financial instruments

The Bank measures fair values using the following hierarchy of methods:
•	L evel 1: Quoted market price in an active market for an identical 

instrument.
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•	L evel 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This 
category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices 
in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other 
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly 
observable from market data.

•	L evel 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. 
This category includes all instruments where the valuation technique 
includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable 
inputs could have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices 
for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments 
or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the 
instruments. 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in 
active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
For all other financial instruments the Bank determines fair values using 
valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value and 
discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which 
market observable prices exist and other valuation models. The objective of 
valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the 
price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been 
determined by market participants acting at arm’s length. 

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining 
the fair value of common and more simple financial instruments that use 
only observable market data and require little management judgment and 
estimation. Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the 
market for listed securities, exchange traded derivatives like interest rate futures 
and simple over the counter derivatives. Availability of observable market 
prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and 
estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination 
of fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies 
depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on 
specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. 

Balances with Banks

The fair value of these instruments is based on the Level 2 method described 
above. 

Investment securities 

Fair value of investment securities is based on market prices or broker/
dealer price quotations. The fair value of these instruments is based on the 
Level 1 method described above. Where this information is not available, fair 
value has been estimated using the Level 2 method described above.
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5.	 GOLD AND PRECIOUS METALS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Gold – foreign 10,155 7,324
Gold and precious metals - domestic 4,926 3,477
Total 15,081 10,801

As at 31 December 2010, the value of gold owned by the Bank placed 
in gold time deposits and current accounts abroad was LEK 10,155 million 
(2009: LEK 7,324 million). 

Other gold and precious metals included within domestic assets include 
non-monetary gold, platinum and silver held in a domestic vault, valued at 
the London fixing rate on the reporting date, amounting to LEK 4,926 million 
as at 31 December 2010 (2009: LEK 3,477 million).

The total increase of LEK 4,280 million compared to prior year (2009: LEK 
3,074 million) results from the revaluation of gold and precious metals and is 
recorded in the revaluation reserve. 

6.	A CCOUNTS WITH THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY 
FUND

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Quotas in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 7,624 7,191
Special Drawing Rights (SDR) holdings 8,122 7,543
Accrued interest 5 3
Total 15,751 14,737

Accounts (Quotas) with the IMF resulted from the membership of the Republic 
of Albania in the IMF, according to Law No.8269 dated 23 December 1997 
‘On the Bank of Albania’. These deposits have as counterparty accounts due 
to the IMF (see Note 13).

The Republic of Albania’s quotas in the IMF are LEK 7,624 million or SDR 
49 million at 31 December 2010. LEK 536 million or SDR 3 million of the 
Republic of Albania’s quotas in the IMF represents the reserve tranche held 
with the IMF. The IMF pays remuneration (interest) to those members who 
have a remunerated reserve tranche position at 0.23% annual floating interest 
rate.

The Special Drawing Rights (SDR) holdings represent deposits placed with 
the International Monetary Fund. The SDR holdings bear interest, which is 
determined on a weekly basis. The annual interest rate prevailing as at 31 
December 2010 was 0.3% (2009: 0.23%).

An amount of LEK 7,439 million or SDR 46 million included in SDR Holdings 
represents the amounts acquired through the SDR allocations at 31 December 
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2010 (see Note 13). The SDR allocations represent amounts received from 
IMF, the purpose of which was the timely response to the current and longer 
term needs for liquidity of the member countries. The amount of holdings in 
excess of allocations was LEK 683 million or SDR 4 million at 31 December 
2010.

7.	DEPOSITS  WITH NON RESIDENT BANKS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Current accounts 25,350 38,953
Short-term deposits 6,201 8,146
Future contracts 81 11
Accrued interest 5 3
Total  31,637 47,113

Short-term deposits and current accounts earn interest at rates mostly 
based on the currency of the deposit or current account. The interest rate of 
overnight deposits is 0.56%. 

8. Investments in foreign currency

8.1 	AVAILA BLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS 

The portfolio of available for sale investments in foreign currency is 
accounted for at market value as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Foreign Government treasury notes 148,500 122,083
Bank for International Settlements (BIS): 
medium-term investments 2,186 7,311

Agencies treasury bills 39,378 14,120
Agencies notes 13,272 10,974
Total 203,336 154,488

Foreign Government treasury notes have coupon rates varying between 
0.375% and 9% (2009: 0.875% and 8%). Interest is paid semi-annually (USD 
and GBP) and annually (EUR) and maturities vary between January 2011 and 
June 2021. The yields vary between 0.39% and 4.14% (2009: 0.364% and 
5.166%).

Bank for International Settlements – medium term investments comprised 
of fixed coupon securities denominated in EUR with coupon rates varying 
between 0.62% and 3.8% (2009: 2.75% and 5.85% for USD, EUR, GBP). 
Interest is payable annually for investments in EUR and maturities range 
between September 2012 and December 2013. The yields vary between 
0.832% and 1.261% (2009: 2.94% and 5.88%). 
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Agencies notes are denominated in USD, GBP and EUR with coupon rates 
between 1.125% and 5.5% (2009: USD and EUR 0.585% and 5.375 %). 
Interest is paid annually and semi-annually and maturities range between 
February 2011 and September 2013. The yield is between 0.56% and 2.8% 
(2009: 0.42% and 3.15%).

Agencies Treasury Bills are denominated in EUR, GBP and JPY with yields 
that vary between 0.11% and 2.2% (2009: 0.27% and 1%) and maturities 
vary between February 2011 and November 2011.

8.2. 	HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS

Held for trading portfolio in foreign currency measured at market value is 
presented as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Government treasury notes 7,239 3,141
Agencies notes 5,327 8,109
Government treasury bills - 115
Total 12,566 11,365

Government treasury notes, denominated in USD, have coupon rates 
varying between 0.375% and 2.375% (2009: 0.875% and 4.75%). Interest 
is paid semi-annually and maturities range between November 2011 and 
November 2017.

Agencies notes are denominated in USD with fixed coupon rates varying 
between 0.625% and 5.875% (2009:0.645% and 5.875%) and floating 
rates varying between 0.49% and 0.57% (2009: 0.55% and 0.56%). Interest 
payments vary from quarterly to annual, and maturities range between March 
2011and July 2013.

Held for trading investments are administrated by International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) as stated in the agreement ‘On 
the administration and technical assistance on investing the foreign reserve 
of Bank of Albania (Reserves and Advisory Management Program) signed 
between Bank of Albania and IBRD on 23 September 2005. Investments from 
this portfolio are accounted for on the trade date.

9. Other assets (in foreign currency)

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Quotas in international financial institutions
International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development subscriptions (IBRD) 361 358

International Development Agency subscriptions 
(IDA) 13 12
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Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency 
subscriptions (MIGA) 6 6

International Finance Corporation subscriptions 
(IFC) 76 71

European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development subscriptions (EBRD) 61 56

Islamic Development Bank subscriptions (IDB) 24 22
Total Quotas 541 525

Cash on hand in foreign currency 642 671
Total other assets in foreign currency 1,183 1,196

Quotas in international financial institutions comprised subscriptions for 
participation of the Bank of Albania in these institutions (see Note 30). 

10.	LOANS  DISBURSED TO THIRD PARTIES

10.1. TRANSIT CREDITS

The total of LEK 15 million (2009: LEK 46 million) represent credits for 
services provided to the former Italian-Albanian Bank (now part of Intesa 
SanPaolo Bank) for further distribution to ultimate borrowers to support 
state development programs. This loan has not been guaranteed by any 
collateral.

10.2.  LOANS TO RESIDENT BANKS

Loans to resident banks represent reverse repurchase agreements signed 
between the Bank of Albania and second-tier banks in amount of LEK 12,520 
million with maturing terms between one week and three months (2009: LEK 
32,326 million). On 31 December 2010, the annual interest rates of reverse 
repurchase agreement vary from 5% to 5.44% (2009: 5.25% to 6%).

10.3.  LOANS TO ALBANIAN GOVERNMENT

The loan to Albanian Government was repaid at the end of 2009. 

11.	A vailable for sale investmentS (domestic assets)

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Short-term treasury bills 63,630 76,589
Total 63,630 76,589

Short-term treasury bills as at 31 December 2010 relate to Government of 
Albania zero-coupon treasury bills, with short-term maturity, ranging between 
January - December 2011, with yields varying between 5.17% and 8.99% 
(2009: 5.61% and 9.3%).
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12. OTHER DOMESTIC ASSETS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Property and equipment, net 7,123 2,825
Intangible assets, net 156 421
Loans to employees 1,755 1,500
Other debtors 4 80
Numismatic 40 39
Inventory 73 40
Other 78 22
Total 9,229 4,927

At 31 December 2010, as part of property and equipment the Bank has 
included within the category ‘Land, buildings and general constructions’, the 
value of the Printing House building. The revaluation method used was the 
replacement cost method which shows a revalued amount of the building 
of LEK 234 million, from a net book value of LEK 4 million. The revaluation 
increase of LEK 230 million was credited directly to the Revaluation reserve. In 
this category is also included the value of the branch buildings reconstructed 
in 2008 with a value of LEK 176 million.

Based on the Decision No.40, dated 16 June 2010 of the Supervisory 
Council and on the Agreement, dated 27 September 2010 with the Ministry 
of Finance, pursuant to Articles 7 and 8 of the Regulation No.103, dated 
28 December.2005 “On authorized signatures and payment thresholds” 
the Bank purchased a new property, including the building and land, which 
were previously used by ‘Dajti’ Hotel. The cost was LEK 4,068 million (the 
equivalent amount of EUR 30 million). 

Loans to employees is net of provision for legal claims of LEK 13 million at 
31 December 2010 (2009: LEK 13 million).

The total amount of registered collateral for long term loans extended to 
employees is Lek 2,057 million at 31 December 2010 (2009: LEK 1,747 
million). At 31 December 2010, commitments for loans to employees (in 
accordance with the Regulation on Loans No. 77, dated 25 October 2006) 
amount to LEK 162 million (2009: Lek 167 million). 
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The net book values of property and equipment by category at 31 December 
2010 are comprised of:

Land, buildings 
and general 

constructions

General 
equipment

Transport 
vehicles

Work in
Progress Total 

Cost / Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2010 2,436 949 186 176 3,747
Additions 4,133 246 - 127 4,506
Disposals (7) - - (38) (45)
Balance at 31 December 2010 6,562 1,195 186 265 8,208
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2010 101 686 135 - 922
Charge for the year 56 91 16 - 163
Balance at 31 December 2010 157 777 151 - 1,085

Net carrying amount 
Balance at 31 December 2010 6,405 418 35 265 7,123
Balance at 31 December 2009 2,335 263 51 176 2,825

The net book values of property and equipment by category at 31 December 
2009 are comprised of:

Land, buildings 
and general 

constructions

General 
equipment

Transport 
vehicles

Work in
Progress Total 

Cost / Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 2,382 855 253 36 3,526
Additions 54 145 2 140 341
Transfers - (51) (69) - (120)
Balance at 31 December 2009 2,436 949 186 176 3,747

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2009 45 650 186 - 881
Charge for the year 56 85 18 - 159
Transfers - (49) (69) - (118)
Balance at 31 December 2009 101 686 135 - 922

Net carrying amount 
Balance at 31 December 2009 2,335 263 51 176 2,825
Balance at 31 December 2008 2,337 205 67 36 2,645

	
The net book values of intangible assets by category at 31 December 2010 

are comprised of:
Computer 

software
Banknotes printed
and coins minted

Total intangible
Assets

Cost / Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2010 383 3,096 3,479
Additions 8 1 9
Balance at 31 December 2010 391 3,097 3,488

Accumulated amortization
Balance at 1 January 2010 372 2,686 3,058
Charge for the year 12 262 274
Balance at 31 December 2010 384 2,948 3,332

Net carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2010 7 149 156
Balance at 31 December 2009 11 410 421
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The net book values of intangible assets by category at 31 December 2009 
are comprised of:

Computer 
software

Banknotes printed
and coins minted

Total intangible
assets

Cost / Valuation
Balance at 1 January 2009 377 2,707 3,084
Additions 6 389 395
Balance at 31 December 2009 383 3,096 3,479

Accumulated amortization
Balance at 1 January 2009 352 2,427 2,779
Charge for the year 20 259 279
Balance at 31 December 2009 372 2,686 3,058

Net carrying amount
Balance at 31 December 2009 11 410 421
Balance at 31 December 2008 25 280 305

13.	DUE  TO THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

SDR Allocations 7,439 6,951
Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (‘PRGF’) 4,666 5,549
IMF securities account 6,113 5,786
IMF account in LEK 2,290 2,160
Accrued interest 8 6
Total 20,516 20,452

PRGF borrowings relate to the Republic of Albania’s IMF quotas and were 
drawn down on behalf of the Government for macroeconomic reforms. These 
loans consist of the following component facilities: 

•	T he loan ‘Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility 2’ was approved 
based on the agreement dated 13 May 1998 for an amount of SDR 
45,040,000 and was drawn down during the period 1999 to 2001. 
The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2010 was SDR 1,411,500 
(2009: SDR 4,956,700), equivalent of LEK 226 million (2009: LEK 
742 million). This facility is repayable by 2011 in 10 semi-annual 
installments commenced in 2004. Interest is payable semiannually at 
the rate of 0.5% p.a.

•	T he loan ‘Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility 3’ was approved 
based on the agreement dated 21 June 2002, for an amount of SDR 
28,000,000 and the last disbursement was effected on 20 June 2005. 
The balance as of 31 December 2010 is SDR 19,200,000 (2009: 
SDR 23,600,000), equivalent of LEK 3,075 million (2009: LEK 3,532 
million), with an interest rate of 0.5% p.a payable semi-annually. This 
facility is repayable after a grace period of five and a half years in 10 
semi-annual equal installments. 

•	T he loans ‘Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility 4 (PRGF 4)’ and 
‘Extended Fund Facility’ were approved based on a three year 
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agreement signed on 27 January 2006 for the amount of SDR 
17,045,000 at an interest rate of 0.5%, payable semi-annually. The 
balance as of 31 December 2010 is SDR 8,522,500 (2009: SDR 
8,522,500), equivalent of LEK 1,365 million (2009: LEK 1,275 
million). This facility is repayable after a grace period of five and a 
half years in 10 semi-annual equal installments.

The IMF accounts represent liabilities towards Albania’s participation in the 
IMF. As at 31 December 2010, these liabilities amount to LEK 8,403 million 
or SDR 54 million (as at 31 December 2009: LEK 7,946 million or SDR 54 
million). Liabilities related to Albania’s IMF quota are non-interest bearing 
with no stated maturity. These liabilities include No.1 and No.2 accounts 
and the securities account, where non-interest bearing and non-negotiable 
promissory notes are deposited. Balances in these accounts are created by 
the payment of the national currency component of the quota subscription 
and purchases of the Fund’s resources in exchange for domestic currency. 

Included in the IMF accounts is the loan ‘Extended Fund Facility’ (EFF) of 
LEK 1,316 million (2009: LEK 1,257 million). The loan was disbursed during 
the period 2006 – 2009. As at 31 December 2010, the balance is SDR 
8,421,042 (2009: SDR 8,522,000). The facility is repayable after a grace 
period of four and a half years and will be repaid within 10 years. The interest 
on these loans is floating and payable quarterly. As at 31 December 2010 the 
annual interest rate was 1.32% (2009: 1.24%).

14.	DUE  TO NON-RESIDENT FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Transit credits 15 46
Loan from the Republic of Greece 1,222 1,215
Due to the World Bank 13 13
Accrued interest 6 5
Total 1,256 1,279

Transit credits of LEK 15 million (2009: LEK 46 million) or EUR 0.1 million 
(2009: EUR 0.3 million) represents the outstanding loan extended by the 
European Investment Bank (Note 10.1). Interest is paid by the recipients of 
these transit credits (Banks and domestic companies) directly to the providers 
of the funds.

The loan from the Republic of Greece in amount of LEK 1,222 million 
(2009: LEK 1,215 million) or EUR 8.8 million (2009: EUR 8.8 million) was 
granted for the purpose of funding the balance of payments of the Republic 
of Albania. The interest rate is 1.17% per annum, payable semi-annually. The 
loan matures in 2018.

Due to the World Bank represents amounts owing to international 
organizations such as International Bank for Reconstruction and Development 



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

190 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 191

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

190 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 191

(IBRD), International Development Agency (IDA) and Multilateral Investment 
Guarantee Agency (MIGA).

15.	 Currency in circulation

The exclusive rights of issuing Albanian currency are vested with the Bank. 
This item comprises valid domestic banknotes and coins in circulation issued 
by the Bank. 

The following Bank notes and coins were in circulation as at 31 December 
2010 and 2009:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Nominal value LEK Number in 
thousand

Total LEK 
(million)

Number in 
thousand

Total LEK 
(million)

100 3,426 343 3,536 354
200 11,274 2,255 12,043 2,409
500 45,271 22,636 56,156 28,078
1,000 64,031 64,031 78,000 78,000
2,000 12,303 24,606 9,284 18,568
5,000 17,128 85,640 17,345 86,725
Coins 2,848 2,605

202,359 216,739

16.	DUE  TO RESIDENT BANKS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Foreign currency 
Compulsory reserve and current accounts 36,565 29,258

Domestic currency (LEK)
Compulsory reserve and current accounts 43,568 37,141
Overnight deposits 651 1,648

Accrued interest 31 28
Total 80,815 68,075

Interest on compulsory reserves is calculated as follows:

•	LEK  balances: 70% of the yield on the repurchase agreements: 3.5% 
as at 31 December 2010 (2009: 3.675%);

•	USD  balances: 70% of the Federal Bank rate: 0.09% as at 31 
December 2010 (2009: 0.09%);

•	EU R balances: 70% of the Central European Bank rate: 0.7 % as at 
31 December 2010 (2009: 0.7%).

Overnight deposits from domestic banks bear annual interest of 3.25% 
(2009: 3.5%).
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17.	DUE  TO THE GOVERNMENT

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Profit to be distributed to the Government 2,610 2,436
Deposits received on behalf of the Government 8,966 10,897
Other 24 22
Total 11,600 13,355

Deposits received on behalf of the Government in the amount of LEK 8,966 
million, comprise the main account of LEK 938 million, international donor 
funds deposited at the Bank for subsequent transfer to aid projects in Albania 
of LEK 2,351 million, an amount of LEK 3,066 million representing a reserve 
fund account of the government on behalf of the Social Insurance Institute 
and Health Insurance Institute and funds for other financing activities in the 
amount of LEK 2,611 million.

‘Other’ comprises funds received by the Bank of LEK 24 million (2009: LEK 
22 million) from a loan granted to the Government by the Islamic Development 
Bank.

18.	OTHE R DOMESTIC LIABILITIES

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Deposits of individuals from the participation in 
Treasury Bills 610 693

Net Pension fund obligation 23 13
Due to non banks financial institutions 258 1
Due to third parties 227 239
Other 161 194
Total 1,279 1,140

The net pension fund obligation relates to the pension plan scheme, which 
is based on employee contribution of 2% on gross salary and employer 
contribution of 15% on the total payroll amount. On 31 December 2010 the 
amount of pension funds assets invested in treasury bills maturing within 12 
months, is LEK 148 million (2009: LEK 231 million) and the amount invested 
in Albanian Government bonds maturing within 5-7 years, is LEK 621 million 
(2009: LEK 469 million). 

Total amount of contributions paid by the Bank’s employees till 31 
December 2010 is LEK 64 million (2009: LEK 53 million) and the total 
amount of contributions paid by the Bank till 31 December 2010 is LEK 444 
million (2009: LEK 431 million). The total amount of interest earned on this 
investment till 31 December 2010 is approximately LEK 301 million (2009: 
LEK 231 million). 

Payments effected by this Fund in 2010 amount to LEK 15 million (2009: 
LEK 2 million).
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The movements in such contributions and changes in net assets available 
for pension fund benefits are as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Assets at 1 January 713 574

Income from investment
Interest 70 59
Net income from investment 70 59
Employees contribution 11 10
Employer contribution 83 72
Reserves used (70) -
Total contribution 24 82
Payment to pensioners (15) (2)
Net increase 79 139
Assets at 31 December 792 713
Liabilities at 31 December (769) (700)
Net Pension fund obligation 23 13

Balances due to third parties of LEK 227 million (2009: LEK 239 million) 
represent the capital, reserves and retained earnings from the activity of the 
printing house following its closure. The decrease in these balances at 31 
December 2010 represents an amount of LEK 12 million, which was paid by 
the Bank for various expenses related to the printing house.

‘Other’ includes accrued expenses of LEK 44 million (2009: LEK 40 million), 
which relate to a variety of services provided to the Bank. In addition, this 
item includes provisions for litigations incurred in the normal course of the 
business. Movements in the provisions for litigations are as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Balance at the beginning of the period 108 39
Additional provision for the period 1 78
Provision reversal for the period (39) (9)
Difference from revaluations 3 -
Balance at the end of the period 73 108

The additional provision of LEK 1 million (2009: LEK 78 million) was 
accounted as a reduction from the profit. 

19.	LE GAL Reserve

According to the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, at the end of each financial 
year the Bank shall allocate an amount equivalent to 25 percent of the net 
profits for that year to the general reserve until the General Reserve Fund 
amounts to 500 percent of the paid-up capital of the Bank of Albania.

In 2010 the Bank transferred an amount of LEK 1,703 million to the legal 
reserve (2009: LEK 2,479 million).
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20.	 Revaluation reserve

The components of the revaluation reserve are as follows:
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Revaluation/(devaluation) of foreign currency 
and gold balances 14,841 1,798

Security revaluation reserve 586 646
Other (devaluations)/revaluations (117) (45)
Total 15,310 2,399

During 2010, the net gain arising from the revaluation of foreign currency 
and gold balances was LEK 13,043 million (2009: net gain of LEK 20,668 
million).

The revaluation of securities at market value during the year ended 31 
December 2010 resulted in a loss of LEK 60 million (2009: loss of LEK 2,270 
million). 

In accordance with the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ Article 64, point 
(a), the net gain / losses arising from the revaluation of assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies, is transferred to equity to a revaluation 
reserve account ‘Revaluation of foreign currency balances’.

21.	O ther reserves

The components of other reserves are as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Special reserve for Balance of Payments 7,209 7,209
Reserve of gold and precious metals 7,042 7,042
Investment fund 301 301
Other 1,196 1,196
Total 15,748 15,748

The special reserve for the Balance of Payments relates to funds provided 
by the European Community as financial assistance to support Albania in 
its transition towards a market economy. These funds have been transferred 
during the period 1992 – 1993 supporting the long-standing of the Balance 
of Payments and reserve balance and no movement has been incurred in this 
reserve since 1995.

Investment fund consists of a fund created at the decision of Supervisory 
Council with the aim of purchasing a new building for the Bank of Albania.

‘Other’ includes reserves created from the allocation of profits for years 
2002 - 2007 based on the Supervisory Council decisions in the respective 
following years. 
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22.	I nterest and commission income (non - 
residents) 

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Interest income from securities 4,353 4,797
Interest income from time deposits 67 165
Interest from SDR deposits with IMF 24 9
Interest from “ Security Lending” 7 10
Other (discounts) 48 188
Total 4,499 5,169

23.	I nterest and commission expense (non -
residents)

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Amortization of premium on securities 2,353 1,685
Interest expenses on loans from foreign institutions 14 14
Interest expenses on IMF accounts 40 54
Other 54 39
Total 2,461 1,792

24.	I nterest and commission income (residents) 
Year ended

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009

Interest income from securities 5,433 5,310
Interest income from Government loans 19 131
Income from repurchase and reverse 
repurchase agreements 1,207 1,624

Other 77 69
Total 6,736 7,134

25.	I nterest and commission expense (residents) 
Year ended

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009

 Interest expense on compulsory reserve 1,540 1,622
 Interest expenses on Government deposits 56 62
 Other 29 29
Total 1,625 1,713

26.	O ther operating income, net
Year ended

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009

Net profit from the sale of available for sale 
investments 1,321 2,771

Other 32 77
Total 1,353 2,848
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27.	 net trading income

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Interest income from trading assets 196 239
Gains less loss related to sale of trading assets 74 75
Unrealized fair value changes (50) (176)
Total 220 138

28.	PE RSONNEL EXPENSES

Personnel expenses consist of employee salaries, social insurance, pension 
plan contribution and other costs.

Social costs represent mainly compulsory contributions to the Social Security 
Fund. As at 31 December 2010, the Bank had 481 employees (2009: 448 
employees). 

29.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Deposits with foreign banks (Note 7) 31,632 47,110
Domestic currency on hand 25,641 17,261
Foreign currency on hand (Note 9) 642 671
Gold held abroad (Note 5) 10,155 7,324
Gold and other precious metals held 
domestically (Note 5) 4,926 3,477

Total 72,996 75,843

30.	 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(i) 	P articipation in International Financial Institutions

In the past the Republic of Albania has subscribed to a number of 
subscriptions in International Financial Institutions, including International 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (‘IBRD’), International Development 
Agency (‘IDA’), Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (‘MIGA’), 
International Finance Corporation (‘IFC’), European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (‘EBRD’) and Islamic Development Bank (‘IDB’). As detailed 
in Note 9, “Other Assets (in foreign currency)” the Bank has paid an amount 
of LEK 541 million (2009: Lek 525 million).

The total amount paid in subscriptions confirmed by IBRD, MIGA, EBRD, 
IDA and IFC as at 31 December 2010 was LEK 1,061 million (2009: LEK 
1,004 million) out of which LEK 517 million (2009: LEK 503 million) was 
paid by the Bank of Albania and is included in the statement of financial 
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position as part of Other foreign assets of LEK 541 million (Note 9). The 
difference of LEK 537 million (2009: LEK 495 million) paid by the Albanian 
Government and LEK 7 million (2009: LEK 6 million) paid in subscriptions in 
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, supported by promissory notes, 
are not included in the Bank’s statement of financial position.

The total amount of callable subscriptions to support the Republic of 
Albania, confirmed by IBRD and MIGA as at 31 December 2010 was LEK 
10,132 million (2009: LEK 9,334 million). 

The Bank and the Government of Albania have not signed yet a Memorandum 
of Understanding on allocating the original contributions and ownership of the 
subscriptions in the International Financial Institutions between both parties.

(ii) 	T reasury bills issued by the Albanian Ministry of Finance 

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the revaluation reserve of foreign 
currencies is positive. As a result the Ministry of Finance has not issued 
Treasury bills (note 20).

(iii)	 Reverse repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2010, represented 
collateralized loans (see note 10.2). The nominal value of the securities used 
as collateral as at 31 December 2010 was LEK 13,900 million (2009: LEK 
37,590 million). The market value of the collateral as at 31 December 2010, 
was LEK 14,226 million (2009: LEK 36,768 million).

(iv) Lease commitments

The Bank has entered into lease commitments with duration of three and 
five years. At 31 December 2010, the commitment payable not later than one 
year is LEK 88 million and the commitment payable later than one year and 
not later than five years is LEK 95 million.

(iv) Capital commitments

The Bank has entered into an agreement for the reconstruction of its 
premises. At 31 December 2010, the commitment payable not later than two 
years is LEK 1,991 million.

31.	 MANAGED ASSETS

As at 31 December 2010, the Bank acted as custodian for short-term 
treasury bills which account for a nominal value of LEK 243 billion and EUR 
25 million (2009: LEK 255 billion), for long term securities with a maturity 
varying between 2 and 7 years at a nominal value LEK 170 billion (2009: LEK 
153 billion). These securities are issued by the Albanian Government. 
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32.	 RELATeD PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the 
other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and other decisions.

Considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed 
to the substance of the relationship and not merely to the legal form.

The only related parties of Bank of Albania are the relations between 
directors and the members of the Supervisory Council. As at 31 December 
2010 and 2009 transactions made with related parties comprised:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Loans to directors
- Directors 103 116
Total assets 103 116

The loans have an annual interest rate of 0.5% and are repayable after a 
grace period of two years within 30 years by monthly equal installments. The 
home loans are collateralized: 

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Administrative expenses
- Mobile expenses
- Directors and Supervisory Council Members 5 5
- Salaries and Bonuses
- Directors and Supervisory Council Members 114 111
- Bank contribution to pension plan scheme
- Directors 11 8
Total of administrative expenses 130 124

33.	F inancial risk management

(a) Risk management framework

The Supervisory Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and 
oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework. 

The foreign reserve is under the administration of the Bank of Albania and 
its investment is performed by the Monetary Operations Department, which is 
based on the regulation ‘On foreign reserve management policy’, approved 
by the Supervisory Board. Its investment strategy depends mainly on the specific 
function of a central bank which is strictly regulated and in accordance with 
the requirements of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’. 

The reserve, in accordance with the liquidity needs, is invested in short-
term instrument, fixed and floating income securities, and derivatives. The 
remaining portion is held in SDRs, and monetary gold.
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The Bank has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
•	 liquidity risk
•	 credit risk
•	 market risks
•	 operational risks

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the 
above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities.

Management of liquidity risk

Policies to monitor and address liquidity risk are set by the Supervisory 
Council of the Bank. The Bank manages its liquidity risk by investing in short 
term deposits with foreign banks and in debt securities in liquid and highly 
controlled and organized markets. 

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Bank’s reputation, and to comply with its monetary and 
exchange policy. The portfolio is defined annually based on the forecasts of 
the monthly and annual liquidity needs for each currency. The investments in 
securities are considered as sufficiently liquid instruments. 

Because of the specifics of a central bank, the Bank is not exposed to 
liquidity risk in relation to liabilities in local currency.

The following table shows the Bank’s financial liabilities on the basis 
of their contractual maturity and the financial assets on the basis of their 
earliest possible expected maturity. The Bank’s expected cash flows on these 
instruments may vary from this analysis.

31 December 2010
Up to 

one 
Month

One to 
three 

Months

Three 
to six 

months 

Six 
months to 
one year

One to 
five years

Over 
five 

years

Undefined 
maturity Total

Due to IMF 7,314 348 64 590 3,771 990 7,439 20,516
Due to non-resident financial institutions - - - 15 - 1,241 - 1,256
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 202,359 202,359
Due to resident Banks 80,815 - - - - - - 80,815
Due to the Government 938 2610 - - - - 8,052 11,600
Other domestic liabilities 669 - - 610 - - - 1,279
Total Liabilities 2010 
(contractual maturity date) 89,736 2,958 64 1,215 3,771 2,231 217,850 317,825

Total assets 2010
(expected maturity date) 62,948 41,738 44,622 44,067 125,498 14,702 31,373 364,948
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31 December 2009
Up to 

one 
Month

One to 
three 

Months

Three 
to six 

months 

Six 
months to 
one year

One 
to five 
years

Over 
five 

years

Undefined 
maturity Total

Due to IMF 7,123 130 166 480 4,029 1,573 6,951 20,452
Due to non-resident financial institutions - - - - 46 1,233 - 1,279
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 216,739 216,739
Due to resident Banks 68,075 - - - - - 68,075
Due to the Government 1,300 2,436 - - - - 9,619 13,355
Other domestic liabilities 447 - - 693 - - 1,140
Total Liabilities 2009 
(contractual maturity date) 76,945 2,566 166 1,173 4,075 2,806 233,309 321,040

Total assets 2009
(expected maturity date) 100,113 45,227 38,628 38,769 97,399 7,389 26,063 353,588

(c)	 Credit risk

Credit Risk is the risk of the decrease in value of the foreign currency reserve 
as result of insolvency of a financial institution or the bankruptcy or insolvency 
of a debt issuer, in whose debt instruments the Bank has invested its own 
funds.

The investment limits of the Bank set a system of limits of maximum exposures 
to individual financial institutions and debt issuers. The set limits are calculated 
on the basis of credit ratings of the counterparty. The internal credit rating is 
based on criteria which are approved by the Supervisory Council. Credit risk 
is also mitigated through the diversification of the portfolio. 

Loans to domestic Banks are secured by Albanian Government Treasury 
bills. 

The financial assets which represent credit risk at the reporting date are 
shown below:

Assets 2010 2009
Gold - foreign (Note 5) 10,155 7,324
Special Drawing Rights with IMF (see below) 683 592
Deposits with non-resident banks (Note 7) 31,637 47,113
Available for sale investments (foreign currency) (Note 8.1) 203,336 154,488
Held-for-trading investment (foreign currency) (Note 8.2) 12,566 11,365
Loans to resident banks (note 10.2) 12,520 32,326
Available for sale investments - domestic (Note 11) 63,630 76,589
Total assets 334,527 329,797

An amount of LEK 7,439 million which is included in SDR Holdings (see 
Note 6) does not represent credit risk for the Bank since it represents the 
counter-account of the amounts acquired through the SDR allocations (see 
Note 13). Only the amount of holdings above allocations of LEK 683 million 
is included in the assets which represent credit risk. 

An analysis of concentrations of financial assets by type of counterparty at 
the reporting date is shown below:
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Credit rating Gold

Special 
Drawing 

Rights 
with IMF

Deposits 
with 

non-
resident 

banks

Available 
for sale in-
vestments 

(foreign 
currency)

Held-for-
trading 

investment 
(foreign 

currency)

Loans 
to do-
mestic 
banks

Available 
for sale in-
vestments 
(domestic 

assets)

Total

Central bank 10,155 683 13,297 - - - - 24,135
BIS Basle - - 12,120 2,186 - - - 14,306
Foreign Government & Agencies 
Securities - - - 201,150 12,566 - - 213,716

Commercial Banks - - 6,220 - - - - 6,220
Albanian Government B1 - - - - - 63,630 63,630
Unrated - - - - - 12,520 - 12,520
Total 31 December 2010 10,155 683 31,637 203,336 12,566 12,520 63,630 334,527

The Albanian Government is rated based on the Standard & Poor’s ratings 
or equivalents.

Credit rating Gold

Special 
Drawing 

Rights 
with IMF

Deposits 
with 

non-
resident 

banks

Available 
for sale in-
vestments 

(foreign 
currency)

Held-for-
trading 

investment 
(foreign 

currency)

Loans 
to do-
mestic 
banks

Available 
for sale in-
vestments 
(domestic 

assets)

Total

Central Banks 6,170 592 14,035 - - - - 20,797
BIS Basle - - 31,664 7,311 - - - 38,975
Commercial Banks 1,154 - 1,414 - - - - 2,568
Foreign Government & Agencies 
Securities - - - 147,177 11,365 - - 158,542

Albanian Government B1 - - - - - - 76,589 76,589
Unrated - - - - - 32,326 - 32,326
Total 31 December 2009 7,324 592 47,113 154,488 11,365 32,326 76,589 329,797

An analysis of concentrations of credit risk by geographic location is shown 
below: 

Europe USA Republic of 
Albania Other Total

Gold - foreign 10,155 - - - 10,155
Special Drawing Rights with IMF - - - 683 683
Deposits with non-resident banks 27,709 3,928 - - 31,637
Available for sale investments (foreign currency) 154,558 35,996 - 12,782 203,336
Held-for-trading investment (foreign currency) - 12,566 - - 12,566
Loans to resident banks - - 12,520 - 12,520
Available for sale investments – domestic - - 63,630 - 63,630
31 December 2010 192,422 52,490 76,150 13,465 334,527

Europe USA Republic of 
Albania Other Total

Gold - foreign 7,324 - - - 7,324
Special Drawing Rights with IMF - - - 592 592
Deposits with non-resident banks 44,745 2,368 - - 47,113
Available for sale investments (foreign currency) 125,763 28,725 - - 154,488
Held-for-trading investment (foreign currency) - 11,365 - - 11,365
Loans to resident banks - - 32,326 - 32,326
Available for sale investments – domestic - - 76,589 - 76,589
31 December 2009 177,832 42,458 108,915 592 329,797
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Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest 
rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating 
to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

The key elements of price risk affecting the Bank are:

•	 interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in market interest rates.

•	 currency risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates; and

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is monitored on a continual basis 
by the Monetary Operations Department. Financial assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are disclosed in each relevant note to the 
financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations 
which affect the prices of interest-earning assets (including investments) and 
interest-bearing liabilities. The Monetary Operations Department of the Bank 
monitors interest rate risk. The Bank mitigates such risks by maintaining a 
significant excess of interest bearing assets over liabilities. The Bank maintains 
a portfolio of interest bearing financial assets and liabilities such that the 
net interest income is significantly higher than operating needs, in order to 
minimize the potential adverse effects of interest rate fluctuations. Interest rates 
applicable to financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in each relevant 
note to the financial statements. 
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The assets and liabilities with floating interest rates involve the risk of 
changes in the base which serves to determine the interest rates. Floating rate 
instruments are detailed as follows:

31 December 2010 Average 
rate

One to twelve 
months

One to 
five years

Over five 
years Total

Assets
Available for sale investments 0.52% - 1,558 - 1,558
Held for trading investments 0.49% - 1,043 - 1,043
Held for trading investments 0.57% 520 - - 520
Total 520 2,601 - 3,121
Liabilities 
Due to the IMF 1.32% - - 1,316 1,316
Total - - 1,316 1,316
Floating Interest gap 520 2,601 (1,316) 1,805
Sensitivity to 100 b.p. increase 5 26 (13) 18

31 December 2009
Assets
Available for sale investments 0.40% - 3,267 - 3,267
Held for trading investments 0.55% - 2,493 - 2,493
Total - 5,760 - 5,760
Liabilities 
Due to the IMF 1.24%  -  - 1,257 1,257

Total  -  - 1,257  1,257
Floating Interest gap - 5,760 (1,257) 4,503
Sensitivity to 100 b.p. increase -  58  (13) 45 

A summary of the Bank’s interest-earning assets and interest-bearing 
liabilities (including the floating rate instruments above) by maturity dates as 
at 31 December 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

Up to 
one 

month

One to 
three 

months

Three 
to six 

months

Six to 
twelve 

months

One to 
five years

Over five 
years

Non-inter-
est earn-

ing/bearing
Total

Assets
Gold and precious metals – foreign - - - - - - 10,155 10,155
Accounts with the IMF 8,122 - - - - - 7,629 15,751
Deposits with non residents Banks 6,201 - - - - - 25,436 31,637
Available for sale investments –foreign 2,274 17,508 24,509 38,501 114,977 5,567 - 203,336
Held for trading investments - 820 727 397 10,521 101 - 12,566
Other foreign assets - - - - - - 1,183 1,183
Gold and precious metals - domestic - - - - - - 4,926 4,926
Transit Credits - - - - - - 15 15
Loans to resident banks 12,490 - - - - - 30 12,520
Available for sale investments - domestic 15,680 23,410 19,386 5,154 - - - 63,630
Other domestic assets - - - - - 1,755 7,475 9,229
Total 44,767 41,738 44,622 44,052 125,498 7,423 56,849 364,948
Liabilities and equity
Due to the IMF 7,666 348 64 590 3,771 990 7,087 20,516
Due to non-resident institutions - - - - - 1,222 34 1,256
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 202,359 202,359
Due to resident Banks 80,784 - - - - - 31 80,815
Due to the Government - - - - - - 11,600 11,600
Other domestic liabilities - - - - - - 1,279 1,279
Capital and reserves - - - - - - 47,123 47,123
Total 88,450 348  64 590 3,771 2,212 269,513 364,948
Gap as at 31 December 2010 (43,683) 41,390 44,558 43,462 121,727 12,490 (212,664) -
Cumulative gap – 2010 (43,683) (2,293) 42,265 85,727 207,454 219,944 - -
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Up to 
one 

month

One to 
three 

months

Three 
to six 

months

Six to 
twelve 

months

One to 
five years

Over five 
years

Non-interest 
earning/
bearing

Total

Assets
Gold and precious metals – foreign - - - - - - 7,324 7,324
Accounts with the IMF 7,543 - - - - - 7,194 14,737
Deposits with non residents Banks 8,146 - - - - - 38,967 47,113
Available for sale investments - foreign 3,666 12,861 15,305 32,066 87,946 2,644 - 154,488
Held for trading investments 479 - 487 992 9,407 - - 11,365
Other foreign assets - - - - - - 1,196 1,196
Gold and precious metals – domestic - - - - - - 3,477 3,477
Transit credits - - - - - - 46 46
Loan to resident banks 32,195 - - - - - 131 32,326
Available for sale investments - domestic 15,676 32,366 22,836 5,711 - - - 76,589
Other domestic assets - - - - - 1,513 3,414 4,927
Total 67,705 45,227 38,628 38,769 97,353 4,157 61,749 353,588

Liabilities and equity
Due to the IMF 7,379 130 166 480 4,029 1,573 6,695 20,452
Due to non-resident institutions - - - - - 1,215 64 1,279
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 216,739 216,739
Due to resident Banks 68,047 - - - - - 28 68,075
Due to government - - - - - - 13,355 13,355
Other domestic liabilities - - - - - - 1,140 1,140
Capital and reserves - - - - - - 32,548 32,548
Total 75,426 130 166 480 4,029 2,788 270,569 353,588
Gap at 31 December 2009 (7,721) 45,097 38,462 38,289 93,324 1,369 (208,820) -
Cumulative gap – 2009 (7,721) 37,376 75,838 114,127 207,451 208,820 - -

Future contracts

A future contract is a standardised contract to buy or sell a financial or non 
financial asset, at a certain date in the future and at a market determined price. 
To minimize the credit risk, depended on the type of instrument, the investor 
should post a margin to the clearing house. This margin or performance 
bond, is valued every day according to the prices in the market (marked to 
market), which means that every change in value is shown in the account of 
investor at the end of each trading day until the expiry day.

During the year 2010, the Bank was involved in future contract transactions. 
The net valuation as at 31 December 2010 is Lek 81 million (2009: LEK 11 
million) (see Note 7).

Exchange rate risk

Currency risk exists where there is a difference between the currency structure 
of assets and that of liabilities. From an accounting point of view, the Bank is 
exposed to currency risk as a result of its functions as a Central Bank. This risk 
can affect the balance of its own capital. In order to manage its exposures, the 
Bank has undertaken measures such as increasing capital and funds, and in 
specific cases it has issued instruments of the Republic of Albania, as provided 
by the Law ”On Bank of Albania”.
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LEK USD EURO GBP Other Total
Assets
Gold and precious metals – foreign - - - - 10,155 10,155
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 15,751 15,751
Deposits with non residents Banks - 4,018 24,159 346 3,114 31,637
Available for sale investments – foreign - 49,881 130,175 10,498 12,782 203,336
Held for trading investments - 12,566 - - - 12,566
Other foreign assets 335 209 639 - - 1,183
Gold and precious metals – domestic 4,926 - - - - 4,926
Transit Credits - - 15 - - 15
Loans to resident banks 12,520 - - - - 12,520
Available for sale investments - domestic 63,630 - - - - 63,630
Other domestic assets 9,188 9 32 - - 9,229
Total assets 90,599 66,683 155,020 10,844 41,802 364,948
Liabilities
Due to the IMF 8,403 - - - 12,113 20,516
Due to non-resident financial institutions 13 - 1,243 - - 1,256
Currency in circulation 202,359 - - - - 202,359
Due to resident banks 44,246 5,924 30,645 - - 80,815
Due to the Government 9,495 119 1,985 1 - 11,600
Other domestic liabilities 1,211 48 20 - - 1,279
Total liabilities 265,727 6,091 33,893 1 12,113 317,825
Net currency position as at 31 December 2010 (175,128) 60,592 121,127 10,843 29,689 47,123
Net currency position as at 31 December 2009 (159,158) 57,602 100,882 10,382 22,840 32,548

LEK USD EURO GBP Other Total
Assets
Gold and precious metals – foreign - - - - 7,324 7,324
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 14,737 14,737
Deposits with non residents Banks - 6,554 26,362 912 13,285 47,113
Available for sale investments – foreign - 45,780 99,237 9,471 - 154,488
Held for trading investments – foreign - 11,365 - - - 11,365
Other foreign assets 335 192 669 - - 1,196
Gold and precious metals – domestic 3,477 - - - - 3,477
Transit credits - - 46 - - 46
Loans to resident banks 32,326 - - - - 32,326
Available for sale investments - domestic 76,589 - - - - 76,589
Other domestic assets 4,849 7 71 - - 4,927
Total assets 117,576 63,898 126,385 10,383 35,346 353,588

Liabilities 
Due to the IMF 7,946 - - - 12,506 20,452
Due to non-resident financial institutions 13 - 1,266 - - 1,279
Currency in circulation 216,739 - - - - 216,739
Due to resident banks 38,814 6,145 23,116 - - 68,075
Due to the Government 12,131 108 1,115 1 - 13,355
Other domestic liabilities 1,091 43 6 - - 1,140
Total liabilities 276,734 6,296 25,503 1 12,506 321,040
Net Position as at 31 December 2009 (159,158) 57,602 100,882 10,382 22,840 32,548
Net Position as at 31 December 2008 (157,734) 53,935 88,991 8,352 18,329 11,873
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(e) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide 
variety of causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology 
and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and 
liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements 
and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks 
arise from all of the Bank’s operations.

Operational risk management is supported by the development of overall 
Bank standards for the management of operational risk and a wide range 
of common policies, staff management regulations, obligatory requirements, 
and the internal control systems on several activities of the Bank.

34.	S ubsequent events

There are no significant events after the reporting date that may require 
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
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“Stamp used for the production of 2000 Leke banknote,
  issued in 2007.”
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Annex 1	c atalogue of tables published on 
bank of Albania’s website

Monetary statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: monthly    
Lag: 1 month    

1 Monetary aggregates 5 December 2002
2 Sectoral balance sheet of other depository corporations 115 December 2002
3 Sectoral balance sheet  of Central Bank 90 December 2002
4 Monetary Survey of the central bank 60 December 2002
5 Sectoral balance sheet of deposit money banks 114 December 2006
6 Depository corporations survey 89 December 2002
7 Other depository corporations survey 83 December 2002
8 Deposit money bank data  83 December 2002
9 Deposits included in the broad money 39 December 2006
10 ALL time deposits by subject and maturity 25 December 2007
11 EUR time deposits by subject and maturity 25 December 2007
12 USD time deposits by subject and maturity 25 December 2007
13 Quantity of new monthly ALL deposits for the banking system  14 August 1995
14 Quantity of new monthly USD deposits for the banking system  13 December 2000
15 Quantity of new monthly EUR deposits for the banking system 9 December 2000
16 Quantity of new monthly ALL credit for the banking system 5 August 1995
17 Quantity of new monthly USD credit for the banking system 5 December 2000
18 Quantity of new monthly EUR credit loan for the banking system 5 December 2000
19 Credit to economy 16 December 2002
20 New loans by purpose and currency 49 December 2007
21 Loans by purpose and currency 49 December 2007
22 New loans by economic activity 17 December 2007
23 Loans by economic activity 17 December 2007
24 Average rate of monthly ALL deposits for the banking system   14 August 1995
25 Average rate of monthly USD deposits for the banking system  13 December 2000
26 Average rate of monthly EUR deposits for the banking system 9 December 2000
27 Average rate of monthly ALL credit for the banking system 5 August 1995
28 Average rate of  monthly USD credit for the banking system 5 December 2000
29 Average rate of monthly EUR credit for the banking system 5 December 2000

Periodicity: quarterly
Lag: 35 days

30 Deposits by district 28 Q 4 - 2007
31 Loans by district and economic activity 154    Q 4 -  2007
32 Loans by district, subject and term  253  Q 4 -  2007
33 Household loans by district and purpose 28 Q 4 - 2007

Periodicity: quarterly
lag: 60 days

34 Sectoral balance sheet of savings and loan associations  47 Q 4 - 2002
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Banking statistics Number of indicators Release date 
Periodicity: quarterly    
Lag: 35 days       

35 Assets – Banking sector structure 57 Q 4 - 1998
36 Liabilities - Banking sector structure 54 Q 4 - 1998
37 Shareholders’ equity structure in relative terms 7 Q 4 - 1998
38 Income and expenditure of banking system 15 Q 4 - 1998
39 Income and expenditure structure 37 Q 4 - 1998
40 Indicators of capital and asset quality 17 Q 4 - 1998
41 Indicators of banking activity concentration 13  Q 4 - 1998

External Sector statistics
Balance of Payments statistics Number of indicators Release date 
Periodicity: quarterly; Disclosure: Monthly format    
Lag: 2 months e 10 days    

42 Balance of Payments  USD 7 January 1993
43 Balance of Payments EUR 7 January 2004
44 Current Account USD 40 January 1993
45 Current Account EUR 40 January 2004
46 Financial Account USD 9 January 1993
47 Financial Account EUR 9 January 2004

External Sector statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: monthly    
Lag: 1 month    

48 Exports by countries USD 30 January 1993
49 Imports by countries USD 30 January 1993
50 Exports by countries EUR 30 January 2004
51 Imports by countries EUR 30 January 2004
52 Exports by SITC USD 11 January 1993
53 Imports by SITC USD 11 January 1993
54 Exports by SITC EUR 11 January 2004
55 Imports by SITC EUR 11 January 2004

Exchange rate Number of indicators Release date 
Periodicity: monthly    
Lag: last day of reference month    

56 Average exchange rate for 1994 - 2001 26 January 1994 
– December 2001

57 End-of-month exchange rate for the period 1994-2001 26 January 1994 - 
December 2001

58 Average exchange rate since 2002 13 January 2002
59 End –of-month exchange rate since 2002 13 January 2002

Balance of Payments statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: quarterly
Lag: 2 months and  10 days    

60 Balance of payments USD 7 Q 1 - 1993
61 Balance of payments EUR 7 Q 1 - 2004
62 Current Account USD 40 Q 1 - 1993
63 Current account EUR 40 Q 1 - 2004
64 Financial Account USD 9 Q 1 - 1993
65 Financial Account EUR 9 Q 1 - 2004

Merchandise trade statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: quarterly    
Lag: 1 month    

66 Exports by countries USD 30 Q 1 -1993
67 Imports by countries USD 73 Q 1 - 1993
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68 Exports by countries EUR 30 Q 1 - 2004
69 Imports by countries EUR 73 Q 1 -2004
70 Exports by commodity groups USD 11 Q 1 - 1993
71 Imports by commodity groups USD 11 Q 1 - 1993
72 Exports by commodity groups EUR 11 Q 1 - 2004
73 Imports by commodity groups EUR 11 Q 1 - 2004

External debt Number of indicators Release date 
Periodicity: quarterly    
Lag:    

74 Gross Domestic debt 62 Q 4 -  2003

Balance of payments statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: y-o-y    
lag:    

75 Balance of payments USD 7 1993
76 Balance of payments EUR 7 2004
77 Current Account USD 40 1993
78 Current Account EUR 40 2004
79 Financial account USD 9 1993
80 Financial account EUR 9 2004

External sector trade statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: y-o-y    
Lag:    

81 Exports by countries USD 30 1993
82 Imports by countries USD 73 1993
83 Exports by countries EUR 30 2004
84 Imports by countries EUR 73 2004
85 Exports by SITC USD 11 1993
86 Imports by SITC USD 11 1993
87 Exports by SITC EUR 11 2004
88 Imports by SITC EUR 11 2004

International investment position Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: y-o-y    
Lag:    

89 International investment position 17 2003
90 International investment position - Assets 83 2003
91 International investments position - Liabilities 68 2003

Monetary statistics  - achieve Number of indicators Release date
1 Money supply 10 December 1993
2 Monetary survey assets 7 July 1994
3 Net foreign assets of Bank of Albania 3 July 1994
4 Total foreign liabilities of Bank of Albania 10 November 1994
5 Deposit money banks net foreign assets  9 December 2000
6 Demand deposits of residents 6 December 1992
7 Time deposits 6 December 1992
8 Foreign currency deposits of residents 6 December 1992
9 Credit to economy 7 September 1998
10 ALL credit to economy 7 September 1998
11 Foreign currency credit to economy 7 September 1998
12 Monetary authority assets 3 July 1994
13 Deposit money banks assets 7 December 1994
14 Deposit money banks liabilities 8 December 1994
15 Monetary authority liabilities 6 July 1994
16 Total foreign assets of the Bank of Albania 10 November 1994
17 Monetary survey 14 July 1994



Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

212 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 213

Annual Report Annual Report2010 2010

212 Bank of Albania Bank of Albania 213

Real sector statistics Number of indicators Release date  
Periodicity: monthly
Lag: accordingly to source institution publication 

1 Consumer price index 39 January 2007
2 Detailed consumer price index 39 January 1994

Periodicity: quarterly
3 Retail sector employment index  11 Q 1 - 1999
4 Construction Cost index  13 Q 1 - 1998
5 Employment and income  indices  13 Q 1 - 1993
6 Sales index for the economy  11 Q 1 - 2001
7 Retail sector volume index 11 Q 1 - 2006

Periodicity :y-o-y
8 Agriculture 30 1991
9 Industry 21 1992
10 Gross domestic product 27 1996
11 Employment and income indices 23 1995
12 Agriculture 3 2000

Government finances statistics Number of indicators Release date
Periodicity: monthly
Lag: : accordingly to source institution publication

1 Income by economic classification 40 January 1997
2 Expenditure by functional classification 19 January 1997
3 Main fiscal indicators 8 December 1997

Periodicity: y-o-yr
4 Long-term external debt of Albania 6 2000
5 Domestic debt 13 1997
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4. TREGJET FINANCIARE
4.1 Normat e interesit për kreditë e reja sipas monedhës*

Financial markets 4
Currency breakdown of interest rates on new loans* 4.1

Në përqindje 	 In percentage

 
 Në lekë/ In ALL

Deri në 6 muaj/ Up 
to 6 months

6 muaj - 1 vit/ 6 
months - 1 year 1-3 vjet/ 1-3 years  3 - 5 vjet/ 3 - 5 

years
Mbi 5 vjet/ Over 

5 years

2007/12 13.85 13.55 14.55 14.64 13.72
2008/12 11.18 11.11 13.29 13.35 13.60
2009/12 12.20 12.04 15.71 16.20 13.75

2010/01 12.37 12.24 15.68 14.74 12.58
02 13.66 12.28 15.68 15.35 12.62
03 16.43 12.66 17.21 14.07 12.93
04 14.81 12.37 14.33 14.69 13.55
05 14.99 12.98 17.45 13.40 12.89
06 12.80 11.77 16.06 14.16 12.16
07 11.83 11.48 16.24 14.77 11.69
08 11.70 8.09 16.35 14.18 11.68
09 10.76 11.77 16.83 15.30 11.76
10 11.57 12.09 15.10 14.20 11.72
11 11.25 11.85 14.55 13.38 11.59
12 11.69 11.52 15.42 14.10 10.61

  Në dollarë amerikanë / In USD 
2007/12 8.78 8.46 7.79 8.81 8.91
2008/12 6.84 6.98 6.96 7.29 6.02
2009/12 8.02 6.37 9.33 8.68 6.79

2010/01 6.60 5.47 5.65 _ 6.52
02 8.75 6.13 9.24 7.50 8.06
03 8.55 7.49 6.11 4.73 6.75
04 6.12 6.95 7.02 7.00 9.08
05 7.89 6.45 10.37 6.41 4.91
06 7.27 6.92 12.00 8.03 7.49
07 7.55 7.10 7.67 8.14 5.00
08 6.73 7.52 9.52 _ 6.70
09 6.85 7.38 8.50 5.46 6.76
10 7.75 6.45 6.42 6.32 8.50
11 6.64 7.11 5.65 9.26 7.65
12 5.82 6.66 7.84 9.22 6.82
  Në Euro/ In EUR

2007/12 8.73 8.88 9.30 9.23 8.26
2008/12 8.18 6.72 7.89 6.83 7.42
2009/12 8.14 8.31 9.24 8.15 8.44

2010/01 6.88 6.96 6.59 7.70 6.73
02 8.17 7.84 8.25 7.97 8.05
03 8.52 7.90 8.03 8.68 6.28
04 6.81 7.74 8.55 7.89 8.32
05 7.67 6.77 7.82 7.81 7.75
06 8.01 7.81 7.88 8.59 6.99
07 6.93 7.67 7.66 8.75 7.91
08 7.05 6.42 8.42 6.65 7.78
09 8.01 7.99 7.79 8.16 8.31
10 7.75 7.76 8.20 7.72 7.71
11 7.76 7.23 8.47 8.26 6.77
12 6.25 6.18 8.49 7.24 7.59

Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë.	 Source: Bank of Albania
* Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës. 	  * Weighted average interest rates.
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4.2 Normat e interesit për depozitat e reja sipas monedhës* 
Currency breakdown of interest rates on new deposits* 4.2
Në përqindje 	 In percentage

 
Në lekë/ In ALL

24-mujore/ 
 24 months

12-mujore/ 
 12 months

6-mujore/ 
 6 months

2-mujore/ 
3 months

1-mujore/ 
 1 months

Llogari 
rrjedhëse/ 

Current accounts
2007/12 6.59 6.33 5.50 4.85 3.21 0.11
2008/12 6.83 6.86 5.76 5.23 3.95 0.26
2009/12 7.58 6.75 5.50 4.96 4.65 0.27

2010/01 7.49 6.77 5.57 5.06 4.48 0.30
02 7.60 6.74 5.64 4.94 4.40 0.28
03 7.38 6.60 5.48 4.67 4.52 0.31
04 7.16 6.59 5.45 4.75 4.63 0.29
05 7.12 6.46 5.43 4.73 4.69 0.30
06 7.32 6.39 5.42 4.62 4.79 0.30
07 7.03 6.39 5.46 4.48 4.68 0.30
08 6.76 6.29 5.24 4.49 4.58 0.32
09 6.93 6.27 5.25 4.56 4.36 0.31
10 6.92 6.31 5.25 4.41 4.4 0.29
11 6.82 6.15 5.22 4.49 4.31 0.28
12 6.86 6.07 5.16 4.42 4.7 0.34

  Në dollarë amerikanë/ In USD
2007/12 4.43 4.10 3.63 3.37 3.59 0.11
2008/12 2.44 2.55 2.20 2.07 1.76 0.14
2009/12 2.12 1.91 1.35 1.18 1.08 0.08

2010/01 2.00 1.94 1.49 1.29 1.18 0.09
02 2.34 2.00 1.34 1.30 1.10 0.07
03 1.89 2.18 1.29 1.14 1.18 0.07
04 2.46 2.12 1.32 1.13 1.32 0.08
05 2.42 2.05 1.43 1.41 1.41 0.08
06 2.86 1.87 1.41 1.11 1.03 0.08
07 1.90 2.01 1.39 1.19 1.12 0.07
08 2.31 2.12 1.52 1.47 1.15 0.08
09 2.45 2.09 1.41 1.10 1.37 0.10
10 2.84 2.16 1.36 1.00 0.86 0.10
11 2.05 1.98 1.51 0.95 0.92 0.10
12 2.04 1.83 1.31 1.04 0.75 0.13

  Në Euro/ In EUR
2007/12 4.44 4.23 3.92 3.59 2.69 0.11
2008/12 4.71 4.70 4.24 4.13 2.94 0.15
2009/12 4.57 3.75 3.40 3.04 1.79 0.13

2010/01 4.53 3.78 3.24 2.87 1.89 0.14
02 4.56 4.00 3.15 3.23 1.96 0.14
03 4.70 3.88 3.10 2.81 1.98 0.15
04 4.32 3.87 2.81 2.76 1.97 0.15
05 3.31 3.83 3.18 2.64 1.97 0.14
06 4.43 3.70 2.95 2.64 1.90 0.13
07 4.21 3.52 2.91 2.44 1.84 0.14
08 4.18 3.52 3.04 2.43 1.84 0.15
09 4.42 3.48 2.97 2.44 1.77 0.15
10 4.38 3.37 2.84 2.12 1.76 0.14
11 4.11 3.32 3.10 2.01 1.90 0.14
12 4.08 3.20 2.69 2.18 1.75 0.18

Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë.	 Source: Bank of Albania
* Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës. 	  * Weighted average interest rates.
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4.3 Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit sipas afatit*
Maturity breakdown of Treausury bills yields* 4.3
Në përqindje 	 In percentage

 
Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit/ Maturity breakdown of Treausury bill yields
 3-mujor/ 3 months 6-mujor/ 6 months 12-mujor/ 12 months

2007/12 6.32 7.41 8.26
2008/01 6.27 7.36 8.23

02 6.26 7.29 8.00
03 6.25 7.36 8.02
04 6.29 7.41 8.12
05 6.28 7.48 8.16
06 6.27 7.46 8.20
07 6.28 7.46 8.21
08 6.26 7.39 8.15
09 6.25 7.33 8.02
10 6.23 7.20 7.94
11 6.05 7.42 8.10
12 6.27 7.45 8.56

2009/01 6.30 7.46 8.84
02 5.99 7.46 8.87
03 6.08 7.61 9.07
04 6.31 7.68 9.13
05 6.28 7.67 9.15
06 6.37 7.67 9.23
07 6.31 7.67 9.26
08 6.31 7.67 9.28
09 6.34 7.70 9.33
10 6.36 7.73 9.42
11 6.32 7.65 9.30
12 6.30 7.52 9.14

2010/01 _ 7.48 8.99
02 6.27 7.46 8.88
03 6.22 7.39 8.65
04 6.04 7.30 8.44
05 5.90 7.15 8.02
06 5.86 7.12 7.91
07 5.86 7.11 7.94
08 5.74 7.03 7.86
09 5.59 6.98 7.75
10 _ 6.80 7.71
11 5.51 6.70 7.55
12 5.29 6.41 7.09

Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë.	 Source: Bank of Albania
* Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës. 	  * Weighted average interest rates.
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